FULL COUNCIL

Please note that this Meeting will be recorded for subsequent broadcast via the
Authority’s Internet Site.
The images and sound recording may also be used for training purposes
within the Authority.
All attendees could possibly be in view of the camera and by attending you are
consenting to being filmed and to the use of those images and sound
recordings being used as outlined above.

Dear Sir/Madam
You are hereby summoned to attend a remote MSTeams Meeting of the Merthyr
Tydfil County Borough Council to be held on Wednesday, 16th June, 2021 at 5.30
pm being a Meeting for the following purposes.
Any reference documents referred to but not published as part of this agenda can be
found on the Council’s website or intranet under Background Papers

AGENDA
1.

Apologies for Absence

2.

Declarations of Interest
Members are reminded of their personal responsibility
to declare any personal and prejudicial interest in
respect of matters contained in this agenda in
accordance with the provisions of the Local
Government and Finance Act 1992 relating to Council
Tax, the Local Government Act 2000, the Council’s
Constitution and the Members Code of Conduct
Note:

(a) Members are reminded that they must identify
the item number and subject matter that their
interest relates to and signify the nature of the
personal interest and
(b) Where Members withdraw from a Meeting as a
consequence of the disclosure of a prejudicial
interest they must notify the Chair when they
leave
OPEN SESSION
Presentation
3.

Ash Dieback
To receive a Presentation from Judith Jones.

Minutes
4.

Minutes of Previous Meeting(s)
To approve as accurate the Minutes of the following
Meetings:

4.a

Annual General Meeting and Mayor's Installation: 5 - 10
19/05/2021

4.b

Full Council: 21/04/2021

11 - 14

4.c

Cabinet: 21/04/2021

15 - 16

4.d

Cabinet: 19/05/2021

17 - 20

4.e

Cabinet: 26/05 2021

21 - 22

4.f

Audit: 19/04/2021

23 - 26

4.g

Licensing Committee: 29/04/2021

27 - 28

4.h

Planning, Regulatory and Licensing: 10/02/2021

29 - 32

4.i

Planning, Regulatory and Licensing: 12/05/2021

33 - 38

4.j

SACRE: 25/03/2021

39 - 42

4.k

Scrutiny: Governance, Performance, Business 43 - 46
Change and Corporate Services: 04/05/2021

4.l

Scrutiny: Regeneration
13/04/2021

and

Public

Protection: 47 - 50

4.m

Scrutiny: Regeneration,
Housing: 25/05/2021

4.n

Scrutiny: Learning and LGES: 26/04/2021

55 - 58

4.o

Scrutiny: Social Services: 16/03/2021

59 - 62

4.p

Scrutiny: Social Services: 27/04/2021

63 - 66

Public Protection and 51 - 54

Committee Report(s)
5.

Procurement Rules
To consider report of the Interim Chief Executive

6.

Grievance Policy And Procedure
To consider report of the Interim Chief Executive

7.

67 - 116

117 - 140

Establishment of a Commercial Unit
To consider report of the Interim Deputy Chief 141 - 148
Executive

8.

Tree Policy
To consider report of the Chief Officer Neighbourhood 149 - 164
Services

9.

Appointment of Tree Officer
To consider report of the Chief Officer Neighbourhood 165 - 168
Services

10.

Wales Probation Service
To consider report of the Chief Officer Neighbourhood 169 - 172
Services

11.

Appointment of Deputy Chief Executive
To consider the attached report

12.

To deal with any other urgent business or
correspondence

13.

To receive communications from Her/His Worship the
Mayor

173 - 176

CLOSED SESSION
14.

Exempt
In order for the following to be considered in private, it
is suggested that the public be excluded from the
Meeting on the grounds that it involves the likely
disclosure of exempt information as defined in
Paragraph/s 12,13 under Part 4 of Schedule 12A
Section 100 (A) (4) of the Local Government Act 1972.

15.

Appointment of Chief Executive
To consider the attached report

177 - 184

By order of the Mayor
ELLIS COOPER
INTERIM CHIEF EXECUTIVE
If you would prefer a copy of this agenda in another language please contact
democratic@merthyr.gov.uk or telephone 01685 725284

Agenda Item 4a

MINUTES OF MEETING

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
AND MAYOR'S INSTALLATION
MEETING
WEDNESDAY, 19TH MAY, 2021
PRESENT:

Councillors: H Barrett (Chair)
M Colbran (Vice-Chair)
Councillors: J Amos, A Barry, C J Barry, B Carter, D Chaplin,
C Davies, J Davies, L Davies, E Galsworthy, K Gibbs, D Hughes,
D Isaac, S Jago, C T Jones, D Jones, H R Jones, M Jones,
G Lewis,
L Mytton,
G Richards,
D Roberts,
T Rogers,
D Sammon, T Skinner, W R Smith, J Thomas, G Thomas,
I Thomas, C Tovey and S Thomas
Officers:
E Cooper (Interim Chief Executive), C Kennedy (Head of Legal
and Governance Services - Monitoring Officer), S Jones (Senior
Solicitor), L Curtis Jones (Chief Officer (Social Services)),
S Jones (Head of Finance), A Owen (Interim Deputy Chief
Executive), S Walker (Chief Education Officer), F Donnelly (H R
Manager), J Jones (Chief Officer Neighbourhood Services),
C Dinham (Communications, Consultation and Engagement
Manager), A Taylor (Head of Democratic Services), A Stephens
(Cabinet Policy Officer) and J Overbury (PA to the Leader and
Mayor's Office)
Outside Bodies:
S J Byrne and I Phillips (Audit Wales)
M Morgan (Democratic Services Officer)

Page 5

ITEM
NO.

AGENDA MATTER

DECISION

Opening Prayer
The Mayor’s Chaplain, Reverend Tim Williams opened the Meeting in Prayer

1

Apologies for absence

No apologies for absence were received as all Members
were present.

2

Declarations of Interest

No Declarations of Interest were made.

Technical Issues
Some Councillors experienced technical difficulties during the Meeting and therefore did not
vote on the item when these technical issues occurred.

3

Formal Election of the
Mayor

Councillor L Mytton proposed Councillor M Colbran as
Mayor for the Municipal Year 2021 – 2022 and was
seconded by Councillor G Thomas.
Resolved that:
Councillor M Colbran be elected as Mayor for the Municipal
Year 2021 – 2022.
The retiring Mayor Councillor H Barrett then addressed the
Council.
Simon Jones then presented the past Mayor’s Medallion to
Councillor H Barrett.

4

Formal Election of the
Deputy Mayor

Councillor D Hughes proposed Councillor D Sammon as
Deputy Mayor for the Municipal Year 2021 – 2022 and was
seconded by Councillor J Davies.
Resolved that:
Councillor D Sammon be elected as the Deputy Mayor for
the Municipal Year 2021 – 2022.
The Civic Party then exchanged Regalia and Chains of
Office.
The Declarations of Acceptance of Office were
administered to the Mayor and the Deputy Mayor by Simon
Jones Senior Solicitor.
The Mayor Councillor M Colbran then addressed the
Council.

5

Appointment
Committees

to
-

Councillor L Mytton referred to the ‘Appointment to
Committees 2021 -2022’ report and advised of the following

Page 6

2021/2022

amendments to the report:
Paragraph 4.1 – Portfolio for Housing and Public Protection
should read Councillor Tony Rogers only
Paragraph 6.0 – Governance and Audit Committee
Appointments – Councillor D Chaplin to be replaced by
Councillor C Barry as a Substitute Committee Member.
Paragraph 9.3 – Statutory Licensing Committee (Licensing
Act and Gambling Act) – should read:
Chair – Councillor H Barrett
Vice Chair Councillor C Tovey
Resolved subject to the foregoing that:
(a) The changes to the Audit and Scrutiny Committee
titles be approved
(b) The functions of the Democratic Services
Committee being performed by the Transformation,
Commercialisation and Corporate Centre Scrutiny
Committee be approved
(c) The appointments and substitutions made to each
of the Committees listed within the report be
approved subject to the following amendments:
Portfolio for Housing and Public Protection:
Councillor Tony Rogers
Governance and Audit Committee Appointments
Councillor C Barry - Substitute Committee Member
Statutory Licensing Committee
Gambling Act):
Chair – Councillor H Barrett
Vice Chair - Councillor C Tovey

6

Committee
2021-2022

Cycle

-

(Licensing

Act

–

and

Councillor L Mytton referred to the ‘Committee Cycle 2021 –
2022’ report.
Resolved that:
The amended Committee Cycle for the 2021 – 2022
Municipal year be approved.

7

Representatives
to
Other Bodies 20212022

Councillor L Mytton referred to the ‘Representatives to
Other Bodies 2021 – 2022’ report and advised of the
following amendments to the report:
Champions:
Homelessness Champion – Councillor T Rogers
Risk Management Champion – Councillor G Thomas
Safeguarding Champion – Councillor C Davies
Outside Bodies:

Page 7

Cwm Taf Community Health Council – Councillor K Gibbs
to be added
Corporate Parenting Board – Councillor B Carter to replace
Councillor S Thomas
Resolved subject to the foregoing that:
(a) The Representatives as set out n Paragraph 5.0 of
the report be agreed subject to the following
amendments:
Champions:
Homelessness Champion – Councillor T Rogers
Risk Management Champion – Councillor G Thomas
Safeguarding Champion – Councillor C Davies
Outside Bodies:
Cwm Taf Community Health Council – Councillor K Gibbs
be added
Corporate Parenting Board – Councillor B Carter to replace
Councillor S Thomas

(b) Delegated authority be granted to the Political
Leaders in the event of a vacancy to nominate
representative(s) and to supply such agreed
nomination to the Chief Executive
8

9

MTCBC Response to
Audit Wales Report Assessment
of
Progress to Address
Key Concerns

Resolved that:

Appointment of Chief
Executive

Resolved that:

(a) The acceptance of the recommendations made by
Audit Wales in the report ‘Merthyr Tydfil County
Borough Council Assessment of Progress to
Address Key Concerns’ (Appendix 1) be approved
(b) The actions contained within the report to address
the recommendations made by Audit Wales in the
report ‘Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council
Assessment of Progress to Address Key Concerns’
(Appendix 1) be approved

(a) The shortlisting and interview arrangements to
appoint a new Chief Executive be approved
(b) The granting of Delegated authority to the Head of
Human
Resources
and
Organisational
Development, Pensions and Payroll to determine
the recruitment timetable and any changes that
may be required to be made to the interview panels
in consultation with the Leader and Cabinet
Member for Governance and Corporate Services
be approved

Page 8

Welsh
Language
Annual
Monitoring
Report For 2020-2021

Resolved that:

11

To deal with any other
urgent business or
correspondence

The Mayor advised that there was no business deemed
urgent.

12

To
receive
communications
received by Her/His
Worship the Mayor

No Communications were received from His Worship the
Mayor

10

The report for Information be received.

Closing Prayer
The Mayor’s Chaplain, Father Gareth Coombes closed the Meeting in Prayer

Page 9

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 4b

MINUTES OF MEETING

FULL COUNCIL MEETING
WEDNESDAY, 21ST APRIL, 2021
PRESENT:

Councillors H Barrett (Chair)
M Colbran (Vice-Chair)
Councillors J Amos, A Barry, C J Barry, B Carter, D Chaplin,
C Davies, L Davies, E Galsworthy, K Gibbs, D Hughes, D Isaac,
S Jago, C T Jones, D Jones, H R Jones, M Jones, G Lewis,
L Mytton, G Richards, D Roberts, T Rogers, D Sammon,
T Skinner, W R Smith, J Thomas, G Thomas, I Thomas,
S Thomas and C Tovey
Officers:
C Kennedy (Head of Legal and Governance Services Monitoring Officer), E Cooper (Interim Chief Executive), S Jones
(Head of Finance), L Curtis Jones (Chief Officer (Social
Services)), S Walker (Chief Education Officer), A Owen (Interim
Deputy Chief Executive), A Mogford (Head of Corporate
Services),
F Donnelly
(H
R
Manager),
C Dinham
(Communications, Consultation and Engagement Manager),
J Edwards (Library) and A Stephens (Cabinet Policy Officer)
Outside Bodies:
S Byrne (Audit Wales), H Goddard (Audit Wales) and I Phillips
(Audit Wales)
M Morgan (Democratic Services Officer)

ITEM
NO.

AGENDA MATTER

DECISION

559

Apologies for Absence

Apologies for absence were received from Councillor J
Davies.

560

Declarations of Interest

Councillor G Lewis Declared his Interest in Item 6 – Petition

Page 11

Received by the Authority as he owns a property in the
street referred to in the report.
561

Minutes of
Meeting(s)

Previous

The Council approves as accurate (subject to any
amendments) the Minutes of the following Meetings:

561a

Full
24/03/2021

Council:

Resolved that:
The Minutes of the Full Council Meeting held 24 March
2021 be accepted as a correct record.

561b

Cabinet: 24/03/2021

Resolved that:
The Minutes of the Cabinet Meeting held 24 March 2021 be
accepted as a correct record.

561c

561d

Scrutiny : Governance,
Performance, Business
Change and Corporate
Services: 23/03/2021

Resolved that:

Scrutiny : Learning and
LGES: 15/03/2021

Resolved that:

The Minutes of the Governance, Performance, Business
Change and Corporate Services Scrutiny Committee held
23 March 2021 be accepted as a correct record.

The Minutes of the Learning and LGES Scrutiny Committee
held 15 March 2021 be accepted as a correct record.
561e

Standards: 19/03/2021

Resolved that:
The Minutes of the Standards Committee held 19 March
2021 be accepted as a correct record.

562

Audit Wales - Merthyr
Tydfil County Borough
Council – Assessment
of Progress to Address
Key Concerns

The Mayor welcomed Sara-Jane Byrne, Helen Goddard
and Ian Phillips (Audit Wales) to the Meeting.
Councillor L Mytton referred the Council to the ‘Audit Wales
– Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council – Assessment of
Progress to Address Key Concerns’ report and moved the
recommendations as contained within the report.
Sara-Jane Byrne then gave an overview of the findings and
led the Council through recommendations one to ten as
detailed in the report.
Questions were then raised by the Members on the report
and were responded to in detail by the Officers and Audit
Wales.
Resolved that:
The findings and recommendations in the ‘Merthyr Tydfil
County Borough Council – Assessment of Progress to
Address Key Concerns’ be noted.

563

Statement of Wellbeing and Focus on
the Future: Well-being
in our Community

Councillor L Mytton referred the Council to the ‘Statement of
Well-being and Focus on the Future: Well-being on our
Community’ report and moved the recommendation as
contained within the report.

Page 12

Resolved that:
The ‘Statement of Well-being’ and ‘Focus on the Future:
Well-being in our Community’ Documents be approved.
564

Petition Received by
the Authority

Resolved that:
The report for Information be received.

565

566

Report Of Standards
Committee
Determination

Resolved that:

To deal with any other
urgent business or
correspondence

Term of Office

The report for Information be received.

Councillor L Mytton referred to this being the last Council
Meeting of the Mayor Councillor H Barrett and expressed
her thanks and appreciation to Councillor H Barrett for all
his work as Mayor and Chair of Council.
These sentiments were also endorsed by Members.
Councillor H Barrett then thanked the Members and stated
that it had been an honour to represent the Council and
Merthyr Tydfil and wished the incoming Mayor all the best.

567

To
receive
communications from
Her/His Worship the
Mayor

No Communications were received from His Worship the
Mayor.

Page 13

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 4c

MINUTES OF MEETING

CABINET MEETING
WEDNESDAY, 21ST APRIL, 2021
PRESENT:

Councillors

L Mytton (Chair)
C Davies (Vice-Chair)

Councillors A Barry, D Hughes, G Thomas and T Rogers
Officers
E Cooper (Interim Chief Executive), A Owen (Interim Deputy
Chief Executive), L Curtis Jones (Chief Officer (Social
Services)), S Walker (Chief Education Officer), C Kennedy
(Head of Legal and Governance Services - Monitoring Officer),
S Jones (Head of Finance), C Dinham (Communications,
Consultation and Engagement Manager), F Donnelly (H R
Manager) and A Stephens (Cabinet Policy Officer)
M Edmunds (Democratic Services Officer)
In order to capture the presence of all attendees, including those experiencing
technical difficulties, the attendance sheet created by Microsoft Teams has been
published as a separate supplement alongside these minutes.

Decisions made will come into force 5 working days after publication, unless it
is subject to a call-in by a Scrutiny Committee
ITEM
NO.

AGENDA MATTER

DECISION

552

Apologies for absence

No apologies for absence were received.

553

Declarations of Interest

No declarations of interest were received.

554

Public Health Wales
Act 2017

Resolved that:
a) The delegation of authority to the following Council
officers to enforce the provisions of the Public
Health (Wales) Act 2017

Page 15

-

Environmental Health Officers
Environmental Health Regulatory Support Officers
Environmental Health Technicians
Trading Standards Officers
Fair Trading Officers
Licensing Officers

be approved.
b) The updating of the
accordingly be approved.
555

556

Repayable Funding to
Support
the
Regeneration
of
Merthyr Tydfil Town
Centre

Resolved that:

School Meal
2021/22

Resolved that:

Prices

Council’s

constitution

a) The award of repayable funding for the
regeneration of Merthyr Tydfil Town Centre is
approved.

a) A price freeze on school meals for the financial year
2021/22 be approved.
557

Payment
of
Care
Home Fees 2021/2022

Resolved that:
a) The payment of fees to independent sector
residential and nursing care service providers at the
rates shown in Appendix 1 be approved.
b) The back dating of the increase in fees for
2021/2022, effective from 1st April 2021, be
approved.

558

Any Other Business
Deemed Urgent by the
Chair

No other business deemed urgent by the Chair.

Page 16

Agenda Item 4d

MINUTES OF MEETING

CABINET MEETING
WEDNESDAY, 19TH MAY, 2021
PRESENT:

Councillors

L Mytton (Chair)
C Davies (Vice-Chair)

Councillors A Barry, D Hughes, G Thomas and T Rogers
Officers
E Cooper (Interim Chief Executive), C Kennedy (Head of Legal
and Governance Services - Monitoring Officer), F Donnelly (H R
Manager), S Jones (Head of Finance), A Owen (Interim Deputy
Chief Executive), L Curtis Jones (Chief Officer (Social
Services)), S Walker (Chief Education Officer), J Jones (Chief
Officer Neighbourhood Services), A Stephens (Cabinet Policy
Officer), T Hudd (Family Support), B Taylor (HR)
M Morgan (Democratic Services Officer)
In order to capture the presence of all attendees, including those experiencing
technical difficulties, the attendance sheet created by Microsoft Teams has been
published as a separate supplement alongside these minutes.

Decisions made will come into force 5 working days after publication, unless it
is subject to a call-in by a Scrutiny Committee

ITEM
NO.

AGENDA MATTER

DECISION

603

Apologies for absence

No apologies for absence were received as all Members
were present.

604

Declarations of Interest

No Declarations of Interest were made.

605

Annual
Risk
Management Progress
Report and Updated

Resolved that:
(a) Progress made in developing Risk Management be

Page 17

Corporate
Risk
Register for 2020-21

606

Welsh
Language
Annual Report 2020-21

noted and the Corporate Risk Register for 2020-21
be approved
(b) The continued progress made in considering the
Risk Management requirements of the Well-being
of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 and the
Council adopting the four T’s of Risk Management
be noted
(c) The continuation of the Audit Committee to invite
Lead Officers and Members to attend the
Committee on a rolling programme to report on
progress in managing the Council’s Corporate
Risks be noted
(d) The continuation of highlight reporting on the
Corporate Risk Register to Cabinet be noted
Resolved that:
The Council’s Welsh Language Annual Monitoring Report
for 2020-2021 be approved.

607

608

609

Review
of
the
Corporate Complaints
Policy

Resolved that:

CYCLE TO WORK
SCHEME (increase to
current spending limit)

Resolved that:

Funding Award for the
Crucible Project

Resolved that:

The Implementation of the Concerns and Complaints Policy
be approved.

The increased spending limit be approved.

The award of receipt of Crucible funding be approved.
610

611

Children's
Services
Supporting
Change
Team and Edge of
Care Offer

Resolved that:

Any Other Business
Deemed Urgent by the
Chair

The Chair advised that there was no business deemed
urgent.

The report for Information be received.

CLOSED SESSION
Exempt
Resolved that:
The public be excluded from the Meeting on the grounds that it involves the likely disclosure of
exempt information as defined in Paragraph 14 under Part 4 of Schedule 12A Section 100 (A)
(4) of the Local Government Act 1972.

Page 18

612

613

Repayable Funding to
support
the
Regeneration
of
Hoover
Strategic
Regeneration Area and
Glebeland Site

Resolved that:

YMCA
Development

Resolved that:

Re-

The recommendation as contained within the report be
approved.

The recommendations as contained within the report be
approved.

Page 19

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 4e

MINUTES OF MEETING

CABINET MEETING
WEDNESDAY, 26TH MAY, 2021
PRESENT:

Councillors

L Mytton (Chair)
C Davies (Vice-Chair)

Councillors A Barry, D Hughes, G Thomas and T Rogers
Officers
E Cooper (Interim Chief Executive), A Owen (Interim Deputy
Chief Executive), C Dinham (Communications, Consultation and
Engagement Manager), S Walker (Chief Education Officer),
F Donnelly (H R Manager), L Curtis Jones (Chief Officer (Social
Services)), C Kennedy (Head of Legal and Governance Services
- Monitoring Officer), S Jones (Head of Finance), A Lewis (Head
of School Planning Performance and Resource), C Jones
(Property Services) and A Stephens (Cabinet Policy Officer)
A Taylor (Head of Democratic Services), M Edmunds*
(Democratic Services Officer) and K Reddy (Democratic
Services Officer)
In order to capture the presence of all attendees, including those experiencing
technical difficulties, the attendance sheet created by Microsoft Teams has been
published as a separate supplement alongside these minutes.

Decisions made will come into force 5 working days after publication, unless it
is subject to a call-in by a Scrutiny Committee

ITEM
NO.

AGENDA MATTER

DECISION

20

Apologies for absence

No apologies for absence were received.

21

Declarations of Interest

Councillor C Davies declared a personal interest in Item No.
3 (3-16 Voluntary Aided (VA) School Site Consultation 2) as
his home is within the vicinity of the site. Councillor C
Davies left the meeting.

Page 21

22

3-16 Voluntary Aided
(VA)
School
Site
Consultation 2

Resolved that:
a) The building location and site configuration as
indicated by Option 2 be approved.
b) Further consideration of the Traffic Impact
Assessment and related design solutions prior to
any final decision to construct on the site be
undertaken.
c) Further consideration of Gurnos FC access and use
requirements to the proposed shared community
pitch and development of appropriate solutions
prior to any final decision to construct on the site be
undertaken.
d) Design development with all relevant stakeholders,
to address concerns identified through the
consultation and mitigate risks as appropriate to
continue.

23

Any Other Business
Deemed Urgent by the
Chair

No other business deemed urgent by the Chair.

Page 22

Agenda Item 4f

MINUTES OF MEETING

AUDIT MEETING
MONDAY, 19TH APRIL, 2021
PRESENT:

Councillors

C T Jones (Chair)
D Roberts (Vice-Chair)

Councillors:
J Thomas

D Chaplin, J Davies, D Sammon, C Tovey and

Lay Member:
R Williams (Lay Member)
Other Councillors in Attendance:
A Barry (Cabinet Member), L Mytton (Cabinet Member),
D Hughes (Cabinet Member) and G Thomas (Cabinet Member)
Officers:
E Cooper (Interim Chief Executive), M Thomas (Head of
Regional Audit Service), S Jones (Head of Finance), A Owen
(Interim Deputy Chief Executive), C Dinham (Communications,
Consultation and Engagement Manager), F Donnelly (H R
Manager), L Curtis Jones (Chief Officer (Social Services)),
S Walker (Chief Education Officer), M Rivers (Business Change),
A Stephens (Cabinet Policy Officer) and H Harbord (Senior
Auditor)
Outside Bodies:
H Goddard, S J Byrne and I Phillips (Audit Wales)
M Morgan (Democratic Services Officer)
ITEM
NO.

AGENDA MATTER

DECISION

544

Apologies for absence

Apologies for absence were received from Councillor J
Amos.

Page 23

545

Declarations of Interest

No Declarations of Interest were made.

Agenda Items
The Chair advised that Item 4 on the agenda would be taken before Item 3 on the agenda.

546

Annual
Risk
Management Progress
Report and Updated
Corporate
Risk
Register 2020-21

The Chair welcomed Cabinet Members and Officers to the
Meeting.
Councillor A Barry led the Committee through the ‘Annual
Risk Management Progress Report and Updated Corporate
Risk Register for 2020-21’ report and moved the
recommendations as contained within the report.
He also referred to the length of time in relation to reporting
on the Corporate Risk Register to the Committee and
sought the views of the Committee on this.
The following questions were then raised by the Committee
and were responded to by the Cabinet Members and the
Officers:















Paragraph 3.3 – What Training is received by
Members – Training via Bob’s Business – How
many Councillors are up to date with this Training in
particular Risk Management
(Ellis Cooper advised that this information would be
circulated to the Committee)
The opportunity for Lay Members to access this
Training would be useful
Paragraph 4.1 – Using the Corporate Risk Register
and process to assess the impacts of the
Coronavirus Pandemic – Is there a list of impacts of
the virus so far and could the Councillors have sight
of this
(Matthew Rivers advised that a further in depth look
could be undertaken and circulated to the
Members)
Paragraph 5.8:
Risk 5 (i) – (April 2021 – Likelihood should read 3
not 4) – Reason for this reduction
Risk 5 (ii) – Where are the Single Points of
Dependency (SPOD’s) in the Authority – Is there a
list available – Will spending on new staff reduce
the risk score – How much would have to be spent
to bring down the risk score significantly – Has any
money been spent to fill the gap in Environmental
Health – How much would the financial cost be of
dealing with all SPOD’s
Risk 7 – Brexit – How long will this be kept on the
Risk Register – Was Brexit monies applied for and
if so what was the amount
If Capacity now covers Governance where is the
risk element in relation to Governance listed as
there is a Statutory requirement in some areas
How is the financial impact assessed in risk

Page 24





Risk 2 – Reputation –Further details requested on
this risk score
Paragraph 6.2 – March 2020 should read March
2021
Appendix A – Some dates and Cabinet Member
details need to be updated

The Committee then considered the frequency of reporting
risk and agreed that a report be brough back to Committee
in three months.
Resolved subject to the foregoing that:
(a) The report be noted and this report (including the
Corporate Risk Register for 2021-22) progresses to
Cabinet for approval
(b) The continued progress made in considering the
Risk Management requirements of the Well-being
of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 and the
Socio-economy Duty be noted
(c) Lead Corporate Management Team Officers be
invited to attend Audit Committee on a rolling
programme basis to report on progress in
managing their Corporate Risks
(d) The proposals to continue to present highlight
reports on the Corporate Risk Register to Cabinet
be noted
547

Audit Wales - 2021
Audit Plan - Merthyr
Tydfil County Borough
Council

The Chair welcomed Helen Goddard, Sara-Jane Byrne and
Ian Phillips (Audit Wales) to the Meeting.
Helen Goddard and Sara-Jane Byrne referred the
Committee to the ‘2021 Audit Plan – Merthyr Tydfil County
Borough Council’ and responded to the following questions
raised by the Committee on the report:




Paragraph 38 – Grants Certification Work – ‘List
other schemes’ should read ‘Teachers Pensions
Schemes’
Paragraph 26 – Local Projects – What is the likely
project – What are likely to be the other local
projects
Explanation of the McCloud Judgement

The Chair then thanked Audit Wales for attending and the
update to the Committee.
548

Internal Audit Charter
2021/22

Mark Thomas referred the Committee to the ‘Regional
Internal Audit Service Charter 2021/22’ report and advised
of the change of title to Governance and Audit Committee
with effect from the AGM.
Questions were then raised on the scope and remit of the
Committee and were responded to by the Chair and Mark
Thomas.
Resolved that:

Page 25

The Regional Internal Audit Service Charter for 2021/22 be
approved.
549

Information Reports

Mark Thomas referred the Committee to the Issued Internal
Audit Reports and updated the Committee on the reports
referred to in the report.
No reports were referred for further consideration.

550

Reflection
and
Evaluation of Meeting

The Chair and the Committee reflected on the issues that
had been considered at the Meeting.

551

Any other business
deemed urgent by the
Chair

The Chair advised that there was no business deemed
urgent.

Page 26

Agenda Item 4g

MINUTES OF MEETING

LICENSING COMMITTEE
MEETING
THURSDAY, 29TH APRIL, 2021
PRESENT:

Councillor C Tovey (Chair)
Councillors M Colbran and D Chaplin
Officers:
S Jones (Senior Solicitor), J Baber (Licensing Officer) and
A Hughes (Licensing Officer)

M Morgan (Democratic Services Officer)
ITEM
NO.

AGENDA MATTER

DECISION

583

Apologies for absence

No apologies for absence were received as all Members
were present.

584

Declarations of Interest

No Declarations of Interest were made.

585

Animal
Licence

Dogsden Daycare Ltd

Boarding

The Chair welcomed the applicant Mr Julian Bones, David
Martin Vet, Matthew Paul Solicitor, Ann Morgan and Mike
Jessop Independent Vet to the Meeting.
Simon Jones outlined the proceeding for the hearing and
the position of the Authority in relation to the application and
the options that were available for the Committee.
Aneurin Hughes then led the Committee in detail through
the ‘Animal Boarding Licence’ report and advised of the
following amendment to the recommendations at Paragraph
2.1 of the report:

Page 27

2.1
In determination of this matter, Councillors may
take the following steps:






To grant the Animal Boarding Establishment
Licence as applied subject to the standard
conditions attached to such licence;
To refuse to grant the Animal Boarding
Establishment Licence giving reasons for doing
so;
To hear submissions and representations
requesting either: a. An amendment(s) is/are made to the
Council’s current Animal Boarding
Establishment Licence Standard
Conditions; or
b. New Animal Boarding Establishment
Licence Standard Conditions are made
in respect of this application only;
To authorise a report be put to the Planning,
Regulatory & Licensing Committee to include
details of submissions and representations
detailed in 3 above and for that Committee to
determine an application to amend our current
Standard Conditions or make new Standard
Conditions subject to which an Animal
Boarding Establishment Licence is granted in
respect of this application only.

Mr Jessop Independent Vet then gave details of his findings
as detailed in the report and responded to questions raised
by Mr Paul and Mr Martin the applicant’s representatives.
Representations were then made by Mr Paul and Mr Martin
on the application
Mr Paul then requested a short adjournment and this was
agreed.
Mr Paul advised that he had consulted with the applicant
and would request an adjournment of the Meeting to enable
the premises to be re inspected.
Simon Jones then outlined the options available to the
Committee subject to the findings of the re inspection.
After consideration by the Members it was
Resolved that:
The Meeting be adjourned.
586

Any other business
deemed Urgent by the
Chair

The Chair advised that there was no business deemed
urgent.

Page 28

Agenda Item 4h

MINUTES OF MEETING

PLANNING, REGULATORY
AND LICENSING MEETING
WEDNESDAY, 10TH FEBRUARY, 2021
PRESENT:

Councillors

C Tovey (Chair)
M Colbran (Vice-Chair)

Councillors H Barrett, D Chaplin, K Gibbs, C T Jones, G Lewis,
D Sammon, J Thomas and S Thomas

Officers:
J Jones (Chief Officer Neighbourhood Services), G Morgan
(Solicitor), H Roberts (Group Leader Development Control),
D Cross (Principal Planning Officer) and M Phillips (Democratic
Services Officer)
ITEM
NO.

AGENDA MATTER

DECISION

390

Apologies for absence

No apologies for absence were received.

391

Declarations of Interest

No declarations of interest were received.

392

P/20/0235
29
Trevethick
Street,
Merthyr Tydfil, CF47
0HX

The Planning Officer led the committee through the report
with the aid of a power point presentation.
The following questions were raised by the Committee and
responded to in detail by the Planning Officers in
attendance.


It is understood that the present owner of the
property has now withdrawn from the offer of a
large grant from Welsh Government, does that
mean that the various repairs, the installation of
new windows, doors, minor alterations etc will now
not go ahead at the property

Page 29



At the bottom of Page 4 of the report under the
heading Publicity, there are a number of bullet
points, the first refers to concerns from residents
that the subdivision of the property into two flats will
exacerbate the level of noise and disturbance in the
area, on Page 6 of the report under the heading
Impact on local amenity it states that there is no
evidence to suggest that the conversion of the
property would give rise to an increase in the level
of noise and disturbance in the area. The previous
tenants have left the property, but the owner /
landlord of the property hasn’t changed, and due
the previous history of the property do you believe
that there is a distinct possibility of anti-social
behaviour re-occurring in the future



Page 5 of the report refers to National Planning
Policy, Planning Policy Wales (PPW), Edition 10,
December 2018, Paragraph 3.12
The property has been there for well over 100
years, this is not about design of the property,
doesn’t that particular part of the Planning Policy
Wales particularly refer to new developments



Page 6 of the report, Highway Implications. You
state that - It is acknowledged that the exiting
dwelling does not benefit from any designated offstreet parking provision. Do you accept that as the
application is for two flats and therefore very likely
to be occupied by two couples who between them
are likely to have two cars that there will be
additional cars trying to park in the street at all
times of the day and night



Page 4 of the report, under the heading Publicity bullet point two states Due to there being no rear
access to the property, there are concerns that the
proposed conversion of the property would present
a fire safety risk. Also under the title
Representations at the bottom of page 6 it states, in
regards to fire safety, it would be necessary for the
conversion of the property to comply with
appropriate building regulations outside of the
planning process i.e. the installation of fire safety
doors, safe means of escape and sprinkler systems
etc
Do you accept that from a planning point of view
that adhering to carrying out the alterations of the
two flats must (the word must was stressed) require
the installation of the safety doors, safe means of
escape and sprinkler systems, because in this
instance as there is no rear access and two flats, if
a major fire breaks out the first floor flat must surely
have a safe means of escape to the rear of the
property.

Page 30



Is it a must for the owner to install fire safety doors,
a safe means of escape i.e. a stair case at the rear
of the property and a sprinkler system



Do you accept that if a fire started at the front of the
building on the ground floor the tenant on the first
floor must have a direct means of escape



In the conclusion of the report it states that the
Well-Being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015
has been taken into account when determining the
application. One of the goals of the Act is a Society
where peoples physical and mental well-being is
maximised, bearing in mind that 72 people signed a
petition and the two complaints how would you say
that their well-being has been taken into
consideration.



Is there any way that the Landlord be made to
select better tenants

After comments and consideration by Committee, it was
Resolved that:
In accordance with the recommendation of the Head of
Town Planning and Countryside, the application be
approved subject to the conditions outlined in the report.

393

P/20/0313 - Land To
The Rear Of Kingsley
Terrace,
Aberfan,
Merthyr Tydfil

The Planning Officer led the committee through the report
with the aid of a power point presentation.
The following questions were raised by the Committee and
responded to in detail by the Planning Officers in
attendance.


Can you confirm that if this application was not
related to a member of the planning team it would
have been dealt with by means of delegated
powers



Can you confirm that the Councils ecologist was in
favour of the application



Recommendation 2 states that if within a period of
5 years form the date of planting the replacements
trees are removed, uprooted, die or become in the
opinion of the local planning authority, seriously
damaged or defective, trees of the same species
and size as that originally planted shall be planted
in the same place, unless the local planning
authority gives its written approval to any variation.
Can you confirm what happens after five years, will
the applicant still have to replace the trees

Page 31

After consideration by Committee, it was Resolved that:
In accordance with the recommendation of the Head of
Town Planning and Countryside, the application be
approved subject to the conditions outlined in the report.
394

Appeal Received
P/20/0138

-

Resolved that:
Appeal P/20/0138 be received.

395

Delegated Report

Resolved that:
The delegated report be received.

396

Any Other Business
Deemed Urgent by the
Chair

The Chair confirmed that there was no other business
deemed urgent and thanked the members for their
attendance and closed the meeting.

Page 32

Agenda Item 4i

MINUTES OF MEETING

PLANNING, REGULATORY
AND LICENSING MEETING
WEDNESDAY, 12TH MAY, 2021
PRESENT:

Councillors

C Tovey (Chair)
M Colbran (Vice-Chair)

Councillors H Barrett, D Chaplin, E Galsworthy, K Gibbs,
C T Jones, G Lewis, D Sammon, J Thomas and S Thomas
Officers:
J Jones (Chief Officer Neighbourhood Services), G Morgan
(Solicitor), H Roberts (Group Leader Development Control),
D Cross (Principal Planning Officer) and M Phillips (Democratic
Services Officer)

ITEM
NO.

AGENDA MATTER

DECISION

594

Apologies for absence

No apologies for absence were received.

595

Declarations of Interest

No Declarations of Interest were received.

596

P/20/0121 - Land to
the North of Crabtree
Walk and West of
Sweetwater
Park
Trefechan

The Planning Officer led the committee through the report
with the assistance of a power point presentation and a
number of short videos of the site.
The following questions were raised by the committee and
responded to in detail by the Planning Officers in
attendance.


On Page 5 of the report a resident has raised
concerns about the development of a new pathway
and the connection to the bridleway, is this still and
issue and why

Page 33



In relation to the National Planning Policy on Page
5 of the report it sets out that you need to have
regard for the provision of affordable housing in
communities and to ensure they accessible to those
who cannot afford market housing on first
occupation and for subsequent occupiers – are
these houses designed for first time buyers and
realistically will they be accessible to people coming
onto the housing market

Councillor Scott Thomas joined the meeting


There are Forty-five properties planned for the site
and realistically they would be selling from at least
£175,000 and some over £200,000 which roughly
equates to 7.8 Million pounds. Not being aware of
the system used to work out the affordable housing
requirements or the figures the developer has
supplied but could we ask the developer for any
contribution towards affordable housing bearing in
mind the predicament the local authority are in with
homelessness

Councillor Clive Jones joined the meeting


Is there something that could be put in place where
£1000 / £2000 is put onto each dwelling, it isn’t a
large amount on a property worth £175,000+ but
would add up to a large contribution which could
then go to registered social landlords and contribute
to one-bedroom flats for example



Can you please clarify if there was no response or
no objection from the Brecon Beacons National
Park Planning Committee.



Is there any provision for electric vehicle charging
points within the development



Is there anything in Planning Policy that states
electric vehicle charging points must be included in
future developments



There is an existing house that will remain on site,
how will they get access with the development of
the new site



A resident has raised concerns about the overflow
of the running water from the site, are you confident
that the drainage that will be put in place will work



Can you confirm if there will be a Community
Infrastructure Levy (CIL) requirement for this
development



Three Dragons toolkit has been used and the
developer has got away without making an
affordable housing contribution yet again, what can
be done about this

Page 34



Time and time again this authority is losing out
because developers are stating that developments
are not affordable, if a development is not
affordable and they cannot provide affordable
housing why are we as an Authority giving them the
go ahead. We are in dire straights at present with
the lack of housing for homeless people. Can you
confirm what we will receive in relation to the CIL
requirement on this development



You stated that the development isn’t affordable
due to the fact that the developer is providing
sustainable drainage, surely this development
shouldn’t go ahead, or the developers need to
change their practices



Additional vehicle use along Vaynor Road equates
to an additional vehicle every 2.5 minutes which
you state wasn’t a significant increase is that the
opinion of Planning or of Highways

After comments and consideration by Committee, it was
Resolved that:
In accordance with the recommendation of the Head of
Town Planning and Countryside, the application be
approved subject to the conditions outlined in the report.
597

P/21/0086 - 6 Heol
Lavender
Gurnos
Merthyr Tydfil CF47
9DL

The Planning Officer led the committee through the report
with the assistance of a power point presentation and a
short video of the area.
The following questions were raised by the committee and
responded to in detail by the Planning Officers in
attendance.


Page 24 of the report states that the applicant
seeks to lease the property to nurses who wish to
live close to Prince Charles Hospital, the owner
could change his mind at any time any and lease
the property to homeless individuals. Is this
assumption correct



Is it correct that the Landlord can lease the property
for any length of time, whether is be a week, a
month etc



This is a middle terrace property could there be a
high turnover of residents



Page 24 of the report also states that ‘it has been
indicate that the applicants policy is that no guests
can reside at the property and as such would be
limited to a maximum of three residents’. How is the
owner of the property going to monitor this

Page 35



As the applicant has said he wished to lease the
property to nurses, can this be put as a
recommendation that they have to abide by that
and only lease to nurses which would allay
councillors and residents’ concerns



In relation to the consultation letters that were sent
out to the local residents, did you also contact any
social landlords in the area or did you expect the
residents to contact their own registered social
landlords themselves



Can you confirm how you decide which properties
are notified of a proposed development and in this
case whether site notices were posted outside of
the property

After comments and consideration by Committee, it was
Resolved that:
In accordance with the recommendation of the Head of
Town Planning and Countryside, the application be
approved subject to the conditions outlined in the report.
598

Appeal
P/20/0098

Decision

Resolved that:
Appeal decision be received.

599

Appeal
P/20/0302

Decision

Resolved that:
Appeal decision be received.

600

Appeal
P/20/0091

Received

Resolved that:
Appeal be received.

601

Delegated
Report

Decision

Resolved that:
Delegated decision report be received.

602

Any Other Business
Deemed Urgent by the
Chair

The Chair advised the Committee that Councillor D
Sammon wished to raise an item.
Councillor D Sammon addressed the committee and
outlined the decision to call the Planning Department to his
Neighbourhood Services Scrutiny in relation to frustrations
from Councillors and residents that planning decisions are
being made knowing that problems will arise from that
decision.
A requested has been made for the Planning Department to
present a report to Neighbourhood Services Scrutiny
Committee which will be followed by a workshop for
Councillors and a further report being presented to the
committee.
All members of Neighbourhood Services Scrutiny
Committee and the Planning, Regulatory and Licensing
Committee will be contacted via email and asked to provide
their concerns around the planning process so that they can
be addressed.

Page 36

Judith Jones addressed the committee in relation to
organising a Councillor workshop which would focus on the
following: Houses of Multiple Occupancy (HMOs) and
Affordable Housing.

Page 37

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 4j

MINUTES OF MEETING

SACRE MEETING
THURSDAY, 25TH MARCH, 2021
PRESENT:

Councillors:

E Galsworthy (Chair)
Rev. M Prevett (Vice-Chair)

Councillors:

D Hughes and I Thomas

Professional Associations:
S Bernard Henderson and L McCarthy
Faith Communities:
D O'Keefe and A Star
Officers:
A Hill (Consultant for Merthyr SACRE)
K Reddy (Democratic Services Officer)
ITEM
NO.

AGENDA MATTER

DECISION

516

Apologies for absence

Apologies for absence received from Councillor Michelle
Jones and Justine Jones.
Apologies were also received Anthony Lewis of the
Education Department.

517

Declaration of Interests

No declarations of interest were made.

518

Membership Updates

There were no amendments to report.
Karen Reddy advised that there are currently several
vacancies within the Teacher Associations membership and
that she would speak to Anthony Lewis on whether he could
make any enquiries within the Schools.

Page 39

Minutes of the previous
meeting held on 7th
December 2020

RESOLVED that:

520

Update on plans for
examinations in 2021

Angela Hill gave an update to members on the plans for
examinations in 2021 in relation to how Schools are going
to take this forward, how pupils will receive their provisional
grades and the guidance and support available from the
WJEC.

521

WASACRE business

Angela Hill advised that she attended the WASACRE
Meeting on the 23rd March 2021 and gave an update to
members on the business of the meeting in relation to the
Qualifications Wales Consultation, relaunch of the new
WASACRE Website and the RVE Framework.

522

Updates on supporting
RE and Collective
Worship in the 'new
normal'

Angela Hill advised that, following December’s meeting, a
letter was sent out to all Schools reminding them that RE
and Collective Worship are still statutory requirements and
also provided them with a range of resources of trusted
partners and providers across a whole scope of
organisations.

519

The minutes of the meeting held on the 7th December 2020
were submitted and approved as a correct record.

Members of SACRE’s were also asked to suggest anyone
who could speak from a faith/belief perspective and the
suggestions received have been forwarded to Schools.
Details ensued on how we can further support Schools and
at what stage.
523

Qualifications
Wales
Consultation / Qualified
for the Future: The
Right Choice for Wales

Angela Hill referred to the Qualification Wales Consultation
deadline which is the 9th April.
Angela Hill advised that the consultation covers the whole
curriculum and she stressed the importance of members of
SACRE responding which will give them an opportunity to
put their views forward.
Detailed discussion ensued on the points to consider,
outlined in the agenda, and how this Committee will
respond and it was RESOLVED that:
a. Angela Hill will collate a response on the comments
made and will respond directly prior to the deadline.
b. In addition, any member wishing to respond directly
can do so in their own right.

524

Dates
for
meetings

future

Members confirmed that the next meeting will be held on
Thursday, 1st July 2021 at 3.45 pm remotely via Microsoft
Teams.
An invitation will be sent by Karen Reddy via Microsoft
Teams.

Page 40

Exempt
RESOLVED that:
The public be excluded from the meeting on the grounds that it involves the likely disclosure of
exempt information as defined in paragraph 15 under Part 4 of Schedule 12A Section 100 (4)
(A) of the Local Government Act 1972.

525

Any other business
deemed urgent by the
Chair

Confidential Item - Response to the Draft Religion, Values
and Ethics (RVE) Guidance
Angela Hill referred to the above guidance document, which
was circulated separately to members prior to this meeting,
and reminded members that the content of this document is
confidential and should not be shared with anyone outside
of the Committee.
She advised that the deadline for any responses is the 9th
April 2021.
Detailed discussion ensued on the contents of this guidance
and it was RESOLVED that:
a. Members forward any comments directly to Welsh
Government (Karen Reddy to provide members
with the e-mail address for responses).
b. Karen Reddy to provide members with a copy of
the guidance outlining Angela Hill’s comments.
c.

Members forward a copy of their responses to
Angela Hill for information.

Page 41

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 4k

MINUTES OF MEETING

SCRUTINY : GOVERNANCE,
PERFORMANCE, BUSINESS
CHANGE AND CORPORATE
SERVICES MEETING
TUESDAY, 4TH MAY, 2021
PRESENT:

Councillors: J Amos (Vice-Chair, in the Chair)
Councillors: D Sammon, W R Smith, L Davies and C T Jones
Cooptees:
S Fureed (MTBWYF)
Other Councillors in Attendance:
D Hughes (Cabinet Member)
Officers:
J Jones (Chief Officer Neighbourhood Services) and P Davies
(Waste Management)

M Morgan (Democratic Services Officer)
ITEM
NO.

AGENDA MATTER

DECISION

587

Apologies for Absence

Apologies for absence were received from Councillor T
Skinner and Councillor A Barry Cabinet Member.
Councillor H R Jones was unable to join the Meeting due to
Technical Issues.

Page 43

588

Declarations of Interest
(including
whipping
declarations)

No Declarations of Interest were made.

589

Waste Bin Charges

The Chair welcomed Judith Jones, Paul Davies and
Councillor D Hughes Cabinet Member to the Meeting.
Paul Davies referred the Committee to the ‘Waste Bins
Charges’ report and together with Judith Jones and
Councillor D Hughes responded in detail to the following
questions raised by the Committee:












Paragraph 5.2 – Is there need for a Policy for the
Officers to work from
In properties where a Waste Bin has not been left
are the new occupies expected to pay for a bin
Update on progress arising from recommendations
made at the last Neighbourhood Services, Planning
and Countryside Scrutiny Committee
Explanation requested in relation to stolen bins and
Crime Numbers issued
Explanation of circumstances where the charge has
not been applied
Paragraph 4.2 – Is there data available for a longer
time period – Is rubbish being dumped rather than
pay for a Waste Bin
Damage sustained by Waste Bins due to bad
weather – Is there a figure available
Is there possibility / feasibility as part of a Policy
that there be engagement with residents regarding
the ability to pay for a Waste Bin
What are the costs for bar coding of Waste Bins –
Can bins be tracked – Do other Council’s have bar
codes on Waste Bins
(Paul Davies advised that all information would be
relayed to the Committee)
Has consideration been given to litter picking after
the recycling collection – Pilot Scheme in operation
- Can a list be given to the Committee of where
litter pickers are following the recycling vehicle –
Can Members be notified if this is throughout the
County Borough

A Member then proposed that a Task and Finish Group be
established to comprise the Chair and Vice Chair of the
Committee, the Chair and Vice Chair of the Neighbourhood
Services, Planning and Countryside Scrutiny Committee,
the appropriate Cabinet Member(s) together with the
appropriate Officer(s) to consider and identify a procedure
that would be applied in instances where replacement
Waste Bins are requested and that the findings of the
Group be referred to Cabinet / Full Council for their
consideration
After consideration it was
Resolved that:

Page 44

(a)
(b)

The content of the report be noted
A Task and Finish Group be established to
comprise the Chair and Vice Chair of the
Committee, the Chair and Vice Chair of the
Neighbourhood Services, Planning and
Countryside Scrutiny Committee, the
appropriate Cabinet Member(s) together
with the appropriate Officer(s) to consider
and identify a procedure that would be
applied in instances where replacement
Waste Bins are requested and that the
findings of the Group be referred to Cabinet
/ Full Council for their consideration.

590

Work
Programme
2020-2021

The Chair referred the Committee to the Forward Work
Programme 2020/21 and suggested that in the absence of
the Chair and Scrutiny Officer that the Forward Work
Programme be considered by the Chair and the Scrutiny
Officer and then referred to the Committee for their
consideration and this suggestion was agreed by the
Committee.

591

Scrutiny
Referrals,
Feedback and Follow
up Actions

No referrals were made.

592

Reflection
and
Evaluation of Meeting

The Chair and the Committee reflected in detail on the
issues that had been considered at the Meeting.

593

Any other business
deemed urgent by the
Chair

The Chair advised that there was no business deemed
urgent.

Page 45

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 4l

MINUTES OF MEETING

SCRUTINY : REGENERATION
AND PUBLIC PROTECTION
MEETING
TUESDAY, 13TH APRIL, 2021
PRESENT:

Councillors L Davies (Chair)
G Lewis (Vice-Chair)
Councillors M Colbran, K Gibbs, J Thomas and S Thomas
Cooptees:
M Ellis (Youth Forum Representative)
Other Councillors in Attendance:
T Rogers (Cabinet Member) and G Thomas (Cabinet Member)
Officers:
A Owen (Interim Deputy Chief Executive), M Purnell
(Performance and Scrutiny Officer), C Long (Economic
Development & Strategic Tourism Manager), S Gow
(Environmental Health Manager), P Lewis (Trading Standards
and Licensing Manager) and Z Thomas (European & External
Funding Support Officer)
Outside Bodies:
M Wilkinson and S Thomas (New Pathways)
M Morgan (Democratic Services Officer)

Page 47

ITEM
NO.

AGENDA MATTER

DECISION

534

Apologies for Absence

H Hopkins Co-opted Member was unable to join the
Meeting due to Technical Issues.

535

Declarations of Interest
(including
whipping
declarations)

Councillor L Davies Declared his Interest in Item 3 –
Presentation on Sexual Violence as he formerly worked for
New Pathways and Item 4 - Cyfarthfa Heritage Area 2021
as he works for the Redhouse (Merthyr Leisure Trust).

536

Presentation on Sexual
Violence

The Chair welcomed Mike Wilkinson Deputy Chief Officer
and Sarah Thomas Head of Sexual Assault Services – New
Pathways to the Meeting.
The Committee then received the following Presentation
from Mike Wilkinson and Sarah Thomas:













About New Pathways
Our Services
Map of where the Organisation are based
throughout Wales
New Pathways Data
Merthyr Tydfil Client Data 2021/2021
The effect of Covid 19 on referrals in Merthyr Tydfil
Adapting to Covid – Initial Response, Service
Development, On going
Sexual Assault Referral Centres (SARC’s)
What is a SARC
Who do SARC’s work with
The benefits of SARC’s
The role of an Independent Sexual Violence
Advocate (ISVA)

The following questions were then raised on the
Presentation and were responded to in detail by Mike
Wilkinson and Sarah Thomas:









How many ISVA’s are there in Merthyr Tydfil –
What are the Case Load numbers at the moment
What are the barriers preventing working with
Education and Schools – Could a Meeting be
arranged with Heads and then a decision could be
agreed on the way forward
Adverse childhood experiences – The Services
should go hand in hand
New rules in relation to Additional Learning Needs
Are Children given relationship guidance in schools
The need to teach from a young age – To take this
issue up with the Welsh Assembly
Could young people be used as Ambassadors to
speak to other young people and children

The Chair then thanked Mike Wilkinson and Sarah Thomas
for the Presentation to the Committee and the phenomenal
work undertaken by the Organisation.

Page 48

537

Cyfarthfa
Area 2021

Heritage

The Chair welcomed Alyn Owen, Chris Long and Zoe
Thomas to the Meeting.
Alyn Owen referred the Committee to the ‘Cyfarthfa
Heritage Area’ report and gave a background of the
Cyfarthfa Heritage area.
Zoe Thomas then gave an overview of the report and Chris
Long gave a summary of challenges and outcomes.
The following questions were then raised by the Committee
and were responded to by Councillor G Thomas and the
Officers:






Park / VPR Application – Update requested
Furnaces – Has input and engagement been
sought from the Heritage Trust
The Cyfarthfa Foundation – How many Trustees
are there at the moment – How many will there be –
What is the appointment process
Role of staff in relation to the funding
What is the priority in the schedule of works in
relation to the Castle and Furnaces

The Chair then thanked Councillor Thomas and the Officers
for the report and update to the Committee.
538

Working Life Corporate
Self Evaluation 2021

The Chair welcomed Paul Lewis and Susan Gow to the
Meeting.
Alyn Owen referred the Committee to the ‘Corporate SelfEvaluation – Working Life’ report.
Chris Long, Paul Lewis and Susan Gow then gave an
overview to the Committee on the judgements that had
been reached.
Resolved that:
The Committee agree the judgements reached.

539

Coronavirus
Report

Update

Alyn Owen referred the Committee to the ‘Update Report:
Council’s Response to Coronavirus Pandemic’ and together
with Chris Long, Paul Lewis and Susan Gow updated on
the current situation in relation to the pandemic.
The following questions were then raised by the Committee
and were responded to in detail by the Officers:





Update on the number of COVID 19 related Scams
reported
Vaccination Uptake Data – Further detail requested
on Table 8
Concerns in relation to people congregating and
anti-social behaviour
Tourism

The Chair then thanked the Officers for attending and the

Page 49

update to the Committee.
Councillor G Lewis left the Meeting at 4.45 pm
Councillor S Thomas left the Meeting at 5.55 pm.

540

Work
Programme
2020-2021

The Chair referred to the Forward Work Programme
2020/21 report and suggested that the Scrutiny Officer
contact Committee Members for their suggestions and that
a Meeting be held with himself the Vice Chair, Cabinet
Members and Officers to discuss the Forward Work
Programme and this was agreed by the Committee.

541

Scrutiny
Referrals,
Feedback and Follow
Up Actions

No referrals were made.

542

Reflection
and
Evaluation of Meeting

The Chair and the Committee reflected on the issues raised
in the Meeting with a suggestion from a Member that the
Presentation from New Pathways be made to all
Councillors.
The Chair supported this suggestion and advised that he
would pursue the arrangement of a Workshop for all
Councillors.

543

Any Other Business
deemed urgent by the
Chair

The Chair advised that there was no business deemed
urgent.

Page 50

Agenda Item 4m

MINUTES OF MEETING

SCRUTINY : REGENERATION,
PUBLIC PROTECTION AND
HOUSING MEETING
TUESDAY, 25TH MAY, 2021
PRESENT:

Councillors L Davies (Chair)
G Lewis (Vice-Chair)
Councillors M Colbran, J Thomas and S Thomas
Cooptees:
H Hopkins (Public)
Other Councillors in Attendance:
T Rogers (Cabinet Member) and G Thomas (Cabinet Member)
Officers:
A Owen (Interim Deputy Chief Executive), M Purnell
(Performance and Scrutiny Officer), S Lewis-Abbott (Housing
and Supporting People Manager) and S Stephens (Housing)
M Morgan (Democratic Services Officer)

ITEM
NO.

AGENDA MATTER

DECISION

13

Apologies for Absence

Apologies for absence were received from Councillor K
Gibbs.
Councillor M Colbran advised that he may have to leave the
Meeting to attend another Meeting in his capacity as Mayor.

14

Declarations of Interest
(including
whipping

No Declarations of Interest were made.

Page 51

declarations)
15

Draft Committee Work
Programme 2021-2022

The Chair welcomed Councillor G Thomas and Councillor T
Rogers Cabinet Members together with Alyn Owen to the
Meeting.
The Chair referred to the Draft Committee Forward Work
Programme 2021/2022 report and suggested that one item
be agreed for each Meeting and then going forward to
agree items from the Cabinet Work Plan.
The Chair also referred to the copy of the Cabinet Work
Plan that had been circulated to Members and ideally he
would like to discuss items at the Scrutiny Meeting prior to
consideration by Cabinet.
The Chair also suggested the Cyfarthfa Foundation and St
Tydfil’s Shopping Centre as items for consideration.
A Member then referred to a recent Exempt Cabinet Report
in relation to Hoover Strategic Regeneration Area and
Glebeland Site and asked if this report could be brought
before the Scrutiny Committee for discussion.
Alyn Owen advised he would be happy to bring this report
to the Scrutiny Committee as an exempt item.
Reference was then made to the item for the next
Committee Meeting in relation to receiving an update from
South Wales Police with the Committee requesting details
at this Meeting from the Police representative on
information on Police Performance in relation to 101 call
response times.
Reference was also made to European Funding ending and
its impact.
Alyn Owen referred to the implications of withdrawal of
funding and referred to ESF and ERDF Funding and the
issues and implications of successor funds and suggested
three separate Meetings over the next financial year to
consider these matters in detail.
The Committee then agreed that the items for the next
Meeting be the Update from South Wales Police specifically
in relation to 101 responses and the exempt report that had
been considered by Cabinet in relation to the Hoover
Strategic Regeneration Area and Glebeland site.

16

Discussion
around
Housing
and
Homelessness

The Chair welcomed Suzanne Lewis Abbott and Suzanne
Stephens to the Meeting.
The Chair then suggested that a Workshop be arranged
with the relevant Bodies to discuss Housing and
Homelessness with a report then being brought back to the
Scrutiny Committee.
Suzanne Stephens then gave a detailed update to the
Committee in relation to current Homelessness numbers

Page 52

and the type of accommodation available and the work
streams to meet the need.
Suzanne Lewis Abbot then gave details in relation to
building resilience into the Service, Housing Partnerships
and how to tackle housing need and to meet the needs of
individuals.
Alyn Owen advised that this was a complex issue and
referred to the role of Health, Social Services and Partner
Organisations.
The following questions were then raised by the Committee
and were responded to in detail by the Officers:



Identification of properties for use as a House in
Multiple Occupation – What progress is being made
– Buoyancy of the Market
Unoccupied properties not on the Market – Are
checks being made on availability

The Chair then thanked the Officers for the detailed update
to the Committee and it was agreed that a Workshop be
arranged with all appropriate parties to further discuss
Housing and Homelessness.
Councillor M Colbran left the Meeting at 4.35 pm.
17

Scrutiny
Referrals,
Feedback and Follow
Up Actions

No referrals were made.

18

Reflection
and
Evaluation of Meeting

The Chair and the Committee reflected on the matters that
had been discussed at the Meeting with the Committee
agreeing that an informal Meeting be held with Members
and Officers to discuss issues and share information and
that the Scrutiny Officer arrange a date for this Meeting.

19

Any Other Business
deemed urgent by the
Chair

The Chair advised that there was no business deemed
urgent.

Page 53

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 4n

MINUTES OF MEETING

SCRUTINY : LEARNING AND
LGES MEETING
MONDAY, 26TH APRIL, 2021
PRESENT:

Councillors

H R Jones (Chair)
S Jago (Vice-Chair)

Councillors H Barrett and M Jones
Cooptees:
K Phelan (Diocesan Representative), M Symonds (MT Assoc. of
School Governors) and F Whitefoot (Public Appointed)
Other Councillors in Attendance:
L Mytton (Cabinet Member)
Officers:
S Walker (Chief Education Officer), J Watkins (Education) and
S Jablaoui (Performance and Scrutiny Officer Officer)
Outside Bodies:
R Stephens Davies (Head Teacher Greenfield School)
J Edwards (Central South Consortium)
K Reddy (Democratic Services Officer)

ITEM
NO.

AGENDA MATTER

DECISION

568

Apologies for absence

Apologies for absence received from Councillors Brent
Carter and David Isaac.
The Chair advised that Carl Jones, Co-optee, has decided
to resign from this Committee due to other commitments.

Page 55

569

Declarations of Interest
(including
whipping
declarations)

No declarations of interest were made.

570

Additional
Learning
Needs
(ALN)
and
Outreach
Support
across the Authority

Sue Walker advised that a Head of Service has been
appointed for the Additional Learning Needs and Inclusion
post and the successful candidate will hopefully start before
the new academic year.
Jill Watkins and Rhiannon Stephens Davies referred to the
report on the Additional Learnings Needs and Outreach
Support across the Authority and took members through the
report in detail as follows:
-

Taking forward the Merthyr Additional Learning
Needs Co-ordinator (ALNCo) Forum.

-

All schools engaging in training in readiness for the
new Act.

-

Supporting the needs of the ALNCos.

-

Outreach support commissioned by Greenfield
School to LRBs across Merthyr Tydfil.

Jill Watkins and Rhiannon Stephens Davies provided
background information in relation to the following:
-

How is training for the ALNCos being used in the
classroom situation.

-

Clarification on the Child’s Review.

-

Sharing of what provisions are available to support
children in Schools.

-

Interactive training available and how this can be
rolled out.

-

Staff within Greenfield School working on the
outreach support and how will this impact on the
needs of the children in Greenfield School.

-

Statutory duties for maintained Schools. When will
Schools embark on this process?

-

Introduction of the B Squared Assessment.

-

The process in determining whether a child has
ALNs.

Councillor Sherelle Jago arrived at 4.35 pm.
RESOLVED that:
The contents of the report be noted by members.

Page 56

The Chair thanked Jill Watkins and Rhiannon Stephens
Davies for their informative report and presentation.
571

Review
of
the
Education Other Than
At School (EOTAS)
Provision

Sue Walker referred to the report on the review of the
Education other than at School (EOTAS) Provision and took
members through the report in detail as follows:
-

The development of the Pupil Referral Unit at Ty
Dysgu.

-

Pupils enrolled on the Special Tuition Programme.

-

Service Level Agreement with Equity Solutions.

-

Links with outside agencies.

Sue Walker provided background information in relation to
the following:
-

Development of more robust packages to support
those learners permanently excluded.

-

Behavioural management issues - what support is
in place to engage with families.

-

Attendance at Ty Dysgu
as the COVID
Pandemic affected the attendance figures?

RESOLVED that:
The contents of the report be noted by members.
572

Forward
Work
Programme 2020/21

Members discussed the work programme and it was
RESOLVED that:
-

The Chair, Scrutiny Officer and Sue Walker
consider items for inclusion in the forward work
programme for 2021/22.

-

A report be considered in the 2021/22 work
programme before the end of the summer term in
relation to the June workshop on Accountability and
Evaluation Framework for Education.

-

Consideration of Cabinet’s forward plan.

-

Additional items listed in the work programme to be
considered for this Committee’s 2021/22 work
programme.

573

Scrutiny
Referrals,
Feedback and Follow
up Actions

The Chair advised that there were no new referrals.

574

Reflection
and
Evaluation of Meeting

The Chair and the Committee reflected in detail on the
items that had been considered in the Meeting.

Page 57

575

Any other business
deemed urgent by the
Chair

The Chair advised that there were no items deemed urgent.

Page 58

Agenda Item 4o

MINUTES OF MEETING

SCRUTINY : SOCIAL
SERVICES MEETING
TUESDAY, 16TH MARCH, 2021
PRESENT:

Councillors: W R Smith (Chair)
S Jago (Vice-Chair)
Councillors G Richards, D Sammon and I Thomas
Other Councillors in Attendance:
Councillor Chris Jones (Cabinet Member for Social Services)
Officers:
L Curtis Jones (Chief Officer (Social Services)) and T Hudd
(Family Support), Rachel Gray (Children’s Services) and
M Phillips (Democratic Services Officer)

ITEM
NO.

AGENDA MATTER

DECISION

478

Apologies for absence

No apologies for absence were received.

479

Declarations of Interest
(including
whipping
declarations)

No Declarations of interest were received.

480

Cwm Taf Morgannwg
Safeguarding
Board
Annual Report 2019/20

Lisa Curtis-Jones introduced the item to the committee and
highlighted the key priorities within the report.
Nicola Kingham apologised for the delay in publishing the
report and for the lack of data which wasn’t available due to
the pandemic.

Page 59

The following questions were raised by the committee and
answered in detail by the officers in attendance.


Can you confirm if there are two separate multi
agency hubs and if so are there any plans to merge
them



Page 37 – Statutory Duty to Scrutinise Local
Arrangements, Column 2 – Presented at Board,
can you confirm if this is when for example MTCBC
Children’s Services bring something to the Board
for discussion or ratification



Merthyr Tydfil CBC Public Protection Attendance is
quite low compared to RCT, are there issue in this
area or what are the reasons for the lack of
statutory attendance at the meetings



This report is referring to 2019-2020, can you
confirm if the Public Protection engagement levels
have improved over the past year



Can you confirm who the Head of Service is for
Public Protection and raise the issue with them to
help resolve the matter



Page 45 – Guidance received from Welsh Ministers
or the National Board in relation to Nursery
Provision, can you confirm where we are as a local
authority and how many unregistered provisions we
currently have

The Cabinet Member for Social Services addressed the
committee and confirmed that he would be raising the
attendance issue highlighted by the committee with the
Head Service of Public Protection.
The Chair thanked the Officers for the report.
481

Adult Services and
Children’s
Services
Carers Strategy

Taryn Stephens introduced the report to the committee and
provided a general overview of young carers before
handing over to Rachel Gray who provided an overview of
Adult Services.
The following questions were raised by the committee and
were responded to in detail by the officers in attendance.


Will there be a follow up report highlighting the
lessons learned once the covid-19 restrictions are
lifted



Do you know how many unpaid carers we have
registered in Merthyr Tydfil and has there been an
increase due to Covid



You highlighted the changes to the Carers
Assessment, what do you want to achieve with the
new format of assessment

Page 60



Can you confirm what plans you have in place to
support young carers once the Covid-19 restrictions
are lifted such as trips away etc



Can you confirm if the Local Authority automatically
notified of all carers in receipt of carers allowance



The report states that unpaid carers are not coping
during the lockdown, can you confirm what has
been put in place to assist them



The report states that the current strategy is under
review can you confirm if you have an end date for
this



Weekends are always difficult for any local
government service, are you able to provide a high
level of support for both children and adult carers
on weekends



Can you provide the committee with examples of
some of the day to day support that you provide to
the young carers in Merthyr Tydfil and confirm
whether they receive any financial assistance

The Chair thanked the officers for the excellent report.

482

Social
Services
Recovery,
Transformation
and
Improvement
Plan
Update

Lisa Curtis-Jones introduced the report to the committee
and provided an update on the Plan and the service moving
forward.
The following questions were raised by the committee and
were responded to in details by the officers in attendance.


Can you confirm how many members of staff have
received their Covid vaccinations



Will you be looking to develop a mental health
support pathway across the spectrum considering
the issues that have arisen form the Pandemic



Has the authority picked up on the offer of funding
from Welsh Government over the past few weeks to
assist with preventative work / family resources to
move into next year which would aid the
sustainability and the financial pressures in
preventative services

The Cabinet Member for Social Services addressed the
committee and confirmed his appointment as the new Chair
of the Regional Partnership Board for Cwm Taf Morgannwg
and hopes it will be a good thing for Merthyr Tydfil going
forward.

Page 61

The Cabinet Member also shared the exiting news with the
committee that Merthyr Tydfil has been chosen as 1 of 6
communities in the UK and the only one in Wales to work
with the Lloyds Banking Foundation, it is a two part
program, Part One – Developing organisational resilience
for Third Sector and Community Sector organisations in
Merthyr Tydfil to be more sustainable and Part 2 – A
systems change and a cultural change programme with
Public Sector and Third Sector and the theme that the
partners in Merthyr have chosen is Children and Young
people’s Mental Health.
The Chair requested that the Cabinet Member work closely
with the Public Service Board to ensure that things are fed
back to the committee in a timely manner.
The Chair thanked Lisa Curtis-Jones and the Social
Services Team as a whole for all they have achieved and
for the way they developed and changed their working
practices during a very difficult time due to the Pandemic.

483

Forward
Work
Programme 2020/21

No updated
programme.

was

484

Scrutiny
Referrals,
Feedback and Follow
up Actions

The Chair advised the committee that there were no
Scrutiny Referrals, feedback or follow up actions.

485

Reflection
and
Evaluation of Meeting

The Chair and the Committee reflected in detail on the
matters that had been discussed at the Meeting

486

Any other business
deemed urgent by the
Chair

The Chair thanked the members for their attendance and
closed the meeting.

Page 62

provided

on

the

Forward

Work

Agenda Item 4p

MINUTES OF MEETING

SCRUTINY : SOCIAL
SERVICES MEETING
TUESDAY, 27TH APRIL, 2021
PRESENT:

Councillors: W R Smith (Chair)
S Jago (Vice-Chair)
Councillors D Sammon and I Thomas
Other Councillors in Attendance:
Councillor C Davies (Cabinet Member for Social Services)
Officers:
L Curtis Jones (Chief Officer (Social Services)), A Edevane
(Head of Adult Services) and M Phillips (Democratic Services
Officer)

ITEM
NO.

AGENDA MATTER

DECISION

576

Apologies for absence

Apologies for absence were received from Councillor G
Richards.

577

Declarations of Interest
(including
whipping
declarations)

Councillor B Smith declared a personal and prejudicial
interest in Item 3 Community Occupational Therapy Service
2021-2021 – Disabled Facility Grants as he is the Chair of
Social Services Scrutiny Committee and the Chair of Cwm
Taf Care and Repair.

578

Community
Occupational Therapy
Service
2020-21
Disabled
Facility
Grants

Cllr B Smith turned off his camera and microphone for this
item as he declared a personal and prejudicial interest.
Councillor S Jago took the Chair for the Item.
Angela Edevane introduced the report to the committee and
highlighted the salient points for the committee.

Page 63

The following questions were raised by the committee and
responded to in detail by the officers in attendance.


Pleased to hear that you have now appointed a
Senior Occupation Therapist. Can you confirm what
grade this post is and was the decision to appoint
the Senior Occupational Therapist down to the
Improvement Board and was it a departmental
decision



In relation to Disability Facility Grants (DFGs) – is
there a reluctance from registered social landlords
to undertake or allow adaptations to take place in
their properties or are they obliged to let them
happen



Are adaptations left in a property once someone
moves and if so are those adaptations then
matched against the needs of future tenants so that
money isn’t spent unnecessarily



The report states that the grants team was
disbanded with the work being passed to RCT why
was this decision made and why did you not restore
you own grants team to full capacity



Paragraph 3.4 refers to bathing aids, can you
confirm what would be a medical or a non-medical
reason to support such a referral and why would
someone apply for bathing aids if they didn’t need
them and if they can’t have them sooner or later
wouldn’t it become a medical problem



In Paragraph 3.3 it refers to the average number of
referrals a month being between 35-40, which
would equate to roughly 420 a year, would that be
reflective of the past year or is that a general
statement of monthly assessments or is it an exact
figure for the year 2021



Out of the assessments that were undertaken 37
led to referrals for grants for adaptations etc. Can
you give an example of a previous year so a
comparison can be made



In relation to the grants via Enable Care – do they
report the numbers back into the Local Authority so
that there is an overall picture for the County
Borough

The Chair requested that future reports include the all the
figures relating to grants in the County Borough to provide a
better overall picture of the work being carried out across
County Borough

Page 64



At the time of the transfer to RCT 54 cases were
with our grants department, what are figures like
now bearing in mind the coronavirus pandemic



In paragraph 4.4 the report states that new
requests for DFGs were not progressed from June
2019 onwards, this was before the Coronavirus
pandemic so can you please explain this

The Cabinet Member for Social Services addressed the
committee and provided an update on his role and the role
of the Cabinet in relation to DFGs and COTs.
The Chair thanked the members for their questions and
Angela for the report and her responses.

579

Forward
Work
Programme 2020/21

The Chair updated the committee in relation to the Forward
Work Programme and explained that a meeting was
scheduled for May 14th to finalise the programme for next
year. The Chair also requested that if members of the
committee wish to add items to the programme that they do
so via email to either himself or the scrutiny officer.

580

Scrutiny
Referrals,
Feedback and Follow
up Actions

The Chair and Vice Chair provided an update in relation to
a referral that was received relating to when the Local
Authorities Safeguarding policy was last updated.
A response had been received from the Monitoring Officer
however it was agreed by the committee that a Review and
Revision page should be added to all policies to show that
as an Authority we are adhering to a good governance
structures and to ensure that there are policy reviews in
place.
The Cabinet Member for Social Services agreed to take this
up with the Cabinet and Senior Management Team.
Lisa Curtis Jones updated the committee in relation to the
Corporate Safeguarding and Whistleblowing Policy being
taken to the Corporate Safeguarding Reference Group.
It was confirmed that the Corporate Safeguarding Policy
was reviewed and updated which has also been shared
with auditors and that a front sheet showing the Review and
Revision information would be added in due course.
The Whistleblowing Policy has also been reviewed but
Legal confirmed that there was no requirement to update or
revise the policy as there had been not update to the
legislation. It was confirmed that a Review and Revision
front sheet would be added in due course as requested.

581

Reflection
and
Evaluation of Meeting

The Chair and the Committee reflected in detail on the
matters that had been discussed at the Meeting

Page 65

582

Any other business
deemed urgent by the
Chair

The Chair had no other business and he thanked the
members for their attendance and close the meeting.

Page 66

Agenda Item 5
Civic Centre, Castle Street,
Merthyr Tydfil CF47 8AN
Main Tel: 01685 725000

www.merthyr.gov.uk

FULL COUNCIL REPORT
Date Written
Report Author
Service Area
Exempt/Non Exempt
Committee Date

20th May 2021
Paul Davies
Procurement
Non-Exempt
16th June 2021

To: Mayor, Ladies and Gentlemen

Procurement Rules
1.0

SUMMARY OF THE REPORT

1.1

The existing procurement rules were approved by Council on 26th July 2017.

1.2

There is a 3 year cycle that is applied to update the rules.

1.3

This cycle was delayed due to the pandemic and the UK exit from Europe.

1.4

The procurement rules have now been revised.

2.0

RECOMMENDATIONS that

2.1

The revised Procurement Rules to come into effect on 1st July 2021 be approved.

3.0

INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

3.1

Procurement Rules (standing orders) are made under section 135 of the Local
Government Act 1972.

3.2

Procurement rules govern tendering and contract processes that the Council employs
when buying goods, services and works.

3.3

They set out a series of rules and guidance to ensure that buyers across the council
procure effectively and meet the basic requirements of proportionality, equality &
transparency.

Page 67

3.4

This updated version of the rules contains a number of minor changes and a small
number of important changes.

3.5

The updated rules are contained in Appendix 1.

4.0

OVERVIEW OF CHANGES

4.1

References to EU/OJEU have been removed from the procurement rules throughout
the document.

4.2

Key Messages - Confirmed procurement spend as commercial activity. Included the
duty that procurement planning should include Wellbeing objectives.

4.3

Section 1 Exempt Contracts - Disposal of land includes reference to Case Law in
respect of the ‘Faraday Case’ (when disposal of property/land assets must be
subject to Procurement Rules).

4.4

Section 2 Excepted Contracts - Changed ‘exemption’ process to ‘exception’ process
to avoid conflict with exempt contracts.

4.5

Section 4 Procurement Board - Minor changes to Procurement Board section.

4.6

Section 6 Thresholds for Procurement - Tendering thresholds and processes, now
includes the term ‘ring fenced’. Whereas the rules previously required a minimum 3
quotes or tenders, this now includes the opportunity to invite local companies where
possible to help stimulate local opportunities.

4.7

Section 6 Thresholds for Procurement - The old Welsh Government sustainability risk
assessment has been removed.

4.8

Section 6 Thresholds for Procurement – The previous lower limit of £5K to
demonstrate best value only is now raised to £15K to help stimulate local spend.

4.9

Section 9 Framework Agreements - Minor change on the use of frameworks to ensure
accessing frameworks are in accordance with framework rules.

4.10

Section 11 Insurance - Created a new dedicated insurance section.

4.11

Section12 Supplier Selection – Now includes a requirement to check Cyber Essentials.

4.12

Section 14 Bonds and Securities - Bonds and securities now require a risk assessment
to be undertaken.

4.13

Section 17 Electronic Tendering - Manual tendering removed from rules and states
that manual processes are only to be used in the event of a long term system outage.

4.14

Section 19 Tender Process - All tenders conducted on our approved e-tendering
system will be opened by procurement staff only, further supporting agile working. The
system records all opening details.

Page 68

4.15

Section 24 Contract Award - Contract Award section refers to the binding statement
in the form of tender (Unless and until a formal agreement is prepared and executed
to which I/We undertake to execute, this tender together with your acceptance
thereof in writing, shall constitute a binding contract between us).

4.16

Section 26 Contract Management - Contract Management section now includes a nonexhaustive list of topics that should be monitored.

4.17

Section 28 Extensions - Included a new paragraph to illustrate permissible extensions
of contracts.

4.18

Appendix A - The main change in the rules is highlighted in Appendix A. To date, all
high level procurement activity has been reported to Cabinet for decision. The revised
rules now seek to implement Chief Officer, Chief Finance Officer and Portfolio Member
sign off as default. This is primarily to improve the time taken to award contracts and
help officers in delivering an agile procurement process. The rules are clear that whilst
the default is for officer/member signoff, any high value procurement project can be
submitted to cabinet for a decision if it is deemed a requirement. In addition, all
officer/member high value contract awards will be followed up with an information
report.

4.19

Constructionline has been removed from the rules as it is not a mandatory requirement
(pre-qualification tool).

4.20

Appendix M - To ensure a more holistic view of awards, a low value contract award
report is now included in the rules. Low value (quotes) contracts will need to be
reported to the Procurement Manager.

4.21

Appendix N - Variations to Contracts has been revised to remove Legal from the
variations and extensions where there are no changes to terms and conditions
ensuring that the right officers are signing off any changes.

4.22

Appendix P - Finally, the annual canvas of upcoming potential contracts has been
simplified to maximise completion by departments.

5.0

FINANCIAL IMPLICATION(S)

5.1

There are no financial implications associated with the approval of the amended
Procurement Rules.

6.0

INTEGRATED IMPACT ASSESSMENT

1. Merthyr Tydfil Well-being
Objectives
2. Sustainable Development
Principles - How have you
considered the five ways of
working?

Positive
Impacts

Negative
Impacts

Neutral/Not
Applicable

3 of 4

0 of 4

1 of 4

5 of 5

0 of 5

0 of 5

Page 69

 Long term
 Prevention
 Integration
 Collaboration
 Involvement
3. Protected Characteristics
(including Welsh Language)

0 of 10

0 of 10

10 of 10

0 of 6

0 of 6

6 of 6

Undertaken

Due to be
Undertaken

Not Required

0 of 1

0 of 1

1 of 1

4. Socio-economic Disadvantage

5. Consultation and Engagement

6. Data and Evidence to inform the
proposal

7. Biodiversity and the resilience
of Ecosystems

Summary
The main
positive
impacts are:
The main
negative
impacts are:

Yes

No

0 of 1

1 of 1

Maintained

Enhanced

Reduced

Neutral/Not
Applicable

0 of 1

0 of 1

0 of 1

1 of 1

Procurement Rules containa duty to incorporate Wellbeing Objectives into
procurement planning

None

ELLIS COOPER
CHIEF EXECUTIVE

COUNCILLOR ANDREW BARRY
CABINET MEMBER FOR GOVERNANCE
AND CORPORATE SERVICES

BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of Document(s)

Document(s) Date

Document Location

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s
Constitution?

YES

Consultation has been undertaken with the Corporate Management Team in respect
of each proposal(s) and recommendation(s) set out in this report.

Page 70

Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council

Contract Procedure Rules

Appendix 1

Contract Procedure
Rules
2021

www.merthyr.gov.uk

Page 71

Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council
Title of Document:
Document Date:
Author/s:
Service Responsible for this
document:
Directorate:
Approved by:
(E.g.Cabinet, Council, Board)
Approved on:
Date for Review:
To be published on:
Intranet/Website/Both
Keywords for search
purposes:
Related Documents and
Policies:

Contract Procedure Rules

Contract Procedure Rules
June 2021
Procurement Manager
Procurement
Place & Transformation
Council

April 2023
Intranet
Procurement
Procurement Strategy
Purchasing Policy

Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council
Civic Centre, Castle Street
Merthyr Tydfil, CF47 8AN
Canolfan Ddinesig, Stryd y Castell,
Merthyr Tudful, CF47 8AN
Tel/Ffôn: 01685 725000
e-mail/e-bost: customer.care@merthyr.gov.uk
www.merthyr.gov.uk

www.merthyr.gov.uk

Page 72

Page 2 of 45

Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council

Contract Procedure Rules

Table of Contents
Definitions and Interpretations ................................................................................................................ 4
Key Messages ........................................................................................................................................... 6
Aims .......................................................................................................................................................... 7
Status ........................................................................................................................................................ 7
Who is affected by these Procedure Rules? ............................................................................................. 8
2.
Excepted Contracts ......................................................................................................................... 9
3.
Procurement Planning .................................................................................................................. 10
4.
Procurement Board....................................................................................................................... 10
5.
Tendering / Ordering / Advertising ............................................................................................... 11
6.
Thresholds for Procurement ......................................................................................................... 11
7.
Form of Tender ............................................................................................................................. 13
8.
Estimating the Contract value ....................................................................................................... 13
9.
Framework agreements ................................................................................................................ 14
10.
Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 and Community Benefits ........................ 15
11.
Insurance ................................................................................................................................... 15
12
Supplier Selection ...................................................................................................................... 16
13
Tender Evaluation ..................................................................................................................... 16
14
Bonds and Securities ................................................................................................................. 17
15
Parent Company Guarantees .................................................................................................... 17
16
Procurement of Consultants ..................................................................................................... 17
17
Electronic Tendering.................................................................................................................. 17
18
Electronic Tenders and Electronic Auctions .............................................................................. 18
19
Tender Process .......................................................................................................................... 18
20
Amendment to Tenders, Errors and Omissions ........................................................................ 18
21
Post Tender Negotiation and Clarification ................................................................................ 19
22
Reduced Number of Quotations or Tenders ............................................................................. 20
23
Reports on Tenders ................................................................................................................... 20
24
Contract Award ......................................................................................................................... 21
25
Debriefing .................................................................................................................................. 22
26
Contract Management .............................................................................................................. 22
27
Variations to Contract Value ..................................................................................................... 22
28
Extensions ................................................................................................................................. 23
29
Procurement by consultants ..................................................................................................... 23
30
Internal providers ...................................................................................................................... 24
APPENDIX A – SUMMARY OF PROCEDURES FOR PROCUREMENT OF GOODS, SERVICES & WORKS ..... 25
APPENDIX B – LOW VALUE PROCESS – LEVEL A ..................................................................................... 26
APPENDIX C – MEDIUM VALUE PROCESS – LEVEL B............................................................................... 27
APPENDIX D – MEDIUM VALUE PROCESS – LEVEL C .............................................................................. 28
APPENDIX E – MEDIUM VALUE PROCESS – LEVEL D .............................................................................. 29
APPENDIX F – HIGH VALUE PROCESS – LEVEL E ..................................................................................... 30
APPENDIX G – CONTRACT FORMATION – LOW VALUE .......................................................................... 31
APPENDIX H – CONTRACT FORMATION – HIGH VALUE ......................................................................... 32
APPENDIX I – PRE-TENDER REPORT ........................................................................................................ 33
APPENDIX J – FORM OF TENDER ............................................................................................................ 34
APPENDIX K – EXCEPTED CONTRACTS .................................................................................................... 36
APPENDIX L – CONTRACT AWARD REPORT ............................................................................................ 38
APPENDIX M – CONTRACTS BELOW £75,000 ......................................................................................... 41
APPENDIX N – VARIATIONS AND EXTENSIONS ....................................................................................... 42
APPENDIX O – REGISTER OF VARIATIONS AND EXTENSIONS TO CONTRACTS ....................................... 43

www.merthyr.gov.uk

Page 73

Page 3 of 45

Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council

Contract Procedure Rules

Definitions and Interpretations
In these Rules the following definitions apply:
Authorised Officer

Chief Officer

Contract

Contract Manager
Contracting
Authority
Contractor

Corporate
Procurement
Exception

Framework
Agreement

Goods
Head of Service
PCR 2015
Thresholds

Nominated Officer

Procurement

www.merthyr.gov.uk

means the holder for the time being of any post named in
the Scheme of Delegations as having delegated powers and
duties in respect of the procurement concerned and the
budget line responsible officer.
means any officer in the following categories of officer,
Chief Executive, Deputy Chief Executive, Corporate Director
and Chief Officer.
means any form of agreement (including, without
limitation, official purchase orders) for the supply of Goods,
provision of Services or carrying out of Works.
means an officer responsible for the delivery of a Contract.
means Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council or another
public body responsible for the procurement of a Contract
or Framework.
means any Contractor, supplier or provider with whom the
Council enters into a Contract for the carrying out of Works,
provision of Services or the supply of Goods.
means the central procurement department
A contract formed by the Council that does not, for a
specified and accepted reason comply with the
Procurement Rules.
means an agreement with one or more Contractors, the
purpose of which is to establish the terms (in particular with
regard to price and quantity) governing a Contract or
Contracts to be awarded during the period for which the
framework agreement applies.
Covers all Goods, supplies, substances and materials that
the Council purchases, hires or otherwise obtains.
means the responsible manager of the service area who has
control over the departmental budget.
means the financial values at which the Public Contracts
Regulations 2015 require tenders to be advertised in the
Supplement to the Official Journal of the European Union
(“OJEU”) (or its successor).
means any officer delegated responsibility by the
Procurement Manager for carrying out procurement
process(es) detailed in these rules
means the process by which the Council manages the
acquisition of all its Goods, Services and Works. It includes

Page 74

Page 4 of 45

Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council

Procurement Board
Procurement
Manager

Procurement
Process

Ring Fenced

Rules
Services

Tenderer/
Tenderers

Variation(s)

Works

www.merthyr.gov.uk

Contract Procedure Rules

the identification of need, consideration of options, the
actual procurement process and the subsequent
management and review of the Contracts.
means the board that is responsible for all procurement
activity across the Council
means the Manager or any officers under that persons
supervision or management who are given delegated
authority to carry out any of the obligations, duties or
activities required to be performed by that person under
these Rules or to act in that person’s absence.
means the procurement process that spans the whole life
cycle, from identification of needs, options appraisal,
supplier selection, award, and Contract management
through to the end of a Contract or the end of the useful
life of the asset, or disposal of the asset.
The process of complying with rules in terms of inviting at
least the minimum number of companies to quote or
tender, where possible these should include local
companies.
means these Contract Procedure Rules/standing orders.
includes all services, which the Council purchases or
otherwise obtains including advice, specialist consultancy
work, agency staff etc.
individual, individuals, partnerships, companies or other
bodies invited to submit quotes/tenders/prices for
providing the Council with Services, supplying Goods or
carrying out Works.
means any alteration to a Contract, including additions,
omissions, substitutions, alterations, or changes of any
other nature.
includes all works of new construction and repairs in
respect of physical assets (buildings, roads, etc.) including
all those activities constituting Works for the purposes of
the Public Contracts Regulations 2015.

Page 75

Page 5 of 45

Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council

Contract Procedure Rules

Contract Procedure Rules
Key Messages















Any Officers delegated with responsibility for the procurement of goods,
services (including contracts for consultancy) or works for or on behalf of the
Council (in accordance with the Scheme of Delegation) are affected by these
Rules.
The funding for all contracts must be in accordance with approved budgets and
comply with Financial Regulations.
One of the most significant areas of Council business is procurement, this is
part of the Councils commercial activity. Procurement is the process by which
the Council manages the acquisition of all its Goods, Services (including but not
limited to consultants/consultancy services of any type) and Works of all sorts.
It includes the identification of need, consideration of options, the actual
tendering process and the subsequent management and review of the
contracts.
Procurement by the Council is governed by detailed legislation, as are other
areas of Council contracting. The Law requires all Council procurement and
contracting to be conducted transparently, fairly and in a non-discriminatory
manner. In the event of statutory or other legal requirement exceeding the
requirements contained within these Contract Procedure Rules, then statute
shall take precedence over any provision in these Rules.
Procurement planning must take into account the key themes of the Wellbeing
of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015, the Councils ‘Focus on the Future’
Wellbeing Policy and take steps to ensure that outcomes are aligned to
relevant Wellbeing Objectives.
Before undertaking any competitive tendering process or before placing any
Official Orders on behalf of the Council, Officers must make full use of
Corporate Contracts/Frameworks and the Procurement Department for other
contracts
All values referred to in these Rules are exclusive of VAT.
Any dispute regarding interpretation of these Rules shall be referred to the
Head of Legal and Governance and Procurement Manager for resolution.
These Rules are not intended as detailed guidance for implementation and
they should be read in conjunction with the Council’s Constitution as a whole
and in particular, in respect of Contract payments, the Council’s Financial
Procedure Rules, which must be complied with.

www.merthyr.gov.uk

Page 76

Page 6 of 45

Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council




Contract Procedure Rules

The Procurement Manager shall undertake a formal review of these Rules at
least every three years unless a change in legislation requires more frequent
changes.
Procurement should be contacted to identify potential frameworks or
contracts that may be used. Procurement should be contacted at
procurement@merthyr.gov.uk.

Aims
These Contract Procedure Rules:
 Aim to support the achievement of value for money for the Council in the
market by ensuring provision for securing competition at appropriate levels of
expenditure whilst avoiding disproportionate or bureaucratic costs where
levels of expenditure are less significant.
 Aim to achieve fullest accountability at all levels whilst ensuring an adequate
audit trail.
 Aim to ensure that Officers follow proper and fair procedures for the
involvement and selection of Contractors.
 Aim to ensure compliance with Procurement Directives.
 Aim to ensure that proper Specification is made by Officers which reflect the
appropriate and realistic quality requirements for any defined need, and that
offers may be judged by objective criteria.
 Aim to ensure that levels of monitoring and training exist to ensure proper
compliance and that these rules are regularly reviewed to take account of new
circumstances.

Status
These Contract Procedure Rules:
 Are made under Section 135 of the Local Government Act 1972 and all other
powers enabling the Council.
 Are applicable to all parts of the Council’s activities, including any type of subcontracting, apart from contracts for the acquisition and sale of interests in
land (where there is no obligation to build) and the Exempt Contracts
described in section 1 below.
 Are applicable where the Council is acting as agent for another body unless the
principal directs otherwise.
 Must be adopted by any external contractors empowered to form Contracts
on behalf of the Council and by any person who is not an Officer of the Council
engaged to manage a Contract on behalf of the Council.

www.merthyr.gov.uk

Page 77

Page 7 of 45

Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council





Contract Procedure Rules

Shall apply to the selection of nominated suppliers and nominated Subcontractors for products covered by prime costs and provisional sums in a main
contract.
Shall be interpreted so far as possible to ensure the Aims set out in these rules
are achieved.
Are not applicable to expenditure between Service Areas, Groups or the use of
the Council’s trading organisations.

Who is affected by these Procedure Rules?
Any Officers delegated with responsibility for the procurement of goods, services
(including contracts for consultancy) or works for or on behalf of the Council.

www.merthyr.gov.uk

Page 78

Page 8 of 45

Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council

1.

Contract Procedure Rules

Exempt Contracts

The following Contracts are exempt from the requirements of these Contract
Procedure Rules:
1.1
1.2

1.3

1.4

1.5

1.6

Employment Contracts (this exemption does not extend to the recruitment of
agency staff or external secondment arrangements).
Contracts relating solely to disposal or acquisition of an interest in land and
property, for which there is separate protocol contained within the Council’s
constitution. Disposal of land where there is a duty to construct on that land
may be subject to Procurement Legislation as a Public Works Contract – there
must be consultation with legal before proceeding.
In a genuine emergency threatening public health, injury to persons or serious
and immediate damage to property, an Authorised Officer can take any
necessary action to alleviate the threat. This power is limited to the alleviation
of the threat and does not extend to any works beyond what is strictly
essential.
In circumstances where a matter, which is not deemed to be an emergency,
but nonetheless is considered to be of an urgent nature arises, approval from
the appropriate Head of Service must be given in writing. However, should the
estimated expenditure be within level D (works) or Level E high value, approval
in writing must be sought from the following officers:
- The appropriate Chief Officer and the Section 151 Officer subject to an
upper threshold prior to the commencement of the procurement process
of level C for goods or services or level D for works.
Where it has been necessary to procure under 1.3 or 1.4 stated above, every
case should be reported to the next available meeting of the Corporate
Management Team.
The award of Contracts for individual placements (for Children and Adult
Services) will remain at the discretion of the respective Statutory Officer.

2.

Excepted Contracts

2.1

An exception to any of these Contract Procedure Rules shall only be given in
exceptional circumstances and, in most cases, following a written report to,
consultation with and the written approval of the Procurement Manager and
the relevant Chief Officer (see Appendix K).
When consulting with the Procurement Manager and relevant Chief Officer,
the originator of the report requesting the exception is responsible and
accountable for ensuring that the contents of the report are factually correct.
The originator of the report should ensure that all supporting documentation

2.2

www.merthyr.gov.uk

Page 79

Page 9 of 45

Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council

2.3

2.4

2.5

2.6

Contract Procedure Rules

is retained on an easily accessible file for auditing purposes. Should it be found
that incorrect information has been knowingly or negligently submitted or
omitted in order to obtain approval for an exemption to these Contract
Procedure Rules, the originator of the report may be subject to the Council’s
disciplinary procedure.
An exception may be sought for ‘single tender action’ where a single firm or
Contractor or a proprietary item or service of a special character is required
and justified.
The execution of works or the purchase of goods and materials necessary for
urgent maintenance work to highways, buildings, bridges, plant or other assets
to prevent rapid and progressive deterioration or to maintain essential services
will be excepted.
In certain circumstances it may be necessary to except a specific rule not
related to any specific contract, in these cases, agreement must be given by
the Procurement Manager and recorded on the exception form.
An exception form does not need to be completed for any of the reasons
stated in section 1 above.

3.

Procurement Planning

3.1

At the end of each calendar year, Chief Officers should submit to the
Procurement Manager a completed Procurement Forward Plan Notice (see
Appendix P) detailing the additional planned procurement activities over
£75,000 (new purchasing requirements associated with budget planning for
the forthcoming financial year). The Corporate Procurement Unit will use this
information for procurement planning, identification of a forward work plan
for procurement board, to identify collaborative opportunities, to allocate
appropriate resources and to ensure all relevant legislative requirements are
observed.

4.

Procurement Board

4.1

The Procurement board is the governing body for procurement activity across
the Council. Nominated and/or Authorised Officers across the Council will be
required to report to the board for specific projects. No applicable
procurement process shall proceed unless approved by the board. Reporting
requirements are contained within the board’s terms of reference. These
thresholds are £75,000 for goods and services and £1million for works (only
where there has been identified that there is future revenue implications for
the Council). Procurement Board reports may be exempted if project decisions

www.merthyr.gov.uk

Page 80

Page 10 of 45

Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council

4.2

Contract Procedure Rules

have been taken in Cabinet or Council. The principles of calculating contract
values are the same as those identified in section 8 of these rules.
The procurement board reserves the right to call in any officer of the Council
that has not followed the procurement processes laid out in these rules.

5.

Tendering / Ordering / Advertising

5.1

Before undertaking any competitive tendering process or before placing any
Official Orders on behalf of the Council, Officers shall make full use of
Corporate Contracts/Frameworks and the Corporate Procurement Unit for
other Contracts.
A pre-tender form for works up to £1million must be completed and signed by
Procurement before any tendering activity commences.
Quotations and Tenders up to level E may be completed by a Nominated
Officer, however, any tenders valued at level E must be let by the Corporate
Procurement Unit.
Insurance indemnity limits for each procurement project should be confirmed
with the Insurance section prior to commencement of the procurement
process, unless these have been pre-set on any compliant framework used.
Aligned to the Council’s continued modernisation agenda, Corporate
Procurement has implemented a number of Electronic Procurement Systems
that should be utilised as corporate solutions to support the cost efficient
procurement of goods and services (streamlining the transaction process and
reducing unnecessary administration overheads where possible). Please refer
to the Council’s Procurement intranet site for further information regarding
the use of these systems or contact the Corporate Procurement section on
procurement@merthyr.gov.uk.

5.2
5.3

5.4

5.5

6.

Thresholds for Procurement

Thresholds for procurement do not apply within existing framework agreements
endorsed for use by the council. See rule 9 below.
6.1

All goods & services except works
(please refer to Appendices A to F for chart and process flows):

Up to £15,000 it is necessary only to demonstrate and record that value
for money is being achieved.

For level A requirements, procurements above £25,000, consideration
should be given to openly advertising on www.sell2wales.gov.wales
where it is established that there is an appropriate number of suppliers
registered. Exceptions can be allowed by agreement from the
Procurement Manager. At least 3 quotations must be invited in ring

www.merthyr.gov.uk

Page 81

Page 11 of 45

Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council







6.2

Contract Procedure Rules

fenced procurements - this does not mean 3 quotations received. (See
Appendix B).
For level B requirements, the gateway process should be followed. If
approved by the board, tenders should be advertised on the national
procurement website www.sell2wales.gov.wales depending on the
procurement route approved at board. A minimum of three tenders
must be invited - this does not mean that 3 must be received.
For level E requirements, the gateway process should be followed. If
approved, requirements in this value band must be tendered by
Corporate Procurement and advertised on www.sell2wales.gov.wales
using the appropriate notice template, unless a framework is the
approved route to market. Where a restricted tendering procedure is
used, a minimum of five tenders must be invited (See Appendix F)
following the selection stage.
Confirmation of award (Appendix M) should be sent to procurement
once the procurement process has been completed unless the
procurement was carried out on the Council’s e-sourcing system. This is
especially important for Level A requirements.

Works
(please refer to Appendices A to F for process flows and chart):
For any Building Works requirements, departments should consult with
Property Services prior to commencing the Procurement process.
Constructionline may be used to assist in the pre-qualification process for
works contractors.

Up to £15,000, it is necessary only to demonstrate and record that value
for money is being achieved.

For level A requirements, quotations to be requested, at least three
quotations must be invited in ring-fenced procurements (See Appendix
B) – this does not mean that 3 have to be received.

For level C requirements, a pre-tender report must firstly be completed
and approved (available at Appendix I and on the intranet). If approved,
a compliant tender process is to be actioned. A minimum of three
tenders must be invited in ring-fenced procurements (see Appendix D)
this does not mean that 3 tenders must be received.

For level D requirements, the gateway process must be followed unless
the project is grant funded (if the grant specifically requires evidence of
approval to proceed then board processes shall apply) and there are no
residual revenue implications for the Council. If approved by the
procurement board, a fully compliant tender process should be actioned
unless a compliant framework is used. Where a restricted procedure is

www.merthyr.gov.uk

Page 82

Page 12 of 45

Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council





7.

Contract Procedure Rules

adopted, a minimum of three tenders must be invited (See Appendix E)
- this does not mean that 3 tenders must be received.
For level E requirements, the gateway process must be followed unless
the project is grant funded (if the grant specifically requires evidence of
approval to proceed then board processes shall apply) and there are no
residual revenue implications for the Council. If approved by the
procurement board, requirements above this value must be tendered by
the Corporate Procurement Unit and advertised via the national
procurement website (www.sell2wales.gov.wales) unless a compliant
framework is used. Where a restricted tender procedure is adopted, a
minimum of five tenders must be invited (See Appendix F) following
selection stage.
Confirmation of award (Appendix M) should be sent to procurement
once the procurement process has been completed, unless the
procurement was carried out on the Council’s e-sourcing system.

Form of Tender
For all tender processes (above the value of £75,000), a Form of Tender must
be completed by all tenderers. This form is a declaration by tenderers of their
overall tender price, that they undertake to execute and complete the Goods,
Services and/or Works in accordance with the Contract Documents,
certification that no canvassing or soliciting of any member, officer or
employee of the council has taken place, and that it is a bona fide tender
intended to be competitive and not collusive in any way. The form must be
signed by the tenderer. The open for acceptance period should be amended
when used. The adopted Form of Tender template is available at Appendix J.

8.

Estimating the Contract value

8.1

The value of a Contract means the estimated total monetary value over its full
duration (not the annual value), including any extensions or other options.
Where the duration of a Contract is indeterminate, this should be taken to be
the estimated value of the Contract over a period of four years. Requirements
should not be artificially split to avoid compliance with these Contract
procedure rules.
If it is known that the Contract duration will be longer than four years, then
the Contract value will be the total estimated value over the full term of the
Contract.

8.2

www.merthyr.gov.uk

Page 83

Page 13 of 45

Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council

Contract Procedure Rules

8.3

Where the value is, or may be, equal to or greater than relevant thresholds,
councils should also have regard to the valuation rules in regulation 6 of the
Public Contracts Regulations 2015.

9.

Framework agreements

9.1

Established framework and consortia arrangements endorsed by the
Procurement Manager for use by the council shall be mandatory. On occasion,
it may be deemed that the framework agreement would not provide best value
– this will need to be proven and approved by the Procurement Manager.
The Nominated Officer must ascertain whether there is a Framework
Agreement approved by the Procurement Manager for use by the council.
Where currently valid frameworks are available, the framework must be used
in accordance with the guidance provided by the Framework owner and
Corporate Procurement.
The Framework Agreement may include within its terms a requirement for a
mini competition exercise between those Contractors who are parties to the
Framework Agreement. These shall be tendered in accordance with these
Contract Procedure Rules and/or the terms of the Framework Agreement
itself.
Where the Council is able to call off from existing Framework Agreements
procured by central Government agencies, purchasing consortia or other local
authorities or public bodies, then the Council may benefit from using those
frameworks without entering into a separate procurement exercise. Where
such Framework Agreements contain a number of different Contractors able
to provide a particular category of goods or services, a mini competition
exercise between those Contractors who are parties to the Framework
Agreement may have to be carried out.
However, if such Framework Agreements are used it will be in accordance with
the terms of those agreements which may not be appropriate to the particular
procurement in question. Under no circumstances should nominated officers
directly award from a framework which does not provide that method of
appointment. Advice and approval must be sought from Corporate
Procurement prior to commencing the procurement.
The use of all frameworks must be approved by Corporate Procurement. It is
not possible to use a framework unless Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council
has been named on the Contract Notice and/or procurement documents of
said framework.
Any Framework Agreement established or identified by a client department
shall be notified to the Corporate Procurement Unit by the Nominated Officer
and must be approved by the Procurement Manager. Upon approval,

9.2

9.3

9.4

9.5

9.6

9.7

www.merthyr.gov.uk

Page 84

Page 14 of 45

Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council

9.8

Contract Procedure Rules

Corporate Procurement can incorporate the Framework Agreement onto the
Contract Register to make it available to other departments where applicable.
Any joint procurement arrangements with other local authorities and/or public
sector bodies including membership or use of any consortia must be approved
by the Procurement Manager.

10.

Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015
Community Benefits

10.1

The Council is committed to achieving economic, social and environmental
well-being for its residents and implementing Community Benefits and
meeting the requirements of the Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act
2015, so as to ensure a better quality of life for everyone, now and for
generations to come.
All procurement processes that are presented to Procurement Board, should
consider sustainability, economic, social and environmental impacts and five
ways of working through gateway reporting and presentation.
The inclusion of Community Benefits is mandatory for all tenders valued above
£1million. Justification will be required for Contracts above this level that do
not contain Community Benefits. For tenders valued below £1million,
Community Benefits should still be considered at Corporate Procurement or
Service Area’s discretion.

10.2

10.3

and

11.

Insurance

11.1

Financial liability for causing death, injury or damage to property is potentially
unlimited but insurance cover is not. Determining the limit of indemnity for
contractors’ public liability, professional indemnity and product liability
insurances is essential to protect the Council.
The Council’s Insurance Officer should be consulted at an early stage in the
procurement process to provide an accurate assessment of the necessary
indemnity limit. Applying an arbitrary figure to the limit of indemnity is
generally insufficient and could result in cover which is disproportionate to the
risk which can have budgetary implications.
A risk based approach to setting indemnity levels should be considered in
consultation with the Insurance Officer.
For all Contracts, it is essential for proof of insurance requirements to be
provided. The Contractor’s public liability indemnity should be a minimum of
£10m. It is the responsibility of the Chief Officer in all cases to ensure that all
Insurances which the Contractor is required to effect are examined by the
Insurance Officer prior to work commencement. Any deviation from the

11.2

11.3
11.4

www.merthyr.gov.uk

Page 85

Page 15 of 45

Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council

Contract Procedure Rules

minimum indemnity requirements in these rules must be recorded as an
exception on the exception form.

12

Supplier Selection

12.1

It must be demonstrated that the appropriately experienced, technically
competent, and financially competent contractors or suppliers have been
shortlisted.
Care must be taken to differentiate supplier selection criteria for short-listing
and entry to tender process from tender award criteria.
This demonstration may include, but need not be limited to:
 Eligibility;
 Financial standing, including provisions for insurance and liability;
 Technical or professional capacity and capability;
 Health and Safety;
 Quality Standards including certification by official quality control
institutes or agencies of recognised competence and or attesting
conformity to quality assurance standards and/or measures;
 Sustainability, including environmental management measures ;
 Ethical business practices (Ethical Employment in Supply Chains);
 Evidence as to whether they are unsuitable on grounds, e.g., of
bankruptcy, criminal conviction or failure to pay taxes.
Nominated Officers shall ensure that appropriate questions are included at the
selection or pre-qualification stage depending on the process used.
Nominated Officers shall ensure that the Councils Information Security
Policies are adhered to in terms of checking a potential suppliers capability
and resilience to Cyber Crime, as a minimum this should include checking and
confirmation of Cyber Essentials and/or signposting to core membership of
the Cyber Resilience Centre for Wales (CRCW). The supplier will be required
to complete a Cyber Security Risk Assessment.
If relevant, evidence of registration under the Construction Industry Tax
Scheme must be provided to the Payments Supervisor prior to the Contract
being awarded.

12.2
12.3

12.4
12.5

12.6

13

Tender Evaluation

13.1

The Nominated Officer shall examine tenders in accordance with the
predetermined evaluation criteria for the tender and identify tenders that best
meet the criteria including value for money.
In respect of all tenders where the tender criterion is the most economically
advantageous tender, the evaluation criteria or sub-criteria shall as a minimum

13.2

www.merthyr.gov.uk

Page 86

Page 16 of 45

Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council

Contract Procedure Rules

be listed in the Invitation to Tender documentation. Any particular scoring or
weighting attributable to any criteria or sub-criteria must be clearly stated. In
addition, the criteria shall be strictly observed (and remain unchanged) at all
times throughout the evaluation and Contract award procedure.

14

Bonds and Securities

14.1

For any requirement valued above £1million, the Nominated Officer shall
undertake a risk assessment to determine whether a performance bond or
performance guarantee is required.

15

Parent Company Guarantees

15.1

The Nominated Officer shall seek a Parent Company Guarantee when a
candidate is a subsidiary of a parent company and/or:
 The total value is £1million or more;
 The award is based on evaluation of the parent company;
 There is some concern over the stability of the candidate.

16

Procurement of Consultants

16.1

For the avoidance of doubt, the appointment of consultants shall be made in
accordance with the requirements of these Contract Procedure Rules.

17

Electronic Tendering

17.1

The tender process including invitation and receipt of tenders will ordinarily be
conducted electronically by Corporate Procurement and/or personnel that
have been trained to use the approved e-Sourcing system. The provisions of
Rule 18 below will therefore be modified in accordance with the secure
electronic tendering system which is to be approved by the Head of Finance.
All Tender processes subject to Regulations will be managed by Procurement.
All Tendering activity related to a Dynamic Purchasing System (DPS) will be
conducted electronically. Opening rules as described in rule 19.7 shall apply to
all competitions in a DPS.
All communications related to a tender conducted electronically shall be
directed through the e-sourcing system, no communication outside of the
system will be allowed unless approved by the Procurement Manager. ‘All
communications’ shall be described as but not limited to – General Enquiries,
Clarifications, Addendums, Award and Rejection Notifications.

17.2
17.3

17.4

www.merthyr.gov.uk

Page 87

Page 17 of 45

Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council

Contract Procedure Rules

17.5

Manual tendering will only occur
unavailability/system outage event.

18

Electronic Tenders and Electronic Auctions

18.1

The requirements of 19 below shall be deemed to have been satisfied if the
Council’s approved Electronic Tendering and/or Electronic Auction elements of
the Council’s e-sourcing system have been used in accordance with
appropriate guidance, user documentation and procedures for using the
systems. Further information regarding the use of the Council’s e-sourcing
System may be obtained via Corporate Procurement.
Where an externally hosted e-Sourcing system is to be used to support the
tendering process, other than the Council’s approved system, prior approval
of the Procurement Manager and Head of Finance must be obtained.

18.2

19

in

the

event

of

long

term

Tender Process

19.1

Reminder: Please ensure you have informed and received approval from the
Procurement Board for your tender via the gateway process, or Corporate
Procurement (whichever applies).
19.2 Manual or alternative tendering processes should only occur where the esourcing system is incapable of managing the process and/or the system is
unavailable for a long period of time.
19.3 Tender documents shall be prepared and issued as part of the tender process.
Tender documents should accurately describe requirements and include,
instructions to tenderers, evaluation criteria, specification and terms and
conditions
19.4 Tender closing dates will be managed by the e-sourcing system. Access to
received tenders before the closing date shall not be permitted.
19.5 No Tenders received in the system after the opening time will be considered.
19.6 A Tender received after the time fixed for receipt but before the other Tenders
have been opened may be considered. Where this happens, approval must be
obtained from the relevant Chief Officer.
19.7 Tenders shall be opened by a member of the Corporate Procurement Team.
19.8 The opening time/date and opening person is recorded by the e-sourcing
system.
19.9 Forms of tender must be signed and dated by tenderers.
19.10 The first stage of a restricted (2 stage) procedure (Pre-qualification) shall
observe opening rules.

20

Amendment to Tenders, Errors and Omissions

www.merthyr.gov.uk

Page 88

Page 18 of 45

Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council

20.1

20.2

Contract Procedure Rules

As a general rule, no adjustment or qualification to any tender(s) is permitted.
Errors found during the examination of tenders shall be dealt with as follows:
 Whether the error contained in an offer appears to be a genuine
mistake by typing, printing or arithmetic, or appears to be an
eTenderwales technical issue, the tenderer shall be given details of the
error(s) and shall be given the option to either agree to the tender
being corrected or withdrawing the tender. This rule also applies
where the genuine mistake may have been made by the Local
Authority.
 The tenderer will be given up to 3 working days to respond.
 If confirmation from the tenderer is not received within 3 working days,
the tender will be withdrawn.
 Invitation to Tender documents must state how errors in Tenders will
be dealt with.
 All correspondence must be in writing.
No request to amend a Tender after the time fixed for receipt shall be
accepted.

21

Post Tender Negotiation and Clarification

21.1

A Nominated Officer may seek clarification of the information provided (or not
provided) by a Tenderer only where this is necessary to aid understanding. The
types of clarification will generally be:
 Where a Tenderer has missed a question and not answered it;
 Where a Tenderer has made an accidental omission such as not including
a relevant certificate;
 Where ALL Tenderers responding have misinterpreted a question.
The Council will not seek clarifications from individual Tenderers where a
question has been misinterpreted and/or poorly answered (this will include
where a Tenderer has not followed the format of the Invitation To Tender
and/or submitted standard text in place of a fully informed written answer)
and other submissions received, fully interpreted and answered in full the
same question. A clarification of this nature would not be permissible due to
the Tenderer having a second chance at providing information which would
alter the evaluation, and be unfair to other Tenderers.
If, for any reason, it is necessary to amend the Specification after Tenders have
been received, the Tender procedure shall be repeated unless the Nominated
Officer receives written advice from Legal Services which certifies that this is
not possible and records the reasons why.

21.2

21.3

www.merthyr.gov.uk

Page 89

Page 19 of 45

Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council
21.4

21.5

21.6

Contract Procedure Rules

Where procurement is conducted pursuant to the Public Contracts Regulations
2015 through either the open, restricted procedures, no post-tender
negotiations are permitted. The authorised officer may seek clarification from
tenderers where appropriate in consultation with Corporate Procurement.
Where procurements do not exceed the Public Contracts Regulations 2015
thresholds, the Procurement Manager may authorise negotiations if it is in the
Council’s interest to do so. The Procurement Manager will also establish the
timescales for said negotiation procedure. Such actions must not distort
competition.
At all times during the procurement process the council shall ensure that all
tenderers are treated with
 Equality
 Transparency
 Mutual Recognition
 Proportionality

22

Reduced Number of Quotations or Tenders

22.1

22.3

For a procurement with a value between £5,000 and less than £75,000 where
a Nominated Officer wishes to invite less than 3 organisations to bid, he/she
must consult with the Procurement Manager.
For a procurement in excess of £75,000, where a Nominated Officer wishes to
invite less than 3 tenderers to bid, the Nominated Officer must seek the
approval of the appropriate Chief Officer after consultation with the
Procurement Manager. This should be justified in Procurement Gateway 2.
Where the minimum number of tenders stated in these Contract Procedure
Rules have not been received, then consideration must be given (which must
be recorded in writing) to re-running the procurement unless the Nominated
Officer can determine best value has been achieved. If the Contract is for a
sum less than £75,000, the decision can be taken by the relevant Head of
Service. If the Contract is for a sum in excess of £75,000, the decision will be
taken by the appropriate Chief Officer after consultation with the Procurement
Manager.

23

Reports on Tenders

23.1

Reports must be prepared for all tenders and submitted to the appropriate
Officer(s) or Cabinet for decision (see appendices A to F for approval
requirements).
The Contract Award Report template is available at Appendix L and is available
on the intranet as an e-form.

22.2

23.2

www.merthyr.gov.uk

Page 90

Page 20 of 45

Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council
23.3
23.4
23.5

Contract Procedure Rules

The Contract Award Report can also be used as an approved audit trail for level
B requirements.
A notification of award for low value Contracts should be sent to Procurement
following the completion of a procurement exercise (Appendix M).
All procurement activity should be reported to either Cabinet or Procurement
Board at least once per year to ensure a holistic view of wider Council
procurement activity is monitored.

24

Contract Award

24.1

Every Council Contract shall be in writing in a form and on terms approved by
the Head of Legal & Governance and shall specify:
 The work, materials, services or things to be furnished, had, done or
disposed of.
 The price to be paid (or, as appropriate, the sums to be received), with a
statement of discounts or other deductions, and where not known,
committed estimated price, or the basis upon which the final Contract sum
is to be calculated.
 The time or times within which the Contract is to be performed, together
with the termination date of the Contract.
For Works Contracts, it is essential for proof of insurance requirements to be
provided. 2 stage works contracts shall be initially awarded at stage 1 via a
tender award report in accordance with the value of the stage 1 proposal.
If the form of Contract used contains a clause for a higher indemnity limit than
that set out in section 11, then this limit will be required. At the award stage
the Nominated Officer must request current valid insurance evidence.
For works Contracts, evidence of registration under the Construction Industry
Tax Scheme must be provided to the Payments Supervisor prior to the Contract
being awarded.
The award must be made by an authorised officer in compliance with the
awarded by row (10 ) in Appendix A
The contract formation process shall follow the flowcharts identified in
Appendices G (over £75,000) and H (less than £75,000)
Generally, A contractor should not start work until the above processes have
been completed unless a limited letter of intent has been agreed and/or it is
agreed that the binding statement in the Form of Tender is sufficient until such
time the Contract is completed.
Where a Contract has been tendered and advertised on the Sell2Wales
website, the council shall publish a Contract Award Notice on the Sell2Wales
website within 25 days after the decision to award the Contract has been
taken.

24.2

24.3

24.4

24.5
24.6
24.7

24.8

www.merthyr.gov.uk

Page 91

Page 21 of 45

Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council

Contract Procedure Rules

25

Debriefing

25.1

Should the Council receive a request from any supplier who was unsuccessful
(at either the selection or tender stage), the Nominated officer shall inform
that supplier of the reasons for being unsuccessful and, if the supplier was
unsuccessful at the tender stage, the responsible officer shall inform him of the
characteristics and relative advantages of the successful tender as well as the
name of the business awarded the Contract.
The Council has, in any case, a statutory duty under section 20 of the Local
Government Act 1988 and section 55 of the Public Contracts Regulations 2015
to inform unsuccessful tenderers promptly.

25.2

26

Contract Management

26.1

In addition to the processes by which Contracts are established, there is a need
to ensure that Contracts are properly managed during their life. These Contract
Procedure Rules therefore cover aspects of Contract Management, which
relate to ongoing Contract variation & price control at any time during the
Contract period.
The day to day management of Contracts shall be undertaken by the Contract
Manager and shall include monitoring in respect of – as example: Performance
 Compliance with specification and contract terms
 Cost
 Value for money
 User satisfaction
 Risk
 Community benefits (where applied)
It is the responsibility of the contract manager to raise any incidents of poor
performance immediately with the Contractor and seek rectification. In
instances of particularly poor performance, or persistent poor performance,
the Contract Manager should consider the appropriate course of action taking
advice from Legal Services
If contract terms are to be negotiated, the negotiation plan/strategy should be
referred to Legal & Procurement prior to commencing any negotiation.

26.2

26.3

26.4

27

Variations to Contract Value

27.1

Variation or aggregate value of all variations made to the Contract shall be
subject to the thresholds and approval requirements as outlined in Appendices

www.merthyr.gov.uk

Page 92

Page 22 of 45

Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council

27.2
27.3

27.4

27.5

27.6

Contract Procedure Rules

N and O. Contractor claims (unforeseen works for example) are not classed as
variations but should be approved in the same manner as any Council
requested variation to Contract.
A variation cannot be higher than the original Contract value and must be
limited to 50% where the Contract was tendered at level E.
For the avoidance of doubt, no variation may be made to a Contract if the
proposed variation would mean the works, services or goods to be added to
the original Contract are substantially different in scope or type to those
contemplated by the original procurement exercise or would serve to take the
Contract outside the budget.
Whether or not it is a requirement of the Contract, every variation (whether
having a financial implication or not) will be authorised in writing by the
appropriate officer(s). The Nominated officer will keep detailed records
(Appendix O must be completed) of any such variation which shall be open to
inspection by the Head of Finance even if approval is not required. The
authorisation will be issued before the variation is placed.
As soon as it becomes known or apparent (whichever is the earlier) that the
total cost of a scheme including variations will or is likely to exceed the
Contract sum by more than 5%, the Head of Finance must be informed for
financial monitoring purposes and may inform the Nominated officer of any
further financial requirements to be complied with.
All variations must be forwarded to procurement to ensure that the contract
register is updated.

28

Extensions

28.1

28.2

Where a contract or framework has the option to extend for a period this may
be granted provided the contractor is performing to expectations. Such
decision shall be made by the relevant authorised officer in consultation with
the Procurement Manager. Confirmation of the agreed extension should be
made in writing to the contractor and the contract register must be updated
accordingly.
Where the terms of the Contract and/or original procurement exercise do not
expressly provide for extension, then such Contract may only be extended by
exceptional circumstances, where legislation permits and value for money
issues have been addressed. Such decision shall be made by the relevant
authorised officer in consultation with the Procurement Manager. Appendix
O must be completed, reported and maintained or dependent upon value and
risk, a report to cabinet should be completed for approval.

29

Procurement by consultants

www.merthyr.gov.uk

Page 93

Page 23 of 45

Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council

29.1

29.2
29.3

29.4

29.5

29.6

Contract Procedure Rules

Where the council uses consultants to act on its behalf in relation to any
procurement, then the head of service shall ensure that the consultants carry
out any procurement in accordance with these Contract procedure rules.
All decisions must be made in accordance with the council’s scheme of
delegations.
No consultant shall make any decision on whether to award a Contract or who
a Contract should be awarded to. The head of service shall ensure that the
consultant’s performance in relation to procurement is in accordance with
these Contract procedure rules and all statutory procurement obligations.
Where the council uses consultants to act on its behalf in relation to any
procurement, the consultant must declare any potential conflict of interest
that may arise to the head of service prior to the commencement of the
procurement process or at such time that the Contractor becomes aware of
such a potential conflict of interest.
Where the head of service considers that such a conflict of interest is
significant, the consultant shall not be allowed to participate in the
procurement process.
Note that it is the council, as the Contracting Authority, which is responsible
for all actions and decisions of consultants in relation to the conduct of
procurements, therefore there need to be proper governance procedures in
place to manage and monitor consultants appropriately.

30

Internal providers

30.1

These Contract Procedure Rules are the Council’s procedure rules for buying
goods and services for the Council. They do not apply to internal purchases or
service provision, but to external suppliers and providers.
Consideration should be given to internal providers before the procurement
process provided the internal provider demonstrates best value.

30.2

www.merthyr.gov.uk

Page 94

Page 24 of 45

Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council

Contract Procedure Rules

APPENDIX A – SUMMARY OF PROCEDURES FOR PROCUREMENT OF GOODS,
SERVICES & WORKS
1 Value Levels

2 Method
3 Gateway
Report
4 Selection
Method &
Number for
Goods,
Services and
Works

5 Opened by
6 Records to be
completed

7 Contracts
Payment
Register for
Works
8 Contractors
Insurances for
Services /
Works
9 Sub
Contractors
Tax
Registration
for Works
10 Awarded by
11 Method of
Awarding
12 Report to
Cabinet

A. Below £75,000
(Goods, Services &
Works)

B. £75,000 – PCR
Thresholds (Goods
& Services)

C. £75,000 £1,000,000 (Works
only)

D. £1,000,000 –
PCR Threshold
(Works Only)

Quotations
No

Formal Tenders
Yes

Formal Tenders
No – pre tender
report only

Formal Tenders
Yes

E. Above PCR
Thresholds
(Goods, Services &
Works)
Formal Tenders
Yes

<£15K demonstrate
best value

Prepare
specification and
award criteria

Prepare
specification and
award criteria

Prepare
specification and
award criteria

Prepare
specification and
award criteria

Invite at least 4
tenders using the
Councils Electronic
Tendering System

Invite at least 3
tenders using the
Councils Electronic
Tendering System

Invite at least 4
tenders using the
Councils Electronic
Tendering System

Advertise on
sell2wales
Use the Councils
Electronic
Tendering System

Procurement

Procurement

Procurement

Procurement

Gateway 1,2,3,
Tender Report,
award & reject
letters

Gateway 1,2,3,
award & reject
letters

Gateway 1,2,3,
Cabinet Report**,
award & reject
letters

Kept by Head of
Finance

Kept by Head of
Finance

Goods & Services
Prepare spec and
criteria, Invite at
least 3 Suppliers
Works
Prepare spec and
criteria, Invite at
least 3 contractors
Nominated Officer /
Procurement
Quote details kept
on file, award &
reject letters –
notification to
procurement of
outcome
Kept by Individual
Departments

Kept by Head of
Finance

Pre-tender, Tender
Report, award &
reject letters notification to
procurement of
outcome
Kept by Head of
Finance

Confirmed by
Insurance Officer
prior to Award

Confirmed by
Insurance Officer
prior to Award

Confirmed by
Insurance Officer
prior to Award

Confirmed by
Insurance Officer
prior to Award

Confirmed by
Insurance Officer
prior to Award

Required to be with
Payments prior to
Award

Not applicable

Required to be
with Payments
prior to Award

Required to be
with Payments
prior to Award

Required to be
with Payments
prior to Award

Authorised Officer

Authorised Officer
and Chief Officer
***
Letter of Award/
Legal Contract

Chief Officer and
Head of Finance

Letter of Award/
Legal Contract/PO

Authorised Officer
and Chief Officer
***
Letter of Award/
Legal Contract

Chief Officer, Head
of Finance,
portfolio member
Legal Contract

No

No

No

No

Legal Contract

Yes* – information
only

*Information Reports - ordinarily will be presented on a quarterly basis.
** Where a report may have political interest, or to maintain probity, advice must be sought from Chief Officer and Head of
Finance with regards to a full cabinet report for decision.
*** Where there are known budget issues with the award, the report should also be signed off by Head of Finance.

Page 95

Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council

Contract Procedure Rules

APPENDIX B – LOW VALUE PROCESS – LEVEL A
Low Value Procurement Process up to £75,000
(Goods, Services and Works)

Provide evidence of best value
and place order via P2P

Identify the need

Is the total lifetime cost
<£15000

Y

N

Is the total lifetime cost
estimated between £15000 &
£75,000

N

Y

Y

Is there a compliant framework
in place to satisfy needs?

N

Request for Quote/Mini Comp Process

If above go to appendix C

Does the framework require a
mini competition?

Y

N

Proceed to prepare RFQ/mini
comp documents

Place order via P2P

Draft Specification & evaluation
criteria
Contract formation Process

Advertise on sell2wales

Obtain (not invite) at least 3 responses

Y

Does the requirement require
advertising?

N

Notify Procurement

Evaluate in accordance with
evaluation criteria

Y

Create tender report (optional)

Authorised officer approval

Y

Send out award/reject notifications &if
advertised post contract award notice

Contract formation

Is the requirement delivered
over a period of time?

N
Place order via P2P

Page 96

Commence service delivery

Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council

Contract Procedure Rules

APPENDIX C – MEDIUM VALUE PROCESS – LEVEL B
Medium Value Procurement Process between
£75,000 and EU Thresholds (Goods and Services)

Identify the need

Is the total lifetime cost
estimated between £75,000 and
EU threshold?
Gateway 1 Process

N

If above go to appendix D, if below
go to Appendix B

yes
Draft gateway 1 report

Steering group
scrutiny

Consider objectives, risk, finances,
benefits and analysis of options

Y
Tender Preparation
Amendments ?
Proceed to prepare tender or mini
comp documents
N

N

Y
Present to
Procurement Board
Incorporate strategy into documents

Approved?

Prepare Gateway 2 report

Y

Gateway 2 Process

N

Tender Process

Outline specification, proposed
tendering method, price
amendments, anticipated benefits,
performance monitoring

Contract formation Process

Steering group
scrutiny

Advertise on sell2wales or run mini
comp

Amendments ?

Obtain (not invite) at least 3 tenders
through etenderwales

Contract formation

Notify Procurement

N
Present to
Procurement Board

Y

Evaluate in accordance with
evaluation criteria

Commence service delivery

Approved?
Create tender report

Gateway 3 Process
Do not award and inform
Procurement board

N

CFO and director approval
6 months after commencement
prepare gateway 3 report
Y
Send out award/reject notifications
& if advertised post contract award
notice

www.merthyr.gov.uk

Page 97

Present to Procurement Board

Page 27 of 45

Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council

Contract Procedure Rules

APPENDIX D – MEDIUM VALUE PROCESS – LEVEL C
Medium Value Procurement Process between
£75,000 and £1million (Works)

Identify the need

Is the total lifetime cost
estimated between £75,000 and
£1million?

N

If above go to appendix E, if below
go to Appendix B

Y

Does the framework require a
mini competition?

Y

Is there a compliant framework
in place to satisfy needs?

N

Y
N

Tender or Mini Comp
Process

Follow framework rules for
engagement
Proceed to prepare tender/mini
competition documents

Advertise on sell2wales

Y

Advertise opportunity?

N
Contract formation Process
Obtain (not invite) at least 3 tenders
through etenderwales or adequate
responses from mini comp
Contract formation

Evaluate in accordance with
evaluation criteria
Do not award and inform
Procurement board

Notify Procurement

N

Director and CFO approval?
Commence Service Delivery
Y
Send out award/reject notifications
& if advertised post contract award
notice

www.merthyr.gov.uk

Page 98

Page 28 of 45

Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council

Contract Procedure Rules

APPENDIX E – MEDIUM VALUE PROCESS – LEVEL D
Medium Value Procurement Process between
£1million and EU Thresholds (Works)

Identify the need

Is the total lifetime cost
estimated between £1million
and EU threshold
Gateway 1 Process

N

If above go to appendix D, if below
go to Appendix B

yes
Draft gateway 1 report

Steering group
scrutiny

Consider objectives, risk, finances,
benefits and analysis of options

Y
Tender or mini comp Preparation
Amendments ?
Proceed to prepare tender/mini
competition documents
N

N

Y

Present to
Procurement Board
Incorporate strategy into documents

Approved?

Prepare Gateway 2 report

Y

Gateway 2 Process

N

Tender or mini comp Process

Outline specification, proposed
tendering method, price
amendments, anticipated benefits,
performance monitoring

Contract formation Process

Steering group
scrutiny

Advertise on sell2wales or run mini
competition

Amendments ?

Obtain (not invite) at least 3 tenders
through etenderwales

Notify Procurement

Evaluate in accordance with
evaluation criteria

Commence service delivery

Contract formation

N
Present to
Procurement Board

Y

Approved?
Create tender report

Gateway 3 Process
Do not award and inform
Procurement board

N

Director and CFO
6 months after commencement
prepare gateway 3 report
Y
Send out award/reject notifications
& if advertised post contract award
notice

www.merthyr.gov.uk

Page 99

Present to Procurement Board

Page 29 of 45

Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council

Contract Procedure Rules

APPENDIX F – HIGH VALUE PROCESS – LEVEL E
High Value Procurement Process over EU thresholds
(Goods, Services & Works)

Identify the need

Is the total lifetime cost
estimated between £75,000 and
EU threshold?
Gateway 1 Process

N

If above go to appendix D, if below
go to Appendix B

yes
Draft gateway 1 report

Steering group
scrutiny

Consider objectives, risk, finances,
benefits and analysis of options

Y
Tender or mini comp Preparation
Amendments ?
Proceed to prepare tender/mini
comp documents
N

N

Y

Present to
Procurement Board
Incorporate strategy into documents

Approved?

Prepare Gateway 2 report

Y

Gateway 2 Process

N

Tender or mini comp Process

Steering group
scrutiny

Advertise on sell2wales or proceed to
mini comp

Amendments ?

All tendering activity at this level to be
run by procurement through
etenderwales

Outline specification, proposed
tendering method, price
amendments, anticipated benefits,
performance monitoring

Contract formation Process

Contract formation

Notify Procurement

N
Present to
Procurement Board

Y

Evaluate in accordance with
evaluation criteria

Commence service delivery

Approved?
Create Cabinet report

Gateway 3 Process
Do not award and inform
Procurement board

N

Chief officer and Chief
Finance Officer approval

6 months after commencement
prepare gateway 3 report

Y

Send out award/reject notifications
& post contract award notice

www.merthyr.gov.uk

Page 100

Present to Procurement Board

Page 30 of 45

Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council

Contract Procedure Rules

APPENDIX G – CONTRACT FORMATION – LOW VALUE
Contract formation flowchart – low value
Award has been approved by
authorised officer
Department Process
Complete all necessary recitals or
contract data

Y

Is the contract based on a
standard form?
eg JCT/NEC etc

N

Were terms and conditions
specified in the ITT documents?

N

Utilise council’s standard terms and
conditions

Y
Terms and conditions, ITT response,
clarifications, Specification, pricing

Create Contract pack

Authorised officer to sign contract

N

Procurement department Process
Procurement check : All
documentation in place?

Y
Procurement to index using eCM
reference and send to supplier for
signing

Signed Contract received back to
Procurement

1 signed copy returned to supplier
1 signed copy retained by
procurement

Procurement Archive

www.merthyr.gov.uk

Page 101

Contract scanned and uploaded to
etenderwales

Page 31 of 45

Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council

Contract Procedure Rules

APPENDIX H – CONTRACT FORMATION – HIGH VALUE
Contract formation flowchart
Award has been approved by
authorised officer(s) or cabinet
Department Process
Complete all necessary recitals or
contract data

Y

Is the contract based on a
standard form?
eg JCT/NEC etc

N

Were terms and conditions
specified in the ITT documents?

N

Utilise council’s standard terms and
conditions

Y
Terms and conditions, ITT response,
clarifications, Specification, pricing

Create Contract pack

Forward completed pack to
Procurement

N

Procurement department Process
Procurement check : All
documentation in place?

Y
Send pack to Legal Services – include
eCM reference from etenderwales for
indexing
Legal department Process
Legal send contract to supplier for
signing/sealing

Signed Contract received back to
Legal

Contract Sealed

1 signed copy returned to supplier
1 signed copy returned to procurement

Procurement department Process

Procurement Archive

www.merthyr.gov.uk

Page 102

Contract scanned and uploaded to
etenderwales

Page 32 of 45

Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council

Contract Procedure Rules

APPENDIX I – PRE-TENDER REPORT
Procurement of Works over £75,000 but below £1mllion - Officer Report and
Decision Form
Please note that this report should only be used for decisions which are not
specifically reserved for Full Council, a Committee of the Council, the Executive or a
Statutory Officer.
The decisions made in this report are compliant with the protocol for Executive
Decision making.
Department
Directorate
Contract Manager Name
Title of Contract
Description of Proposed
Contract
Contract/ITT Ref
(Provided by Procurement)

Estimated Value
£
Financed from
Estimated Start Date
Estimated Contract Period
Specific Companies you wish to invite to Tender
1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
I have been consulted and grant authorisation to the Contract Manager as the Nominated Officer on
the proposed List of Tenderers and I hereby grant approval to invite tenders (including less than the
required numbers of Tenderers), in accordance with the Councils’ Scheme of Delegations.
Procurement Manager
Date

www.merthyr.gov.uk

Page 103

Page 33 of 45

Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council

Contract Procedure Rules

APPENDIX J – FORM OF TENDER
Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council
[Insert Department Name]
TENDER for [Insert Contract Title]
Amount of Tender £______________________

FORM OF TENDER
I/We having read the Tender Documents and Standard Conditions of Contract, do
hereby tender and undertake to execute and complete the Goods, Services and/or
Works in accordance with the Contract Documents for the sum as set out in the
pricing schedule.


Agree that the insertion of any conditions qualifying this tender or any
unauthorised alteration to any of the tender documents shall not affect the
Standard Conditions of Contract and that such action may cause the tender to
be rejected.



Agree that this tender shall remain open to be accepted or not by the Council
for a period of [six months] from the closing date for the receipt of tenders
stated in the Instructions to Tenderers.



Unless and until a formal agreement is prepared and executed to which I/We
undertake to execute, this tender together with your acceptance thereof in
writing, shall constitute a binding Contract between us.



Understand that you are not bound to accept the lowest or any tender you
may receive.



Certify that this is a bona fide tender.

CANVASSING STATEMENT
I/We certify that no canvassing or soliciting of any member, officer or employee of
the council and/or any other companies in the group of which the council forms part,
in connection with the award of the tender or any other tender or proposed award
of the Tender for the services, goods and/or works and that to the best of our
knowledge and belief no person employed by me/us or acting on my/our behalf has
done such an act.
Further hereby undertake that no in the future canvassing or soliciting of any
member officer or employee of the council in connection with this Tender or any
other Tender or proposed Tender for the services, goods and/or works and that no
person employed or acting on my behalf will do any such act.
COLLUSIVE TENDERING STATEMENT
In recognition of the principle that the essence of selective tendering is that the
council shall receive bona fide competitive tenders from all those tendering.

www.merthyr.gov.uk

Page 104

Page 34 of 45

Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council

Contract Procedure Rules

The tender submitted herewith is a bona fide tender intended to be competitive.
We have not fixed or adjusted the amount of the tender by or under or in
accordance with any agreement or arrangement with any other person.
We have not done, and we undertake that we will not do at any time, any of the
following acts: 

Communicate to any person other than the council (as part of formal tender
document) the amount or approximate amount of the proposed tender
(except where the disclosure, in confidence, of the approximate amount of the
tenders was essential to obtain insurance premium quotations required for the
preparation of the tender)



Enter into any agreement with any other person/organisation that may take
part in the tendering process



Offer, pay, give or agree to give any sum of money or valuable consideration
to any member, officer or employee of the council or any person/organisation
that may take part in the tendering process

DECLARATION
I/We ………………………………………………….……………………………………………………………………….

Of ………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………
Hereby confirm that I/We have read and understood the content of this Schedule,
that is
1. Form of Tender
2. Canvassing Statement
3. Collusive Tendering Statement
and agree to be bound by the terms herein. I/We hereby submit an offer in respect
of this Tender, and offer to perform, fulfil and keep all the obligations of the
Contractor in accordance with the Conditions and Specification, all for the sums
properly due under the Contract as calculated in accordance with the prices
submitted. I/We confirm that I/We are fully conversant with all Tender Documents,
and that this tender is submitted strictly in accordance with such Documents and the
Instructions to Tenderers and is without any conditions or qualifications whatsoever.
I/We certify that the information supplied by myself/us is accurate to the best of my
knowledge.
Signature…………………………………………………………….……………………………………………………
Date …………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………

www.merthyr.gov.uk

Page 105

Page 35 of 45

Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council

Contract Procedure Rules

APPENDIX K – EXCEPTED CONTRACTS
Department
Directorate
Contract
Description of
goods/services/works/process
required
Estimated Value of
Requirement
Expected duration of
exception
Reason for Exception
Requested By
Date
Exceptions for Contracts
valued up to £75,000 (Level A)
Authorised Officer
Exceptions for Goods and
Services Contracts valued
between £75,000 and PCR
Thresholds (Level B).
And
Exceptions for Works
Contracts valued between
£75,000 and £1million (Level
C).
Authorised Officer
Chief Officer
Corporate Procurement
Exceptions for Works
Contracts valued between
£1million and PCR thresholds
(Level D)
Chief Officer
Head of Finance
Corporate Procurement
Exceptions for Contracts
valued above PCR thresholds
(Level E)
Chief Officer
Head of Finance
Corporate Procurement
Exceptions for specific non
contract processes
Corporate Procurement
www.merthyr.gov.uk

Agreed/not agreed

Agreed/not agreed

Agreed/not agreed

Agreed/not agreed

Agreed/not agreed

Page 106

Page 36 of 45

Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council

Contract Procedure Rules

INSURANCES MUST BE CONFIRMED BY INSURANCE OFFICER PRIOR TO ORDER AND
COMMENCEMENT OF CONTRACT
Insurance Company
Date insurance expires
Date for completion of
Contract
Is the required public
Yes/No*
liability indemnity limit
*If no, the limit must be signed off by the insurance officer and Chief Finance Officer
=>£10million?
Indemnity complies with
Yes/No
requirements of the
Contract
Authorised By
Insurance Officer
Chief Finance Officer
Date
SUB CONTRACTORS TAX CERTIFICATES MUST BE PASSED TO THE PAYMENTS
OFFICER PRIOR TO ORDER AND COMMENCEMENT OF WORKS CONTRACTS
Sub-Contractors tax
certificate number
Expiry Date
Received By
(payments officer)

www.merthyr.gov.uk

Page 107

Page 37 of 45

Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council

Contract Procedure Rules

APPENDIX L – CONTRACT AWARD REPORT

Reference Number
Project Title
Project reported to
Procurement Board?
Directorate
Service Department
Lead Officer
Contract Duration
Estimated Contract Value
(full term of contract including any
extension)
1st year cost (if applicable)

Budget
Funding Source
(Capital, Grant, Revenue)
Anticipated Savings
Contract Go-Live date
Process used
(Open, restricted etc)

Number of Tenderers
Number of Tenders
Returned
Date/Time of closing

Tenders received From

Tenders not received

www.merthyr.gov.uk

Page 108

Page 38 of 45

Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council

Contract Procedure Rules

Summary of Tender evaluation
Quality/Price Ratio

Evaluation Criteria and
weightings

Summary of Evaluation
Findings

Summary of Tendered
Values

Final Rankings and scores

Recommendation to award
Contract to
For the sum of

www.merthyr.gov.uk

£

Page 109

Page 39 of 45

Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council

Contract Procedure Rules

Report completed by
Contract Award Authorised
By
(authorised officer/chief officer)
See appendix A procurement rules for
award guidance

Contract Award Authorised
By
(Chief Finance Officer)
For Contracts where a budget risk is
identified and Level D and E Contracts.

Contract Award Authorised
By
(portfolio member)
Level E Contracts

www.merthyr.gov.uk

Page 110

Page 40 of 45

Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council

Contract Procedure Rules

APPENDIX M – CONTRACTS BELOW £75,000

Award Notification – to be sent to Procurement on completion
Department
Directorate
Contract
Description of
goods/services/works
Finance from the Scheme
from
Contractor/Supplier
Address
For the sum of
Contract start date
Duration of Contract
Report completed by
Date

www.merthyr.gov.uk

£

Page 111

Page 41 of 45

Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council

Contract Procedure Rules

APPENDIX N – VARIATIONS AND EXTENSIONS
Goods & Services Contracts

Contract Value
Up to £75,000
£75,001 to PCR Thresholds
Above PCR Thresholds

First/Cumulative value of variation
up to 5% of original Contract value
Authorised Officer
Head of Service
Chief Officer

First/Cumulative value of variation
between 5% and 25% of original
Contract value
Authorised Officer
Head of Service, Head of Finance
Chief Officer, Head of Finance

First/Cumulative value of variation
over 25% of original Contract value
Head of Service
Head of Service and Head of Finance
Cabinet

First/Cumulative value of variation
up to 5% of original Contract value
Authorised Officer
Head of Service
Chief Officer
Chief Officer

First/Cumulative value of variation
between 5% and 25% of original
Contract value
Authorised Officer
Head of Service
Head of Service, Head of Finance
Chief Officer, Head of Finance

First/Cumulative value of variation
over 25% of original Contract value
Head of Service
Head of Service and Head of Finance
Chief Officer, Head of Finance
Cabinet

Works Contracts

Page 112

Contract Value
Up to £75,000
£75,001 to £1M
£1M to PCR Thresholds
Above PCR Thresholds

Contract terms and conditions revisions
Any changes to terms and conditions
Changes to terms and conditions that impact on the contract value

Legal
Legal and as above table

For Schools, where it states Authorised Officer or Head of Service, Headteacher is the equivalent. Where it says Chief Officer or Cabinet, Governing Body is the equivalent.

Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council

Contract Procedure Rules

APPENDIX O – REGISTER OF VARIATIONS AND EXTENSIONS
TO CONTRACTS
Variations must be requested prior to stage payments being made
(This applies to both MTCBC staff and Consultants)
Please use the Variations & Extensions table at appendix N to ascertain approval
requirements.

Department
Directorate
Contractor
Description of Contract
Variation Number
Variation to Contract Terms and Conditions:
Brief description of changes
to Contract Terms
(include attachments if necessary, e.g. of
additional or changed clauses)

Variation to Contract Value:
Previous Cumulative Value
A£
of Variations/Extensions
Value of this
B£
Variation/Extension
Total Value of
C£
Variation/Extension (A+B)
Original Contract Value
D£
Revised Contract Value
£
(C+D)
Percentage Increase on
Original Contract Price
(C/D)/100
Reason for this
Variation/Extension
How will this
Variation/Extension be
funded
Variation/Extension
requested by
Date
Variation/Extension Authorised by:
Authorised Officer
Head of Service
Chief Officer
Chief Finance Officer

Page 113

Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council

Contract Procedure Rules

Legal
Cabinet (enter minute
number)
Date

www.merthyr.gov.uk

Page 114

Page 44 of 45

Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council

Contract Procedure Rules

APPENDIX P – PROCUREMENT FORWARD PLAN NOTICE

Department
Community
Regeneration

Lead Officer
A N Other

Contract Title
Refurbishment of Canolfan

Contract
Frequency
One off

Finance
From
Grant

Anticipated
Start (Tender)
Date
01/04/2020

Anticipated
Value
£800,000

Contract
Manager
A N Other

Procedure (Route
to Market)
Open

Page 115

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 6
Civic Centre, Castle Street,
Merthyr Tydfil CF47 8AN
Main Tel: 01685 725000

www.merthyr.gov.uk

FULL COUNCIL REPORT
Date Written
Report Author
Service Area
Exempt/Non Exempt
Committee Date

19th May 2021
Beverley Taylor
Human Resources &
Development
Non-Exempt
16th June 2021

To: Mayor, Ladies and Gentlemen

GRIEVANCE POLICY & PROCEDURE
1.0

SUMMARY OF THE REPORT

1.1

A catalogue of Human Resources Policies were approved by Council in March 2020
as part of an ongoing review to keep our workplace policies up to date. The
Equalities and Human Rights Commission (EHRC) recommends that an annual
review is undertaken to reflect any changes to employment law or changes to the
employer’s circumstances.

1.2

The Grievance Policy required updating as it had not been reviewed since 2015. As
Trade Union consultation was also required this Policy was not presented as part of
the March 2020 review.

2.0

RECOMMENDATION(S) THAT

2.1

The Grievance Policy be approved.

2.2

Delegated authority be given to the Head of Human Resources for any future
amendments to the Policy, in consultation with the Portfolio Member, be approved.

3.0

INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

3.1

By raising a formal grievance an employee is indicating dissatisfaction with some
aspect of their work or workplace. Managing grievances promptly and effectively

Page 117

can minimise the damage and disruption and limit an employer’s exposure to
employment tribunal claims.
3.2

The Grievance Policy had not been reviewed or updated for some time and was
quite confusing in its content. The text has been rewritten to be more user friendly
together with the accompanying Grievance Procedure Guidance Document which
clearly outlines the roles of all parties concerned as well as the steps that should be
taken in how to deal, manage and resolve a grievance should an employee submit
one.

3.3

The Policy aims to assist managers who are usually not experienced in managing
staff related issues. It is good practice to always deal with a grievance, if it is ignored
there is a real likelihood that the situation will escalate into something more serious.
It is critical that managers are confident in managing their staff and to support this
Policy.

3.4

The updated Policy has included consultation with Trade Unions.

4.0

FINANCIAL IMPLICATION(S)

4.1

None.

5.0

INTEGRATED IMPACT ASSESSMENT
Positive
Impacts

Negative
Impacts

Neutral/Not
Applicable

0 of 4

0 of 4

4 of 4

3 of 5

0 of 5

2 of 5

0 of 10

0 of 10

10 of 10

0 of 6

0 of 6

6 of 6

Undertaken

Due to be
Undertaken

Not Required

1 of 1

0 of 1

0 of 1

1. Merthyr Tydfil Well-being Objectives
2. Sustainable Development Principles
- How have you considered the five
ways of working?
 Long term
 Prevention
 Integration
 Collaboration
 Involvement
3. Protected Characteristics (including
Welsh Language)
4. Socio-economic Disadvantage

5. Consultation and Engagement

6. Data and Evidence to inform the
proposal

Page 118

Yes

No

1 of 1

0 of 1

7. Biodiversity and the resilience of
Ecosystems

Maintained Enhanced
0 of 1

Summary
The main positive
impacts are:

The main negative
impacts are:

0 of 1

Reduced

Neutral/Not
Applicable

0 of 1

1 of 1

To provide clear guidance to both managers and staff on how to deal with
grievances effectively.

No negative impacts.

ELLIS COOPER
CHIEF EXECUTIVE

COUNCILLOR ANDREW BARRY
CABINET MEMBER FOR GOVERNANCE
AND CORPORATE SERVICES

BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of Document(s)

Document(s) Date

Document Location

Grievance Policy &
Procedure
Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s
Constitution?

No

Consultation has been undertaken with the Corporate Management Team in respect
of each proposal(s) and recommendation(s) set out in this report.

Page 119

This page is intentionally left blank

Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council
Human Resources Department

Grievance Policy
1

Page 121

Contents

Page

AMENDMENT SHEET

3

1. INTRODUCTION

4

2. SCOPE

4

3. ROLES AND RESPONSIBILITIES

5

4. INFORMAL PROCEDURE

6

5. FORMAL PROCEDURE

7

6. THE RIGHT TO BE ACCOMPANIED

7

7. MEDIATION

7

8. CONDUCT DURING THE GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE

7

9. CONFIDENTIALITY

8

10. COLLECTIVE GRIEVANCES

8

11. REPEATED, VEXATIOUS, FRIVOLOUS GRIEVANCES

8

12. CONSIDERING CHANGES FOLLOWING THE GRIEVANCE

8

13. GRIEVANCES THAT ARE POTENTIALLY SAFEGUARDING,
DISCRIMINATION OR RELATED MATTERS

8

14. GRIEVANCES STARTED PRIOR TO TERMINATION

APPENDIX 1 – GRIEVANCE FORM

9

10

2

Page 122

Policy – Grievance Policy

Policy
approved by

Date
approved

Date
implemented

Policy Owner

Review
date

Full Council

4th November
2015

4th November 2015

Bev Taylor

1st June
2022

Prior to contacting Human Resources regarding the content of this policy, it is recommended
that you refer to the most up to date version on the intranet.
As is the case with all intranet documents, this policy is subject to review due to legislative and
policy changes. The latest version of all Human Resources documents can be found on the HR
Intranet pages.
Version
No.

Date approved

Approved
by

Amendment

1.0

16th June 2021

Full Council

Delegated Authority to make minor amendments
& insertion of amendment sheet.
Process & roles clarified & insert re collective
grievances

3

Page 123

INTRODUCTION

1.

Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council believes that all employees should be treated fairly and
with respect. When an employee feels aggrieved it can create a tense situation that can often
escalate. However, if the grievance is managed under a clear procedure it can often be resolved
quickly and effectively.
The ACAS Code of Practice sets out the principles for handling grievance situations in the
workplace. This Policy has been created to support managers and employees in handling any
grievances that are raised in the course of the working day.
Any employee who has a grievance should follow the steps set out in the accompanying
Grievance Procedure and Guidance so that they can resolve it. An employee who is not able to
do this will feel de-motivated. The issue may then escalate. This is not productive for the
employee, their colleagues, or the Service. It is therefore essential that managers are familiar with
this Policy and accompanying Procedure and are confident in the steps required to resolve the
issue.
Grievances are not disciplinaries and should not be treated as such. It is an opportunity to discuss
matters together so as to resolve an issue that an employee has. The process should be focused
on finding a resolution. Emphasis is always on resolving the issue quickly and fairly without any
formal steps needed.
SCOPE

2.

This Policy, together with the accompanying Grievance Procedure and Guidance, applies to all
employees employed by Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council, whether part time or full time,
fixed term or permanent. It does not apply to workers who are not employees, or past employees
who no longer work for the Council. It does not apply to employees working within schools. This
policy (as well as the accompanying Grievance Procedure and Guidance) does not apply to
agency workers, consultants or self-employed contractors.
Types of issues that may be raised under this Policy include (but not limited to):


Contractual issues;



An alleged breach of legislation or a statutory right;



Health and safety;



Working environment or conditions;

This Policy does not cover the following:


Redundancies;



Sickness absence;



Disciplinary matters (also see Disciplinary Policy in relation to raising grievances during a
disciplinary process);



Capability matters;
4

Page 124



Collective bargaining agreements;



Job Evaluation.

Where there is a separate policy or procedure in place for a specific issue to be addressed, that
specific policy or procedure should be used instead of the Grievance Procedure.
An employee can raise a grievance if:


they feel raising it informally has not worked



they do not want it dealt with informally



it’s a very serious issue, for example sexual harassment or safeguarding

This Policy and accompanying Grievance Procedure and Guidance has been [agreed OR
implemented following consultation] with representatives of our recognised Trade Union(s).
This Policy and accompanying Grievance Procedure and Guidance does not form part of any
employee’s contract of employment and we may, in response to our reviewing the Policy to ensure
that it reflects our legal obligations and business needs, amend it any time.
3.

ROLES AND RESPONSIBILITIES

3.1

Employee

It is the responsibility of the aggrieved employee to address any workplace concerns with their
immediate manager on an informal basis (unless they do not want it dealt with informally or if the
issue is so serious it has to be escalated to a more formal stage). Many grievances felt during the
working week can be resolved by discussing the issue and agreeing a solution.
If for some reason the employee does not feel it appropriate to raise the matter with their
immediate line manager, they can approach another manager who will be able to assist in
resolving the matter. (The second manager would usually be at a similar level although might be
in another area of work).
There may be instances where an employee is the subject of a grievance by another employee.
This can be upsetting and stressful. The employee should seek support from their manager and
be willing to work with the manager and the aggrieved colleague to resolve the issue. Often these
situations occur through miscommunication or misinterpretation of a situation and can be resolved
quickly. Where this isn't possible, mediation may be required (see below).
The employee needs to raise the matter with their line manager (or alternative manager) within 4
weeks of the issue arising. This ensures that the matter is resolved quickly and to the benefit
of the employee. (With the discretion of the Head of HR this time period can be extended if the
reason the employee has not raised it early relates to a prolonged absence or some other reason
that made it difficult to raise it within 4 weeks).
3.2

Manager

When an employee raises a concern with their manager, it is the manager’s responsibility to listen
and take the issue seriously. The manager must take the time to sit down with the employee and
consider how the issue can be resolved successfully with the employee. (Often a quiet word is all
that is needed)
5

Page 125

If the matter cannot be resolved during the initial discussion between the employee and their
manager, the manager may need to undertake an informal enquiry into the issue. If there is a
need to discuss this with others, it should be done sensitively and with a view to protecting
confidentiality as much as possible.
If the matter is not one that can be resolved using the grievance procedure, such as it being an
issue that is in relation to another policy or procedure, the manager should let the employee know,
and inform them of the correct policy or procedure that they need to use instead.
If the matter appears to be in relation to a safeguarding issue, the manager should consult with
the Safeguarding Manager. For discrimination issues or any other very serious matter, the
manager should inform HR immediately. Please see Section 13.
3.3

Human Resources

Human Resources is there to advise and guide employees and managers in applying the policies
and procedures effectively and correctly. If a manager wishes to seek advice on the best way to
approach an issue that an employee has raised, they may speak to an HR Advisor. It is not
expected that there will be a need for an HR Advisor to attend a meeting with the manager and/or
employee at an early informal stage.
Where the manager feels that the issue raised is serious and may result in the need to take it
straight to a formal grievance or is a disciplinary matter, they should seek advice from an HR
Advisor.
The HR Advisor will support and advise the manager (in their role as Grievance Hearing Officer)
in how to apply the procedure correctly and effectively.
The HR Advisor cannot take the role of lead officer in any enquiry or investigation, have a view
on the matter or be a decision maker at a formal stage as this would compromise the HR Advisor's
role as a neutral procedural advisor. Only the Grievance Hearing Officer can take this role.
3.4

Trade Union Representatives

Any employee that is in a union can seek advice from their representative on any matters
pertaining to their work. They may wish to take this advice before approaching their manager, or
following a discussion with their manager.
It would not normally be expected to have a union representative in attendance with the employee
when the employee first raises an informal grievance with the manager. However, if the employee
is more comfortable with a union representative (or colleague) this should not be refused.
4.

INFORMAL PROCEDURE

Grievances by individual employees should be discussed initially with their line manager with an
expectation that it can be resolved quickly and informally (unless the employee does not want it
dealt with informally or if the issue is so serious it has to be escalated to a more formal stage.)
A different manager can be approached if the employee does not feel it appropriate to approach
their immediate line manager (usually of a similar level of authority in any part of the organisation).
If it is likely that the issue is of a serious nature, HR should be contacted immediately by either
the employee, their manager, or a trade union representative.
6

Page 126

See Roles and Responsibilities for further details of the responsibilities of each party at the
informal stage.
5.

FORMAL PROCEDURE

If, following an informal discussion with the line manager, the matter has not been able to be
resolved, the employee has a right to put the grievance in writing by completing the Grievance
Form attached as Appendix 1 to this Policy. The employee will be invited to a formal grievance
hearing to discuss their grievance.
The formal procedure will involve holding a grievance hearing with the employee and Grievance
Hearing Officer . The outcome of the grievance hearing can be appealed by the employee. The
appeal hearing will be heard by an appointed Appeal Hearing Officer.
6.

THE RIGHT TO BE ACCOMPANIED

Employees have a right to have a work colleague or recognized trade union representative to be
present in any formal grievance hearings or subsequent appeal hearing. Recognised trade union
representatives who are also employees are to be given appropriate time off with pay to support
their member.
The chosen companion, whether a work colleague or a recognized union representative, will be
allowed to address the hearing, respond on the employees behalf if the employee asks them to,
confer with the employee, and sum up the case on the employees behalf. However, the formal
hearing is one that is between the aggrieved employee(s) and the Grievance Hearing or Appeal
Officer, and any questions put to the employee are to be answered by the employee unless the
Grievance Hearing or Appeal Officer specifically gives permission for the companion to answer.
7.

MEDIATION

At any stage of the grievance procedure it may be recognised that the matter could be dealt with
by way of mediation. This involves the appointment of a third-party mediator who will discuss the
issue with all those involved and seek to facilitate a resolution. Mediation will only be used where
it is considered appropriate and when all parties are in agreement.
Mediation can usually be conducted via internal fully trained officers. There are trained mediators
within Human Resources. If mediation is deemed necessary this will be arranged as soon as
possible, and certainly within 10 working days of the agreed decision to take this route.
Any planned hearing or appeal will be adjourned whilst the mediation is taking place. If the
aggrieved employee and the manager/other employee agree that the mediation has resolved the
issue, the planned hearing or appeal will be cancelled. This must be agreed with all parties and
will be put in writing.
If mediation does not satisfactorily resolve the issue then the hearing or appeal will progress as
planned.
Mediation may also be a suggested outcome to an appeal or hearing to help resolve an issue.
8.

CONDUCT DURING THE GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE

Matters raised as part of a grievance can be emotional and upsetting. However, it is not
acceptable to be abusive or insulting to others. All those involved should treat each other with
7

Page 127

respect and express themselves calmly and professionally. If any employee does not show
respect and is abusive, insulting or threatening, this behaviour will be treated as a misconduct
matter under the Disciplinary Policy and Procedure.
9.

CONFIDENTIALITY

All parties involved in the grievance at all stages (informal or formal) are to retain confidentiality
and only share information where it is appropriately required as part of the agreed process. If
discussions are required with additional people, the aggrieved employee needs to be kept aware
of this. Complaints in relation to breaches of confidentiality will be addressed under the
Disciplinary Policy and Procedure.
10.

COLLECTIVE GRIEVANCES

A collective grievance is a grievance brought by a group of employees (i.e. 2 or more) who want
to raise a grievance about the same issue. One grievance form should be completed on behalf
of the group, it should contain the names and signatures of each employee raising the grievance.
A spokesperson should be nominated who will represent the group at any subsequent Grievance
Hearing/Appeal Hearing.
11.

REPEATED, VEXATIOUS, FRIVOLOUS GRIEVANCES

All issues raised by an employee are taken seriously as it is in the interest of the Council to
engender a healthy and productive workforce. However some issues raised are not able to be
addressed successfully within this procedure due to the nature of the matter being vexatious and
disingenuous, or one that is repeatedly raised despite the procedure having been followed and
completed previously. This grievance procedure is here to address genuine concerns and issues
raised by employees.
These types of grievances take up management time that is not well spent, and de-motivates
fellow employees. This is not helpful and creates an unhealthy culture. Where these types of
grievances are identified, the employee will be informed verbally by the line manager who will
explain why this is the case, and will follow up in writing. There is no further recourse for this,
although the Grievance Procedure remains available for the employee to use if a genuine
grievance is raised.
Vexatious grievances will be considered a disciplinary offence and investigated under the
Disciplinary Policy and Procedure.
12.

CONSIDERING CHANGES FOLLOWING THE GRIEVANCE

The grievance may have raised an issue that the manager was not aware of, or was considered
preventable. Steps should be taken to ensure that the matter is fully resolved, and any changes
that need to be made is undertaken to prevent the same issue becoming a problem again for the
same employee or others.

13.

GRIEVANCES THAT ARE POTENTIALLY SAFEGUARDING, DISCRIMINATION OR
RELATED MATTERS

If the grievance is of a very serious nature, it may be necessary to immediately consider the risks
and duty of care of employees or service users.

8

Page 128

The safeguarding of children and adults at risk is a priority for the Council, and any concern or
allegation that a member of staff has neglected or abused a child or adult at risk will be taken
seriously. In all cases of this type, consultation will be carried out with the Safeguarding Manager.
The Safeguarding Manager will offer advice about whether the matter should be managed under
the Child or Adult Protection Procedures and will provide information about risk management and
work with colleagues to ensure that there is effective support for the employee.
A matter that alleges an employee has breached safeguarding procedures for vulnerable adults
or children, breached data protection or security rules, been discriminatory to others or has
breached some other disciplinary matter may require the employee to be suspended.
Suspension cannot take place under the Grievance Procedure, but with the Head of HR's
agreement, the Disciplinary Policy and Procedure can be triggered, which allows for the
suspension of the employee who has allegedly breached the disciplinary rules pending an
investigation into the allegations.
The employee raising the grievance will be informed that the matter is being handled
confidentially. They need to be told that they will be interviewed confidentially as part of a
disciplinary process to gather more facts.
14.

GRIEVANCES STARTED PRIOR TO TERMINATION

If an employee raises a formal grievance during employment, but the grievance hasn't been
completed prior to their employment coming to an end, the grievance will be reviewed by the
Grievance Hearing Officer and HR Advisor to assess whether, by the employee leaving, this has
brought the grievance to its natural conclusion.
If the Grievance Hearing Officer believes that the issues raised by the employee prior to their
departure has not been brought to a natural conclusion and that the matter should be looked into,
the employee will be informed of this. It will not however be undertaken as part of the grievance
procedure, instead it will be investigated as a workplace matter.
The manager will undertake an investigation and come up with a report and recommendations
for improvements. A copy of the report and the recommendations may be sent to the employee
who initially raised the grievance for their information. The report will only be sent to the employee
if there are no confidential matters within the report.
Examples of when this will be relevant is when there are workplace issues that may continue to
be problematic following the aggrieved employee leaving the Council, or when there the employee
had identified an alleged breach.

9

Page 129

APPENDIX 1 – GRIEVANCE FORM

Name(s) of Employee:

Job Title:
Department:
Name of Manager:

Have you discussed your grievance with your Trade Union:
Name of TU Representative:

Please provide full details of grievance (continue on separate sheet is required):

Please provide details as to why your grievance could not be resolved informally:

What resolution are you seeking:

Signature(s):
10

Page 130

Dated:

11

Page 131

This page is intentionally left blank

Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council
Human Resources Department

Grievance Procedure and
Guidance
1

Page 133

Contents

Page

1. INTRODUCTION

3

2. STAGE ONE - INFORMAL PROCESS

3

3. STAGE TWO – GRIEVANCE HEARING (FORMAL PROCEDURE)

3

4. STAGE THREE – APPEAL HEARING (FORMAL PROCEDURE)

4

5. RETAINING PAPERWORK AND CONFIDENTIALITY

4

Letter templates

5-8

2

Page 134

1.

INTRODUCTION
This Grievance Procedure and Guidance must be read and followed alongside the
accompanying Grievance Policy which sets out the expectations of the process. Grievance
procedures are needed to provide individuals with a course of action if they have a complaint
which they are unable to resolve through regular or informal communication with their line
manager.
A collective grievance can be raised by a group of staff (i.e. 2 or more) who want to raise a
grievance about the same issue. The group should nominate a spokesperson to represent the
group.
This procedure and guidance is necessary to ensure that everybody is treated in the same way in
similar circumstances and to deal with issues fairly and reasonably and assists both HR Advisor
and manager to deal in undertaking the process robustly.

2.

STAGE ONE - INFORMAL PROCESS
Grievances should be discussed initially with the line manager with an expectation that it can be
resolved quickly and informally (unless the employee does not want it dealt with informally or if
the issue is so serious it has to be escalated to a more formal stage). A different manager can
be approached if the employee does not feel it appropriate to approach their immediate line
manager.

TIPS When an employee is uncomfortable with someone’s behaviour, they should try to have an honest
and open discussion with the colleague concerned. If it is not possible to talk directly with the colleague,
the employee’s line manager may act as a facilitator and/or may suggest other informal ways in which to
resolve the issue for example through mediation.
It is particularly important to try and resolve issues between two employees quickly and informally. The
longer an issue is left unresolved the higher the chance the matter can never be fully resolved, leaving
poor working relationships that affect not just the two employees but their colleagues.
The grievance procedure should not be used as a substitute for normal day to day discussions
3.

STAGE TWO – GRIEVANCE HEARING (FORMAL PROCEDURE)
If, the informal process has not worked, or if the employee choses to proceed straight to the
formal procedure the Grievance Form (please refer to Grievance Policy) should be completed
clearly stating the reason for raising the grievance with the resolution sought. The grievance
form needs to be submitted no more than 5 working days after they have been notified that the
grievance cannot be resolved informally. If the employee’s line manager is the subject of the
grievance, or the nature of the grievance would mean it inappropriate for the line manager to
continue with the investigation, another manager will be appointed to replace the line manager in
the role of Grievance Hearing Officer during the formal process.
The Grievance Hearing Officer will invite the employee to attend a grievance hearing in order to
discuss the details of their grievance further (please see letter template 1). An HR Advisor will
also attend to advice the Grievance Hearing Officer on procedural matters. The employee
should bring any evidence which supports their grievance along to the hearing.

3

Page 135

Employees have the statutory right to be accompanied by either a recognized trade union
representative or work colleague at the hearing. A written note of the hearing will be made and
a copy given to the employee to enable them to agree the content.
Other employees may be witnesses to the grievance and may need to be interviewed to gather
facts. The employee being interviewed will not be expected to need a recognized trade union
representative or work colleague to accompany them, however, if this is requested it will not be
refused.
The employee being interviewed needs to be informed that the details of the grievance hearing
are to be kept confidential and that they may be required to attend a further meeting if required.
The information would be also admissible in a tribunal.
The Grievance Hearing Officer will prepare an investigation report and consider whether or not to
uphold the grievance in full, uphold parts of the grievance and reject others, or reject it in full. If
the Grievance Hearing Officer upholds the grievance wholly or in part, they should identify action
that will need to be taken to resolve the issue.
A copy of the report and supporting documentation will be sent to the employee together with a
letter informing them of the decision and the employee’s right of appeal (please see letter
template 2).
4.

STAGE THREE – APPEAL HEARING (FORMAL PROCEDURE)
If the employee wishes to appeal the decision they should submit this in writing to the Grievance
Hearing Officer within 7 working days of the date of the written confirmation. An Appeal
Hearing Officer will be appointed who has not had any involvement in the initial stages of the
grievance.
The Appeal Hearing Officer will arrange for an appeal hearing to take place, in so far as is
possible, within 10 working days of receiving the appeal paperwork (please see letter template
3). The employee must state the grounds for the appeal, such as the decision didn’t take into
account all the facts presented, or the outcome was not appropriate to the grievance.
The appeal hearing will include the Appeal Hearing Officer, the appellant and their
representative, the Grievance Investigation Officer and an HR Advisor (who will be in attendance
to advise the Appeal Hearing Officer). There may also be a note taker present.
The purpose of the appeal is not to re-hear the grievance hearing but to present the specific
parts of the initial hearing that the employee is not satisfied with.
The appeal decision must be made in writing stating that this decision is final (please see letter
template 4).

5.

RETAINING PAPERWORK AND CONFIDENTIALITY
All paperwork collected as part of the process will be placed together in a file and retained by
Human Resources. This will be secured in a confidential location. All other copies of the
paperwork will be destroyed

4

Page 136

LETTER TEMPLATE 1

Date/Dyddiad:
Our ref./Ein Cyf.:
Your ref./Eich Cyf.:

/

Please ask for/Gofynnwch am:
Direct Line/Llinell Uniongyrchol:
e-mail/e-bost:
your.emailaddress

Dear
I write further to your grievance dated the (insert date) which was received on (insert date).
In accordance with the Council’s Grievance Policy, I am writing to invite you to a grievance hearing on
(insert date and time). The hearing will be held with (name of Grievance Hearing Officer) and (name of
HR Advisor). The hearing will be held in (enter location of hearing),
You are entitled, if you so wish, to be accompanied by your trade union representative at this hearing.
Yours sincerely

(name of Grievance Hearing Officer)

5

Page 137

LETTER TEMPLATE 2

Date/Dyddiad:
Our ref./Ein Cyf.:
Your ref./Eich Cyf.:

/

Please ask for/Gofynnwch am:
Direct Line/Llinell
Uniongyrchol:
e-mail/e-bost:
your.emailaddress

Dear
Further to the grievance hearing held on (insert date) concerning (give a few details of nature of
grievance, please find enclosed the Grievance Investigation Report and copies of all the documents
which were presented at the hearing.
I am now writing to you to confirm the outcome.
After listening carefully to everything that you said, I have reached the following conclusions:
Decision details (i.e. grievance upheld, partly upheld or not upheld) and what was considered.
Brief explanation of why the decision was made.
In accordance with the Council’s Grievance Procedure, I am required to advise you that you have the
right of appeal. Your written notice of intention to Appeal together with the grounds of your Appeal
must be provided to myself within seven working days of the date of this letter.

Yours sincerely
Name of Grievance Hearing Officer
Encs

6

Page 138

LETTER TEMPLATE 3

Date/Dyddiad:
Our ref./Ein Cyf.:
Your ref./Eich Cyf.:

Please ask for/Gofynnwch am:
Direct Line/Llinell Uniongyrchol:
e-mail/e-bost:
your.emailaddress

Dear
NOTIFICATION OF INTENTION TO HOLD A GRIEVANCE APPEAL HEARING
You have appealed against the (decision of grievance hearing) confirmed to you in writing on (insert
date of outcome letter).
In accordance with the Council’s Grievance Policy, I wish to advise you that your appeal will be heard by
(Name of Appeal Officer) and (name of HR Advisor) on the (insert date and time). The appeal hearing
will take place in (location of meeting).
You will have the opportunity, with your Trade Union representative, to present your grounds for
appeal before the Appeals Panel who will ultimately decide if the decision made by the Grievance
Hearing Officer should be upheld, overturned or modified.
I would be grateful if you could forward your written submission of the case and all relevant supporting
documentation to myself at least 3 working days prior to the hearing date.
The decision of this appeal hearing is final and there is no further right of review.
Yours sincerely

(Name of Appeal Officer)

7

Page 139

LETTER TEMPLATE 4

Date/Dyddiad:
Our ref./Ein Cyf.:
Your ref./Eich Cyf.:

Please ask for/Gofynnwch am:
Direct Line/Llinell Uniongyrchol:
e-mail/e-bost:
your.emailaddress

Dear
You appealed against the decision of the appeal hearing that your grievance was not upheld.
The appeal hearing was held on (insert date of appeal hearing). I am now writing to confirm/inform
you of the decision taken by (name of appeal hearing officer) who conducted the appeal hearing,
namely that the decision to (detail whether decision to uphold or overturn and give the reasons why, if
overturned explain what action will be taken to resolve the grievance).
You have now exercised your right of appeal under the Council’s Grievance Policy and this decision is
final.
Yours sincerely

(Name of Appeal Officer)

8

Page 140

Agenda Item 7
Civic Centre, Castle Street,
Merthyr Tydfil CF47 8AN
Main Tel: 01685 725000

www.merthyr.gov.uk

FULL COUNCIL REPORT
Date Written
Report Author
Service Area
Exempt/Non Exempt
Committee Date

26th May 2021
Paul Davies, Alyn Owen
Regeneration Transformation and
Commercialisation
Non Exempt
16th June 2021

To: Mayor, Ladies and Gentlemen

Establishment of a Commercial Unit
1.0

SUMMARY OF THE REPORT

1.1

Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council generates and engages in a substantial
amount of commercial activity. In an average year, the Council spends £79million in
the purchase of goods and contracted services.

1.2

Despite this level of commercial activity, in the main, the Council does not operate as
a commercial organisation.

1.3

This report presents recommendations to enable Merthyr Tydfil County Borough
Council to move to a commercial operating model over a series of development
phases.

1.4

The proposal is based around the creation of a commercial unit, the restructure of the
existing Procurement and Payments function, the recruitment of one additional
Strategic Procurement Officer, one Data & Project Support Officer and the
employment of a Commercial Manager.

1.5

The new Commercial Unit will sit within the Economic Regeneration Services under
the Regeneration, Transformation and Commercial Portfolio.

1.6

The Unit will give the Council a commercial capacity that has previously not existed to
assess commercial gain from existing spend and to explore commercial opportunities
with other social sector partners.

Page 141

1.7

Combining the Commercial and Economic Development functions within the Authority
will also enable the Council to explore wider investment opportunities associated with
the continued economic regeneration of Merthyr Tydfil.

2.0

RECOMMENDATIONS that

2.1

The creation of a new Commercial Unit be approved.

2.2

The restructure of the existing Procurement and Payment Service to enable the
creation of a Commercial Unit be approved.

2.3

The recruitment of two additional Strategic Procurement Officers be approved.

2.4

The combination of the Commercial and Economic Development functions be
approved.

3.0

INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

3.1

The commercial development of the public sector is a relatively hot topic at the moment
and has been for a number of years. Year on year budgets have reduced whilst in
many areas such as health and social care demand has increased. Most public sector
organisations are drastically changing their operating models or finding other ways of
filling gaps in budgets, or often both.

3.2

This ‘perfect storm’ has led much of the public sector to consider being more
‘commercial’. This move towards being commercial is difficult as it requires new skills,
new thinking, new culture, and also associated changes in structures, processes and
systems to facilitate new ways of working.

3.3

Existing Procurement Activity
3.3.1 Merely being buyers that follow standard procurement processes and comply
with rules and regulations will not alone drive good practice and deliver value
for money – considering the vast range of goods and services that we need to
function effectively. Transforming to a commercial approach will have a
significant impact on end users, especially where commercial staff are engaged
at the earliest possible stages in developing proposals. Commercial should
have creativity and collaboration at its heart and challenge what customers and
suppliers want. When this is done well, it is so much more than just ‘buying
stuff’.
3.3.2 Our current procurement position

Page 142

3.3.3 The majority of council procurement activity is centred around tactical
operations – this is developing tenders and inviting the market to bid for goods,
services and works. This activity is not strictly strategic and is usually a reaction
to needs at a specific time.
3.3.4 The Council has in recent years made steps to push procurement activity
towards strategic through the establishment of the Procurement Board,
however, whilst the overall focus of the board was to improve procurement
decisions, it did place a new administrative burden on procurement staff.
3.3.5 Procurement staff are often engaged in low level and transactional work
(quotes, ordering, deliveries etc), these activities do not strictly add value
corporately and divert resources away from assisting on the development of
long term sustainable solutions such as decarbonisation, social value and
commercialisation.

4.0

COMMERCIAL BY DESIGN

4.1

Following internal debate and analysis over the last months, it has been identified that
the core commercial activity within the Local Authority exists within its Procurement
function.

4.2

Several potential areas of commercial development have been identified, but at the
present time the organisation does not have a core commercial capacity to exploit
these opportunities.

4.3

A core recommendation of this report is to build this initial capacity around a
restructured Procurement function which can significantly add additional activities as
it builds maturity.

4.4

This commercial capacity also needs to align with the Council’s Economic
Development function.

Page 143

5.0

DEVELOPING A STRATEGIC COMMERCIAL UNIT

5.1

It is proposed that Council considers delivering a commercial offering based on a four
phase development.

5.2

Phase 1 – Internal structure.

5.3

In order to take procurement and commercial approaches from tactical and onwards
to strategic, the Council must consider
5.3.1 Releasing some of the transactional responsibilities from the existing
procurement structure.
5.3.2 Developing a robust commercial structure including




Recruitment of a commercial manager (already approved)
Recruitment of a data analysis and project officer (commercial
support)
Reinforcing procurement capability through the appointment of a
further dedicated Procurement Professional.

5.4

The Phase 1 proposal will bring together the existing procurement structure and the
new commercial resource into one focussed strategic commercial unit.

5.5

Phase 2 – Internal Reviews/Situation Analysis
5.5.1 This phase is proposed to provide the commercial manager with access to all
services across the council to determine

Cross council exploration of existing service provisions

Taking a broad view on potential opportunities

Making recommendations on discretionary services that may not add value

5.6

Phase 3 – External Review
5.6.1 This phase is looking wider at our collaboration efforts with other public bodies,
third sector partners, RSL’s etc
5.6.2 Looking wider at our spend profile, our suppliers and partners, gauging how we
maximise our services that are delivered either through or with the support of
third parties

5.7

These 3 phases will form part of the initial steps of work required to create a
commercial view of current operations, service delivery, and the wider market.

5.8

The initial phases will then lead towards commercialisation taking a broad approach
to three main areas of work, Asset based initiatives, Value based initiatives and
Competency based initiatives.

5.9

Phase 4 – Economic Regeneration

Page 144

5.10

Over the last 10 Years Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council has developed a
successful Economic Regeneration capacity. This capacity has created several
phases of physical regeneration, especially associated with Merthyr Tydfil Town
Centre, and given an enhanced level of support to local business. Investment in
business start up by the Economic Regeneration team has resulted in an additional
207 new businesses over the last 5 years (44 in the last year).

5.11

This success has been based on accessing large amounts of external grant funding
that is invested in the physical and business infrastructure of the Town. Historically,
the local authority has not received any financial return from this work. The Economic
Regeneration Department does however run a commercial business centre model at
The Orbit, which has generated an annual surplus for the last 5 years.

5.12

Combining a new commercial function with the Councils mature and successful
Economic Development provision will create the opportunity to assess any commercial
investments associated with the ongoing regeneration and economic development
process. This will be subject to a further Council report.

5.13

The development of commercialisation as highlighted in this report are required for the
delivery of the Recovery, Transformation and Improvement plan (RTI Plan). The
scope of commercial projects will impact upon many aspects of council business in the
coming years as we seek to identify and deliver new sustainable income streams.

6.0

FINANCIAL IMPLICATION(S)

6.1

There are financial implications associated with the establishment of the Commercial
Unit. These implications are generally staff costs and are subject to job evaluation.
The following table illustrates the RTI Plan Revenue Investment requirements
Description

2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25
£'000
£'000
£'000
£'000
56
58
59
60

Commercial Manager
Commercial Manager Additional gross staff cost increase in grade
Data and Projects officer
Procurement Officer

6.2

2025/26
£'000
61

5

6

7

8

9

36
41

37
42

38
43

39
44

40
45

The commercial manager post has already been incorporated into the budget from this
financial year.

Page 145

7.0

INTEGRATED IMPACT ASSESSMENT
Positive
Impacts
2 of 4

Negative
Impacts
0 of 4

Neutral/Not
Applicable
2 of 4

5 of 5

0 of 5

0 of 5

0 of 10

0 of 10

10 of 10

0 of 6

0 of 6

6 of 6

Undertaken

Due to be
Undertaken

Not Required

0 of 1

0 of 1

1 of 1

1. Merthyr Tydfil Well-being Objectives
2. Sustainable Development Principles - How
have you considered the five ways of
working?
 Long term
 Prevention
 Integration
 Collaboration
 Involvement
3. Protected Characteristics (including Welsh
Language)
4. Socio-economic Disadvantage

5. Consultation and Engagement

6. Data and Evidence to inform the proposal

7. Biodiversity and the resilience of
Ecosystems

The main negative
impacts are:

No

0 of 1

1 of 1

Maintained Enhanced
0 of 1

Summary
The main positive
impacts are:

Yes

0 of 1

Reduced

Neutral/Not
Applicable

0 of 1

1of 1

The commercial unit will have a far reaching scope in terms of engagement
with regards to economic development and financial resilience and the
commercial unit should positively impact the council’s ability to deliver on
sustainability agendas and decarbonisation.

None

ALYN OWEN
DEPUTY CHIEF EXECUTIVE

COUNCILLOR GERAINT THOMAS
CABINET MEMBER FOR
REGENERATION, TRANSFORMATION
AND COMMERCIALISATION

Page 146

BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of Document(s)

Document(s) Date

Document Location

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s
Constitution?

NO

Consultation has been undertaken with the Corporate Management Team in respect
of each proposal(s) and recommendation(s) set out in this report.

Page 147

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 8
Civic Centre, Castle Street,
Merthyr Tydfil CF47 8AN
Main Tel: 01685 725000

www.merthyr.gov.uk

FULL COUNCIL REPORT
Date Written
Report Author
Service Area
Exempt/Non Exempt
Committee Date

5th March 2021
Andrew Taylor/Robert Barnett
Neighbourhood Services (Parks)
Non Exempt
24th March 2021

To: Mayor, Ladies and Gentlemen

Tree Policy
1.0

SUMMARY OF THE REPORT

1.1

Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council is responsible for the management of all trees
growing on its land including street trees, trees on public open spaces and in
woodlands. By law, the Council is required to manage and undertake work to any tree
that constitutes a statutory nuisance and, to discharge this duty, has a programme of
inspection and maintenance works aimed at keeping the population safe from harm
and preserving the health and future wellbeing of its tree stock.

1.2

Trees are an important part of the environment bringing many health and social
benefits, the Council is committed to maintaining, and where possible increasing the
level of tree cover across Merthyr Tydfil. There are, however, a number of conflicts
that may arise where the Council’s trees are located close to neighbouring properties;
the aim of this policy is to set out the Council’s stance in dealing with these conflicts
and to clarify the Councils legal obligations.

1.3

Once adopted the tree policy (at Appendix 1) will ensure that all tree related queries
are dealt with in a fair, transparent, and consistent way and will aid the resolution of
conflicts between the public and the local authority. It will act as a framework for
Officers and Councillors alike and will ensure efficient use of the Council’s resources.

1.4

The report was considered by the Planning & Neighbourhood Services Scrutiny
committee on the 1st March 2021.

2.0

RECOMMENDATIONS that

2.1

The new tree policy be approved.

Page 149

3.0

INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

3.1

Many local authorities across the United Kingdom have their own individual tree
policies that dictate what tree works they are legally bound to investigate and what
work they need to carry out.

3.2

The policy will be a guide to individuals/Officers and Councillors and state the legal
requirements of works for the local authority and clearly indicate whether the tree work
should be undertaken.

3.3

The local authority receives many complains/requests about trees each year, many
are neither a legal requirement nor a priority. This in turn dilutes available resources
and is effectively allowing unnecessary works to be completed and priority safety
works being left unchecked.

4.0

CURRENT WORKING PRACTICES

4.1

MTCBC currently receives a high number of public complaints regarding trees
reported through various means. A proportion of these requests/complaints are not
justified or a legal responsibility of the local authority. The volume of these unvalidated complaints significantly affects the level of service due to time spent
responding to correspondence, assessing, and sometimes completing the works.
Thus, taking time away from priority or safety issues.

4.2

MTCBC has always responded to complaints on a reactive basis and these have not
always been dealt with by fully assessing the individual issues or merits of each case.
The emphasis was on trying to deal with the complaint without fully assessing the
priority or legal responsibility of the Council. This on occasions has led to inefficient
use of the Council’s limited resources and has not been in the interests of the Council’s
priorities or protection of the environment.

4.3

If approved the policy will become the ‘go to’ guide when dealing with problematic
trees. It will provide a free readily available framework for Staff, Officers, and
Councillors as well as a useful information source to the public. It will be made
available via the Council’s web site and to Staff and Councillors via the intranet pages.

5.0

FINANCIAL IMPLICATION(S)

5.1

There are no financial implications.

Page 150

6.0

INTEGRATED IMPACT ASSESSMENT

1. Merthyr Tydfil Well-being Objectives
2. Sustainable Development Principles - How
have you considered the five ways of
working?
 Long term
 Prevention
 Integration
 Collaboration
 Involvement
3. Protected Characteristics (including Welsh
Language)

Positive
Impacts
4 of 4

Negative
Impacts
0 of 4

Neutral/Not
Applicable
0 of 4

5 of 5

0 of 5

0 of 5

0 of 10

0 of 10

10 of 10

0 of 6

0 of 6

6 of 6

Undertaken

Due to be
Undertaken

Not Required

0 of 1

0 of 1

1 of 1

4. Socio-economic Disadvantage

5. Consultation and Engagement

6. Data and Evidence to inform the proposal

7. Biodiversity and the resilience of
Ecosystems

The main negative
impacts are:

No

1 of 1

0 of 1

Maintained Enhanced
1 of 1

Summary
The main positive
impacts are:

Yes

0 of 1

Reduced

Neutral/Not
Applicable

0 of 1

0 of 1

On Biodiversity, use of data and the Merthyr Tydfil Wellbeing objectives
None.

JUDITH JONES
CHIEF OFFICER PLANNING &
NEIGHBOURHOOD SERVICES

COUNCILLOR DAVID HUGHES
CABINET MEMBER FOR PLANNING &
NEIGHBOURHOOD SERVICES

Page 151

BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of Document(s)

Document(s) Date

Document Location

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s
Constitution?

No

Consultation has been undertaken with the Corporate Management Team in respect
of each proposal(s) and recommendation(s) set out in this report.

Page 152

Appendix. 1
Copy of proposed Tree Policy and Guidance.

Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council
Tree Policy

Guidance on problems associated with
Council owned trees

Page 153

CONTENTS
Introduction

3

1 Common Law Rights

3

2 Maintenance of Council trees
2.1 Street Trees
2.2 Parks and Public Open Spaces
2.3 Tree Felling
2.4 Tree Pruning

4
4
4
4

3 Unsafe trees
3.1 Unsafe trees requiring immediate action
3.2 Trees NOT requiring immediate action
3.3 Unsafe trees in private ownership
3.3.1. Trees NOT within falling distance of the public highway
3.3.2. Trees WITHIN falling distance of the public highway

5
5
5
5
6

4 General works to council trees which are NOT required by law
4.1 Tree Touching a Building
4.2 Tree Overhanging Property
4.3 Tree Roots and Drains
4.4 Trees Blocking Natural Light
4.5 Trees Blocking Views
4.6 Leaf Fall from Trees
4.7 Sap from Trees
4.8 Blossom from Trees
4.9 Bird Droppings from Trees
4.10 Fruit, Berries and Nuts from Trees
4.11 Wildlife and Insects in Trees
4.12 Satellite, Television Reception Blocked by Trees
4.13 Security Cameras and Sensors Blocked by Trees
4.14 Solar Collectors and Panels Obscured by Trees
4.15 Wires and Trees
4.16 Tree Considered Too Large
4.17 Vandalism to Trees
4.18 Anti-social Behaviour and Trees
4.19 Claims of Subsidence caused by Trees

6
6
6
6
7
7
7
7
7
8
8
8
8
8
9
9
9
9
10

5 Trees affecting the Public Highway
5.1 Tree Obstructing the Highway
5.2 Line of Sight Obscured by Trees
5.3 Signal and Signage obscured by Trees
5.4 Street Light Obscured by Tree
5.5 Pavement Obstructed by Trees

10
10
10
11
11

Page 154

INTRODUCTION
Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council is responsible for the management of all trees growing
on its land including street trees, trees on public open spaces and in woodlands. By law, the
Council is required to manage and undertake work to any tree that constitutes a statutory
nuisance and, in order to discharge this duty, has a programme of inspection and
maintenance works aimed at keeping the population safe from harm and preserving the
health and future wellbeing of its tree stock.
Trees are an important part of the environment bringing many health and social benefits to
the district and the Council is committed to maintaining – and where possible increasing –
the level of tree cover across Merthyr Tydfil. There are, however, a number of conflicts that
may arise where the Council’s trees are located close to neighbouring properties and the aim
of this guide is to set out the Council’s policies in dealing with these conflicts and to clarify
the Councils legal obligations to deal with these issues.
1. Common Law Rights
In the British legal system, Common Law refers to laws that have been developed through
precedent set by similar cases as opposed to being created through legislative statutes.
Under British Common Law Rights, you have a right to remove (abate) the nuisance
associated with trees encroaching onto your property. The following advice with respect to
encroaching trees is given for general guidance only. You are advised to obtain independent
legal advice before acting:
a) You can only consider removing those parts of the tree from the point where they
cross the boundary of your property. You must not go beyond your property
boundary without the permission of the tree owner. You have no legal right to cut or
remove any part of a tree that does not overhang your property. Any work that you
do carry out must be done at your own expense and without unauthorised access to
council land. Merthyr Council has no liability to reimburse any associated costs. If
your actions render a tree to be unsafe you may be liable for any subsequent
damage that results from tree failure.
b) You are strongly advised to consult a professional tree surgeon for guidance on how
best to prune back encroaching trees, unless the works are trivial meaning you could
do the works with hand secateurs or similar.
c) You are strongly advised to tell the owner of the trees what you plan to do. You can
find out if the trees are owned by the Council sending an email to
estates.department@merthyr.gov.uk
d) Before you consider doing any works to the trees you should find out if they are
protected by a Tree Preservation Order or if they are in a Conservation Area. If trees
are protected, then you will need to gain consent by making an application / give
notice to the Council. For guidance on how to check if the trees are protected and
how to make an application visit
https://www.merthyr.gov.uk/resident/planning-and-building-control/treepreservation-orders/

Page 155

2. Maintenance of Council trees
The importance of trees as a component of green Infrastructure cannot be understated, The
Council has a duty under the Environment (Wales) Act 2016 to maintain and enhance for
biodiversity, therefore the maintenance of trees is more than simply to reduce the risk of harm
to people and property it is also to maintain their health as living, functioning contributors to
a clean and natural environment. While it is important to maintain to an acceptable level and
to discharge the Councils duties under law in dealing with a statutory nuisance, the health
and likely longevity of trees should be of equal importance. Tree maintenance may on
occasions be undertaken for other reasons, but this is at the discretion of the Council’s Parks
department.
The Council adheres to environmental and ecological policies as the law requires, specifically
relating to the Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981 (as amended) and the Conservation of
Habitats and Species Regulations 2017.
Further information regarding the Councils environmental policies can be found
https://www.merthyr.gov.uk/media/5642/replacement-ldp-written-statement-final-compositeversion-140120.pdf
2.1 Street Trees
Street trees are a valuable part of our urban landscape, and the county council will maintain
and enhance this urban forest for the benefit of present and future generations.
Many of our street trees are now mature and each year some are lost due to age, condition
and as a result of highway and infrastructure improvements. Many of these are not replaced,
but where resources are available, the county council will replant new trees to reverse the
decline of our urban tree population – more often in grassed verges, which are more suited
to tree growth.
2.2 Parks and public open spaces
Trees in parks and public open spaces are managed to reflect the circumstances of the site
and their type, age and condition. Trees in parks generally have more room to grow compared
to street trees and usually grow to their full height and spread.
Ongoing maintenance includes removing dead wood, formative pruning (to remove problems
in tree form when the tree is young so avoiding expensive problems later), removing low
branches from pathways and removing trees when they come to the end of their safe and
useful life. Available resources will be used to plant new trees where a need has been
identified. Where management plans do not exist, trees will be selected and sited to
complement and enhance the park or green space and to maintain tree cover in these areas.

2.3 Tree Felling

Page 156

Tree removal is regrettable, but necessary under a number of circumstances. The decision
to remove a tree is not taken lightly. Trees are usually felled because it is best option to
reduce the risk of harm to an acceptable level (e.g. dead, dying or diseased trees).
There are other circumstances where trees may be felled and these are mostly at the
discretion of the county council’s Parks department, such as where:
o A tree has been proven to be causing subsidence.
o The removal of a tree would benefit surrounding trees.
o It is the requirement of a management plan to enhance the development of
neighbouring trees.
If a removal and replacement programme is planned for street trees, residents on the street
will be consulted. New trees will be replanted that are suitable to the location.

2.4 Tree Pruning
Substantial pruning of a tree can often weaken its structure, and should therefore be avoided
for reasons other than reducing risk of harm to people or property. Pruning for any other
reasons would be exceptional and at the discretion of the county council’s Parks department.
3. Unsafe Trees
3.1 Unsafe Trees - Requiring Immediate Action
If a Council owned tree is in such a condition that it poses a very high risk to people or
property, the county council will attend the site as an emergency as soon as is reasonably
practicable. If work cannot be completed, areas at risk will be cordoned off until resources
are available.
Signs to look for which may mean that a tree is in such condition to warrant immediate
emergency action include:
a) Tree is snapped or blown over
b) Tree uprooted but held up by another tree or building
c) A large branch has broken off or is hanging off the tree
d) Tree or branch is blocking the road or footpath
e) Tree or branch is blocking access to property
f) Tree may, or has fallen onto house or car
Signs to look out for which may mean that a tree is a risk to people or property, but the risk
does not require an emergency response:
a) Tree is dead
b) Tree is dying - few leaves in summer or dieback in the crown
c) Bark is loose and falling off
d) Mushrooms or fungi growing on or near the tree
e) Old splits and cracks in the trunk or large branches
f) Smaller branches or twigs falling from the tree
Trees can be made safe via pruning or felling. Typically, we would employ the most costeffective approach. But, for certain high value trees we would consider other options to reduce
risk to an acceptable level including options to reduce the likelihood of the tree failing or the
likelihood of persons being close to the tree if it did fail.
3.2 Trees - Not Requiring Immediate Action

Page 157

Trees that are perceived as high risk but present no immediate risk to the public will be made
safe depending on the level of risk identified at the time of inspection.
3.3 Unsafe trees in Private Ownership
3.3.1 Trees NOT within falling distance of the public highway
Danger posed by trees between private parties is principally a matter for such parties to
resolve. The Local Authority has powers to require a private individual to make safe a tree
that poses an imminent danger via the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act
1976. It is expected that private parties will take care of their own responsibilities and hence
the Council should not be considered as the first point of contact in attempting to resolve
concerns about the danger posed by trees in private ownership. However, the county council
may intervene according to the powers given in the Act if an owner of such trees fails to act
in a reasonable timescale (timescales depend upon the degree of risk presented) and may
recover from the tree owner the expenses reasonably incurred by it in so doing.
3.3.2 Trees WITHIN falling distance of the public highway
If a tree in private ownership is shown to be a danger to the highway, it will be identified for
work to make it reasonably safe. The land owner will be contacted and instructed to make
the tree safe under the Highways Act 1980. If it is necessary that the county council
undertakes this work then we may intervene according to the powers given in the Act if an
owner of such trees fails to act in a reasonable timescale (timescales depend upon the degree
of risk presented) and may recover from the tree owner the expenses reasonably incurred by
it in so doing.
4. General works to Council Trees, which are NOT required by Law
Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council follows the following policies when considering
requests for work which it is not required to undertake by law;
4.1 Tree Touching a Building
If a tree that is owned or managed by the Council is touching private property (dwelling,
house, garage etc.), then we will take action to remove the nuisance by the most appropriate
means.
In many cases the solution will be for the local authority to prune the tree, but in some
circumstances it may be more appropriate to fell the tree. If pruning is appropriate we will
endeavour to undertake works to stop the problem re-occurring within three years.
4.2 Tree Overhanging Property
We will not prune or fell any tree owned or managed by MTCBC to alleviate the nuisance of
branches overhanging private property (see section 1).
Non-statutory nuisance caused by overhanging branches may be considered as part of our
general tree work programme. However, this programme is discretional and subject to the
availability of funding.
4.3 Tree Roots and Drains
We will not prune, fell or cut the roots of a tree that is owned or managed by MTCBC to
prevent roots entering private drains that are already broken or damaged. Tree roots typically
enter drains that are already broken or damaged. Trees themselves very rarely break or
damage the drain in the first place. Tree roots found in a drain are usually symptomatic of an
underlying problem requiring repair of the broken pipe. If you are concerned about the
condition of your drains then you are advised to contact your water and sewerage company.

Page 158

Householders are often responsible for the maintenance of the drains within or on their
property.
4.4 Trees Blocking Natural Light
We will not prune or fell any tree owned or managed by MTCBC to improve natural light to
private property unless it is required by a court order to do so.
Where trees growing naturally within the environment are blocking light into a property there
is no legal “right to light”. The tree owner is not by law obliged or required to carry out work
to the tree(s) for the benefit of level of light to a third party, unless the third party has brought
a successful action through the courts demonstrating that a “right to light” exists.
If natural light is being blocked by the growth of a predominantly evergreen hedge then action
may be taken to reduce the problem under the High Hedges Act, Part 8 of the Antisocial
Behaviour Act, 2003.
Further information should be sought through the Council’s Planning department at
Planning@merthyr.go.uk
4.5 Trees Blocking Views
We will not prune or fell a tree, or group of trees owned or managed by MTCBC to improve
the view from private property (including properties managed by registered social landlords
such as Merthyr Valley Homes Ltd).
4.6 Leaf Fall from Trees
We will not prune or fell a tree owned or managed by MTCBC to remove or reduce leaf fall
or remove fallen leaves from private property.
The loss of leaves from trees in the autumn is part of the natural cycle and cannot be avoided
by pruning. The falling of leaves onto a neighbouring property is not regarded in law as a
statutory nuisance.
4.7 Sap from Trees
We will not prune or fell a tree owned or managed by MTCBC to prevent or reduce honeydew
or other sticky residue falling onto private property.
Honeydew is caused by greenfly (aphids) feeding on the sap from the leaves and excreting
their sugary, sticky waste. Unfortunately, there is little that can be done to remove the aphid
which causes the problem and pruning the tree may only offer temporary relief and any regrowth is often more likely to be colonised by greenfly thereby potentially increasing the
problem. Some trees, such as Limes, are more prone to attack by greenfly and in some years,
greenfly are more common especially following a mild winter. Honeydew is a natural and
seasonal problem. Where new trees are planted, we try to choose trees that are less likely to
have this problem. Where honeydew affects cars, warm soapy water will remove the
substance, particularly if you wash the car as soon as possible.
4.8 Blossom from Trees
We will not prune or fell any tree owned or managed by the MTCBC to remove or reduce
blossom fall from trees or remove fallen blossom from private land.
Tree blossom usually heralds the start of spring. Blossom is a natural occurrence, which
cannot be avoided by pruning and is not regarded in law as a statutory nuisance.

4.9 Bird Droppings from Trees
We will not prune or fell any tree owned or managed by MTCBC to remove or reduce bird
droppings from the tree or remove bird droppings from private land or property.

Page 159

Bird droppings may be a seasonal nuisance, but the problem is not considered to be a
sufficient reason to prune or remove a tree. Nesting birds are protected under the Wildlife
and Countryside Act 1981 (and other related wildlife law). Warm soapy water will usually be
sufficient to remove the bird droppings.
4.10 Fruit, Berries & Nuts from Trees
We will not prune or fell any tree owned or managed by MTCBC to remove or reduce the
occurrence of fruit, berries or nuts falling onto footways or private land.
Fruit trees such as apple, cherry and pear are welcomed in many locations with the added
benefit of providing free food. When considering what tree to plant we do take account of the
likelihood of such problems. Equally, where fruit trees are established but there is a significant
anti-social behaviour problem caused by the throwing of fruit or nuts, we may consider
phased removal and replacement with more suitable species.
4.11 Wildlife and Insects in Trees
We will not prune or fell any tree owned or managed by MTCBC to remove or reduce
incidence of Bees, Wasps and other insects or wild animals.
Bees are protected species and advice should be taken before considering their removal.
You may be able to dispose of individual wasps using an aerosol insect-repellent spray, but
this will not control or eliminate the nest itself. Ideally, the whole nest should be destroyed.
This can be achieved with great caution, but it is far safer to use pest control experts. The
Council provides a charged service for removing certain pest species. Please contact 01685
725482 to talk to Environmental Health.
4.12 Satellite, Television and Other Communications Reception Blocked by Trees
We will not prune or fell any tree owned or managed by MTCBC to enable or ease installation
or improve reception of satellite or television receivers.
It maybe that your satellite or TV provider will be able to suggest an alternative solution to
the problem, for example relocating the aerial/dish or means to boost the signal. Please note
that MTCBC will not reimburse costs associated with relocating a TV aerial or satellite dish.
4.13 Security Cameras/Sensors Blocked by Trees
We will not prune or fell any tree owned or managed by MTCBC to improve the range or
vision of security cameras or similar sensor equipment unless requested to do so by an
appropriate statutory authority e.g. the Police, on the grounds of public safety.
Security of premises is the responsibility of the owner and any system should be installed in
such a way as to avoid interference from or with adjoining trees.
4.14 Solar Collectors and Panels Obscured by Trees
We will not prune or fell any tree owned or managed by MTCBC to improve the performance
of Solar Water Heating Collectors or Solar Panels such as Photovoltaic Cells.
Whilst we appreciate that, there is a need to provide renewable energy resources. Trees
have an important role in maintaining and improving local amenity, in addition to contributing
to local and national targets in tackling climate change. The presence of trees must be fully
appreciated when considering a suitable location for the placement of solar collectors and
panels.
4.15 Wires and Trees

Page 160

We will not fell any tree owned or managed by MTCBC to remove or reduce interference with
telephone wires. However, there may be instances where we will undertake works to prune
trees and reduce interference where pruning would be an effective measure.
Your telephone service provider may be able to suggest an alternative solution to the
problem. However, wires do and can run through trees with little or no effect. Service
providers will often install the wires after the tree has been planted. Power cables are not
maintained by the local Authority and therefore works will not be actioned upon trees
interfering with power lines. Instead, the provider – Western Power should be contacted.
4.16 Tree Considered Too Large
We will not prune or fell any tree owned or managed MTCBC because it is considered to be
'too big' or 'too tall'.
A tree is not dangerous simply because it may be considered too big for its surroundings.
Other problems would need to be present, such as those described in earlier sections in order
for the MTCBC to consider it dangerous. MTCBC does not recognise “Crown reduction”
“lopping” “topping” or “pollarding” as a general form of management of its trees. Such work
can be detrimental to the health and future safety of trees and are only undertaken in
exceptional cases.
4.17 Vandalism to Trees
We will investigate any reports of vandalism to any tree owned or managed by MTCBC and
use enforcement and legal action to bring about the prosecution of offenders. Vandalism
includes wanton damage of newly planted trees and any unauthorised pruning felling or
similar work to mature trees.
You are not allowed to remove living material from MTCBC land without consent and
unauthorised persons are not allowed to use a chainsaw of any type in parks, public open
spaces or other Council land. If you see someone who may be removing living material
without consent (i.e. a person not associated with a relevant sign written vehicle and / or
without clothing that clearly identifies who they are) or they are using a chainsaw, please
telephone Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council Direct on 01685 725000.
4.18 Anti-social Behaviour and Trees
Where any tree owned or managed by MTCBC is associated with criminal activity or antisocial behaviour, measures to reduce the problem will be considered on a site by site basis.
Where a tree is associated with criminal activity and/or anti-social behaviour, steps to reduce
the problem will typically require the coordination of a number of agencies including the
police. Just pruning or felling a tree is not always the answer to the problem. Some research
shows that areas with lots of trees actually help to make places safer. However, neglected
spaces with overgrown trees and untidy areas can encourage criminal activity and/or antisocial behaviour. MTCBC’s tree and grounds maintenance programme tries to improve these
areas by making the local environment cleaner, greener and safer.

Page 161

4.19 Claims of Subsidence Caused by Tree
MTCBC will rigorously identify and defend any claims that are presumed to be either bogus
or false.
If you believe that your property is legitimately suffering subsidence damage due to the action
of trees owned or managed by MTCBC (or that you are concerned about potential damage)
you are advised to contact your property insurer (private ownership) or a representative for
your registered social landlord if you rent the property in the first instance so that you may
discuss your concerns and agree an appropriate course of action. Should you, or those
acting on your behalf, wish to make a claim for damages against the Council, alleging that a
MTCBC owned/managed tree is causing subsidence damage, then you will be required to
submit an independent report to MTCBC’s insurance department directly via email to
customer.care@merthyr.go.uk.

5. Trees affecting the Public Highway
5.1 Tree obstructing the Highway
We will undertake work to trees owned or managed by MTCBC to maintain a minimum 5.2
metres height clearance over the carriageway (associated with a street, road or highway) or
at a height deemed suitable by the Highway Authority for the road conditions.
If a privately owned tree is causing an obstruction to a road, powers exist under the Highways
Act to make the owner of the tree remove the obstruction. If they do not, the Council could
enforce this work and recharge the owner.
5.2 Line of Sight Obscured by Trees
We will undertake work to trees owned or managed by MTCBC to maintain clear lines of sight
for traffic and pedestrians at junctions and access points (associated with a street, road or
highway).
Standards for visibility vary according to the class and speed limit in force. If a privately owned
tree is causing an obstruction to the visibility at a road junction (sight line), powers exist under
the Highways Act to make the owner of the tree remove the obstruction. If they do not,
MTCBC may enforce work and may subsequently recharge the owner of the tree. The shoots
that grow from the base of some trees in MTCBC’s ownership such as lime trees are removed
as part of our tree maintenance programme, The removal of basal shoots for aesthetic
reasons is done as and when funds allow or when it is necessary to inspect the base of a
tree.
5.3 Signal and Signage Obscured by Trees
We will undertake work to trees owned or managed by MTCBC to maintain clear lines of sight
for traffic signals and street signage (associated with a street, road or highway).
A tree should not obstruct the vision of an approaching driver. If a privately owned tree is
causing an obstruction to a traffic signal or street sign, powers exist under the Highways Act
to make the owner remove the obstruction. If they do not, MTCBC will do the work and
recharge the owner.

5.4 Street Light Obscured by Trees
We will undertake work to trees owned or managed by MTCBC to ensure that street lights
are not substantially blocked by the presence of trees.
If a privately owned tree is causing an obstruction to street light, powers exist under the
Highways Act to make them remove the obstruction. If they do not, MTCBC will do the work
and recharge the owner.

Page 162

5.5 Pavement Obstructed by Tree
We will undertake work to trees owned or managed by MTCBC to maintain a minimum 2.5
metres height clearance over a footpath associated with a street, road or highway, and 3
metres where there are cycling rights. Any works necessary to prevent an obstruction to the
width of a footpath associated with the highway due to the presence of a MTCBC owned tree
will be considered on a case-by- case basis.
If a privately owned tree is causing an obstruction to a footpath associated with the highway,
powers exist under the Highways Act to make the owner of the tree remove the obstruction.
If they do not, MTCBC will do this work and re-charge the owner. The majority of trees
alongside public rights of way (PROW) will be on private land; where there is a bridleway, the
clearance required is 4m.

Page 163

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 9
Civic Centre, Castle Street,
Merthyr Tydfil CF47 8AN
Main Tel: 01685 725000

www.merthyr.gov.uk

FULL COUNCIL REPORT
Date Written
Report Author
Service Area
Exempt/Non Exempt
Committee Date

1st June 2021
Robert Barnett
Neighbourhood Services
Non Exempt
16the June 2021

To: Mayor, Ladies and Gentlemen

Appointment of Tree Officer
1.0

SUMMARY OF THE REPORT

1.1

The Local Authority is responsible for the management of trees on land which it owns,
systems for protected trees via Tree Preservation Orders and, to some extent,
dangerous trees on other persons land.

1.2

In view of the current Ash Dieback situation and the amount of work associated with it
there is a requirement for the Council to have a dedicated permanent tree officer.

2.0

RECOMMENDATIONS that

2.1

The Appointment of a permanent tree officer be approved.

3.0

INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

3.1

The safety of trees is the responsibility of the owner of the land on which they grow.
The tree owner or manager has a ‘common law’ duty of care to ‘Take reasonable care
to avoid acts or omissions which they can reasonable foresee would be likely to injure
their neighbour’. Tree owners also have a duty under the occupier’s liability Acts to
take reasonable steps to ensure visitors on their land are safe.

3.2

Ash dieback is proving to be a major ongoing safety issue for the council. It is estimated
that a 5-year management plan to mitigate the risks could cost up to an estimated
£2,000,000, this will include felling diseased trees, replanting and increased surveying
to highlight issues and prioritise works.

Page 165

3.3

Under the current departmental structure there are two arborists dealing with all tree
work for the Council. Presently, one of these has been seconded to provide safety
inspections and to manage the amount of work associated with Ash Dieback Disease,
this position has been backfilled with existing staff.

3.4

This increase in workload from Ash Dieback and our obligations under the
Environment Act (Wales) 2016 and the Occupiers’ Liability act 1957 mean that we
need to proactively manage our tree stock and the risks associated with them. Under
the current arrangement tree surveys have been facilitated under a secondment of an
existing parks operative. However, these surveys have highlighted the extent of the
work ahead and in order to reduce the level of risk to the Authority, the management
of this work will require a permanent officer.
It is proposed to make the current secondment arrangement a permanent one and to
then back fill the vacant position this leaves.

By having a dedicated tree officer we will ensure we are inspecting and maintaining
our tree stock in line with best practice and HSE guidelines and protecting the public
from harm and the Council from insurance claims and adverse publicity. Under current
guidance, we should be inspecting our trees in line with the following.





Cemeteries – 3 yearly
Highways – 3 yearly
Schools – annually (at least initially) there are 1300 mature trees within
school boundaries.
Parks – annually

3.5

Currently the Parks Department reactively manage trees that have fallen or have
become a health and safety issue. The consequences of this is that there are no
processes or adequate system in place to clearly demonstrate compliance with
legislation and provide an auditable trail.

3.6

As well as dealing with managing the council’s risk in relation to trees the tree officer
post will also deal with the following:








Compliance and management of the council’s tree preservation orders (TPO)
Deal with external contractors (Ash dieback works)
Project manage the council’s Ash Dieback Action Plan (ADAP).
Day to day management of the Council’s arborists.
Dealing with complaints and queries relating to trees
Advise on planning applications for works to trees.
Tree conservation, re-planting of trees lost to Ash Dieback and government
initiatives such as the Queen’s Green Canopy.

Page 166

4.0

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

4.1

The post has been evaluated at a grade 7. In order to make the tree officer a
permanent position an annual increase in the parks budget of £45,757 (including on
costs) is required.

5.0

INTEGRATED IMPACT ASSESSMENT

1. Merthyr Tydfil Well-being Objectives
2. Sustainable Development Principles How have you considered the five
ways of working?
 Long term
 Prevention
 Integration
 Collaboration
 Involvement
3. Protected Characteristics (including
Welsh Language)

Positive
Impacts
4 of 4

Negative
Impacts
0 of 4

Neutral/Not
Applicable
0 of 4

5 of 5

0 of 5

0 of 5

0 of 10

0 of 10

10 of 10

2 of 6

0 of 6

4 of 6

Undertaken

Due to be
Undertaken

Not Required

1 of 1

0 of 1

0 of 1

4. Socio-economic Disadvantage

5. Consultation and Engagement

6. Data and Evidence to inform the
proposal

7. Biodiversity and the resilience of
Ecosystems

The main negative
impacts are:

No

0 of 1

1 of 1

Maintained Enhanced
0 of 1

Summary
The main positive
impacts are:

Yes

1 of 1

Reduced

Neutral/Not
Applicable

0 of 1

0 of 1

Safer public open spaces, the council is protected from litigation

None

Page 167

JUDITH JONES
CHIEF OFFICER PLANNING &
NEIGHBOURHOOD SERVICES

COUNCILLOR DAVID HUGHES
CABINET MEMBER FOR PLANNING &
NEIGHBOURHOOD SERVICES

BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of Document(s)

Document(s) Date

Document Location

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s
Constitution?

No

Consultation has been undertaken with the Corporate Management Team in respect
of each proposal(s) and recommendation(s) set out in this report.

Page 168

Agenda Item 10
Civic Centre, Castle Street,
Merthyr Tydfil CF47 8AN
Main Tel: 01685 725000

www.merthyr.gov.uk

FULL COUNCIL REPORT
Date Written
Report Author
Service Area
Exempt/Non Exempt
Committee Date

21st May 2021
Judith Jones
Neighbourhood Services
Non Exempt
16th June 2021

To: Mayor, Ladies and Gentlemen

Wales Probation Service
1.0

SUMMARY OF THE REPORT

1.1

The Council’s Street Scene service have been in discussion with the Wales
Probation Service in relation to participating in their Community Payback (CP)
service.

1.2

Community Payback is a sentence of the court that requires people to carry out a set
number of hours of work for the benefit of local communities. CP is also rehabilitative
and enables people to payback for their offending, build self esteem and learn new
skills.

1.3

It is intended that the CP users will work 3 days a week and will carry out tasks such
as prepping and painting railings, weeding, grass cutting and strimming, litter picking
and bin emptying.

1.4

Wales Probation Service seek an annual contribution towards the cost of supervision
of the placement, transporting the service users, tools and equipment amounting to
£21,000 (ex VAT)

2.0

RECOMMENDATIONS that

2.1

The annual contribution of £21k (ex VAT) to the Wales Probation Service in return
for use of their Community Payback service, be approved.

Page 169

3.0

INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

3.1

The Council’s Street Scene service has been in discussion with the Wales Probation
Service in relation to participating in their Community Payback (CP) service in the
areas of Cemeteries and Grounds maintenance.

3.2

CP is a sentence of the court that requires people to carry out a set number of hours
of work for the benefit of the local community. CP is also rehabilitative and enables
people to payback for their offending, build self esteem and learn new skills.

3.3

The intention is that we enter into a Service Level Agreement with the Wales
Probation Service for them to provide individuals 3 days a week to carry out
specified tasks within Cemeteries and Grounds Maintenance. A CP co-ordinator will
be responsible for liaising with the Street Scene Manager, and it is acknowledged
that as the Probation Service have no control over the number of people sentenced,
the numbers and skill level are constantly changing and there may be occasions
when they cannot meet all elements of the agreement.

3.4

Wales Probation Services will always seek a contribution towards the cost of
supervision of the placement, transporting the service users to and from the
placement, or towards the use of tools and equipment.

4.0

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

4.1

In order to introduce the Community Payback service, an increase of £21k (ex VAT)
to the Street Scene service budget is required, to be contributed to the Wales
Probation Service.

5.0

INTEGRATED IMPACT ASSESSMENT

1. Merthyr Tydfil Well-being Objectives
2. Sustainable Development Principles - How
have you considered the five ways of
working?
 Long term
 Prevention
 Integration
 Collaboration
 Involvement
3. Protected Characteristics (including Welsh
Language)

Positive
Impacts
3 of 4

Negative
Impacts
0 of 4

Neutral/Not
Applicable
1of 4

5 of 5

0 of 5

0 of 5

0 of 10

0 of 10

10 of 10

0 of 6

0 of 6

6 of 6

4. Socio-economic Disadvantage

5. Consultation and Engagement

Undertaken
0 of 1

Page 170

Due to be
Undertaken
0 of 1

Not Required

1 of 1
6. Data and Evidence to inform the proposal

7. Biodiversity and the resilience of
Ecosystems

Yes

No

0 of 1

1 of 1

Maintained Enhanced
1 of 1

Summary
The main positive
impacts are:

The main negative
impacts are:

0 of 1

Reduced

Neutral/Not
Applicable

0 of 1

0 of 1

The contribution to the Wellbeing objectives, the Sustainable development
principles, and Biodiversity and the resilience of Ecosystems

None identified.

JUDITH JONES
CHIEF OFFICER PLANNING &
NEIGHBOURHOOD SERVICES

COUNCILLOR DAVID HUGHES
CABINET MEMBER FOR PLANNING &
NEIGHBOURHOOD SERVICES

BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of Document(s)

Document(s) Date

Document Location

None
Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s
Constitution?

No

Consultation has been undertaken with the Corporate Management Team in respect
of each proposal(s) and recommendation(s) set out in this report.

Page 171

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 11
Civic Centre, Castle Street,
Merthyr Tydfil CF47 8AN
Main Tel: 01685 725000

www.merthyr.gov.uk

FULL COUNCIL REPORT
Date Written
Report Author
Service Area
Non Exempt
Committee Date

4th June 2021
Fran Donnelly
Human Resources
Non Exempt
16th June 2021

To: Mayor, Ladies and Gentlemen

APPOINTMENT OF DEPUTY CHIEF EXECUTIVE
1.0

SUMMARY OF THE REPORT

1.1

This report seeks approval to implement shortlisting and interview arrangements to
appoint a new Deputy Chief Executive, which needs to occur prior to the
secondment terminating for the Interim Deputy Chief Executive on the 22nd October
2021. In response to the Coronavirus Covid-19 emergency, the shortlisting and
interview timetable will be flexible with most of the process being completed virtually.

1.2

Delegated authority is sought for the Head of Human Resources & Organisational
Development, Pensions and Payroll to determine the recruitment timetable and any
changes that may be required to be made to the interview panels in consultation with
the Leader and Cabinet Member for Governance and Corporate Services.

1.3

The final appointment decision will be determined at Council.

2.0

RECOMMENDATIONS that

2.1

The shortlisting and interview arrangements to appoint a new Deputy Chief
Executive be approved.

2.2

The granting of Delegated authority to the Head of Human Resources &
Organisational Development, Pensions and Payroll to determine the recruitment
timetable and any changes that may be required to be made to the interview panels
in consultation with the Leader and Cabinet Member for Governance and Corporate
Services be approved.

Page 173

3.0

INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

3.1

Members will be aware that following the departure of the previous Chief Executive
in 2019 the Council agreed to make the roles of Chief Executive and Deputy Chief
Executive interim in status on internal secondments. This applied directly to Ellis
Cooper, who was appointed as Interim Chief Executive at the Full Council meeting
held on 11 September 2019 and to Alyn Owen appointed as Interim Deputy Chief
Executive on 23 October 2019. These internal secondments were extended at a Full
Council meeting held on the 9th September 2020 to the 12 September 2021 and the
24 October 2021.

3.2

The Chief Executive appointment was made by Council on the 16th June 2021,
leaving the substantive post of Deputy Chief Executive vacant.

3.3

The Council’s Constitution sets out that the full Council will appoint the Deputy Chief
Executive however such appointment is likely to be based on a shortlist and
feedback from an initial interview undertaken by a panel (such panel to be appointed
by Council) advised by the Head of Human Resources.

3.4

The Local Authorities Standing Orders (Wales) Amendment Regulations 2014 set
out the requirement for local authorities to advertise all vacant posts with a
remuneration package that exceeds £100k per annum. The salary that currently
applies to the post of Deputy Chief Executive is £98,412 per annum (subject to any
national pay award that may be agreed and applied).

4.0

RECRUITMENT PROGRAMME / TIMETABLE

4.1

The following activities will be required to be performed during the recruitment
process and be clearly set out in a programme/recruitment timetable.
Activity
Recruitment up to closing date, including:
 Briefing meeting
 Design of recruitment timetable
 Advertise role
Recruitment process from sifting to Short-List Meeting, including:
 Application sifting and recommendations
 Short-List Meeting
 Standing down/feedback to unsuccessful applicants, notifying
successful candidates
Recruitment process from shortlisting to Final Interviews
 Candidate invitations to final panel Interview
 Timetabling of Final Interviews
 Electronic Final Panel Pack
 Design of Final Panel presentation
 Suggested Final Panel questions
 Standing down/Feedback to unsuccessful candidates
 Notification and feedback to successful candidate

Page 174

4.2

The Head of Human Resources & Organisational Development, Pensions and
Payroll will advise the Chief Executive and Leader in relation to Shortlisting.

4.3

The Final Members Interview Panel will be made up from the Chief Executive,
Leader, Deputy Leader, Leader of the Opposition, Merthyr Tydfil Borough Wide
Youth Forum (MTBWYF) member with support from the Head of Human Resources
& Organisational Development, Pensions and Payroll.

4.4

The recommended candidate for appointment from the Final Members Interview
Panel will be presented to Council as advised by the Head of Human Resources &
Organisational Development, Pensions and Payroll.

5.0

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

5.1

The position has been budgeted for within the Medium Term Financial Plan.

6.0

INTEGRATED IMPACT ASSESSMENT

1. Merthyr Tydfil Well-being
Objectives
2. Sustainable Development
Principles - How have you
considered the five ways of
working?
 Long term
 Prevention
 Integration
 Collaboration
 Involvement
3. Protected Characteristics (including
Welsh Language)

Positive
Impacts

Negative
Impacts

Neutral/Not
Applicable

4 of 4

0 of 4

0 of 4

5 of 5

0 of 5

0 of 5

0 of 10

0 of 10

10 of 10

6 of 6

0 of 6

0 of 6

Undertaken

Due to be
Undertaken

Not Required

0 of 1

0 of 1

1 of 1

4. Socio-economic Disadvantage

5. Consultation and Engagement

6. Data and Evidence to inform the
proposal

Page 175

Yes

No

1 of 1

0 of 1

7. Biodiversity and the resilience of
Ecosystems

Maintained Enhanced
0 of 1

Summary
The main positive
impacts are:

The main negative
impacts are:

0 of 1

Reduced

Neutral/Not
Applicable

0 of 1

1 of 1

By addressing the recommendations in the Audit Wales Report (March
2021) - ‘Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council – Assessment of
Progress to Address Key Concerns’, the Council will be better placed to
deliver its corporate well-being plan (including its well-being objectives).
No negative impacts have been identified.

FRAN DONNELLY
HEAD OF HUMAN RESOURCES &
ORGANISATIONAL DEVELOPMENT,
PENSIONS AND PAYROLL

COUNCILLOR LISA MYTTON
LEADER
CABINET MEMBER FOR EDUCATION

BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of Document(s)

Document(s) Date

Document Location

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s
Constitution?

No

Consultation has been undertaken with the Corporate Management Team in respect
of each proposal(s) and recommendation(s) set out in this report.

Page 176

By virtue of paragraph(s) 12,13 of Part 4 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 177

Agenda Item 15

This page is intentionally left blank

